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PART I  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS  

This report contains forward-looking statements relating to future events or the future financial performance of the Company. Such forward-
looking statements are within the meaning of that term in Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Such 
statements may include, but not be limited to, projections of revenues, income or loss, capital expenditures, acquisitions, plans for growth and 
future operations, financing needs or plans or intentions relating to acquisitions by the Company, as well as assumptions relating to the 
foregoing. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. 
Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated by or underlying the forward-looking statements.  

General  

U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc. (the "Company") provides transportation and logistics services in the continental United States, Canada and 
Mexico. The Company is one of the five largest publicly owned truckload carriers in the United States. The Company is a leader in the time 
definite and expedited services segment of the truckload market and in the adoption of proven new technologies to improve service and reduce 
costs.  

The Company has two operating segments, U.S. Xpress, Inc. ("U.S. Xpress") and CSI/Crown, Inc. ("CSI/Crown"). U.S. Xpress accounted for 
approximately 92.6% of the Company's 2000 revenues. See Note 14 of the Company's 2000 Consolidated Financial Statements for quantitative 
segment information.  

The Company also offers logistics services through its global transportation joint ownership of Transplace.com, LLC, ("Transplace"), an 
Internet-based logistics company. During 2000, the Company, along with five other large transportation companies, merged their logistics 
business units into Transplace. The Company has a 13% equity interest in Transplace.  

U.S. Xpress provides three principal services: i) time-definite and expedited services with lengths of haul of 400 to 3,000 miles; ii) regional 
services with lengths of haul of 400 to 1,200 miles in the Western, Midwestern and Southeastern regions of the United States; and iii) dedicated 
services.  

CSI/Crown is a leading provider of logistics services to the floorcovering industry. Services include: i) consolidation and distribution of less-
than- truckload shipments; ii) coordination of line-haul transportation to Company operated service centers and third-party agent facilities for 
local delivery;  
iii) warehousing and distribution services; and iv) retail sales of installation supplies, including the Company's private-label "Installer's Choice" 
brand of floorcovering installation products.  

The Company's mission is to provide high levels of service to customers utilizing proven technologies and skilled employees. The Company's 
operating and growth strategies are focused on its target markets, while capitalizing on evolving trends and growth markets in the 
transportation industry. These strategies include:  

1) Position the Company as the premier high service provider. The Company specializes in providing time-definite and expedited truckload 
services to customers that operate supply chain management systems, and particularly those that manage their flow of raw materials, in-process 
products and finished goods on a "just-in-time" basis. The Company was one of the first in the industry to establish time-definite pickups and 
deliveries as a standard for service quality. Time-definite service is a critical element in efficient supply chain and distribution systems 
management. In addition, the Company provides expedited service throughout the continental United States and in parts of Canada and 
Mexico. This is particularly important to shippers that operate multiple, geographically diverse facilities. In addition, the Company has 
consistently been a leader in the truckload industry in providing customers with easy access to operating and service-related technologies that 
provide value to shippers. The Company's electronic commerce ("E-Commerce") capabilities, in particular, differentiate the Company from 
many other truckload suppliers. The Company provides its customers with the ability to use E-Commerce through the Internet, private 
networks and third-party networks.  

2) Expand core carrier relationships with shippers. Most of the larger shippers are reducing the number of carriers they use and are expanding 
relationships with their most capable carriers. Those companies selected for the most significant supplier relationships with shippers are called 
"core carriers". The Company offers long-haul, mid-range and regional truckload services, time- definite and expedited services and dedicated 
fleet services. This range of capabilities, coupled with capacity of 4,861 U.S.  
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Xpress owned, leased and owner-operator tractors at December 31, 2000, has positioned the Company as a core carrier for many of the largest 
shippers in North America. In seeking these relationships, the Company emphasizes its service capabilities and capacity, as well as its 
commitment to flexibility, responsiveness and analytical planning. Customers that have designated the Company as a core carrier include: E.I. 
DuPont, Federal Express, Proctor and Gamble, Hewlett-Packard, Burlington Air Express, and Kimberly Clark.  

3) Position the Company as a driver-friendly employer. The labor market for qualified professional truck drivers is extremely competitive, 
providing an advantage to driver-friendly employers like the Company. The Company focuses significant resources and attention on the 
successful recruiting, hiring, training and retention of qualified solo and team drivers. At December 31, 2000, the Company operated 4,861 
tractors in its fleet, an increase of 2.7% from December 31, 1999. Management believes that its success in hiring and retaining qualified drivers 
is due to its high-quality equipment; high utilization, which translates into better take-home pay for drivers; "driver-friendly freight" that does 
not require labor or lengthy delays; flexible work schedules that enable drivers to better meet their personal obligations and lifestyles; and 
creative recruiting strategies that recognize the changing demographics of the American work force and that seek to expand the diversity of the 
driver fleet. Ongoing success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient drivers is critical to the Company in achieving its growth objectives. 

4) Pursue acquisition opportunities. The Company has grown significantly through eleven strategic acquisitions in the 1990's. U.S. Xpress now 
includes the operations of Southwest Motor Freight, Hall Systems, National Freight Systems, Michael Lima Transportation, JTI, Inc., Victory 
Express, Inc and PST Vans, Inc. CSI/Crown's operations include several acquired companies, including: Crown Transport Systems and 
CSI/Reeves; and assets purchased from Great Southern Xpress and Rosedale Transport. These acquisitions have significantly expanded the 
Company's capabilities and capacity and have been a significant contributor to the Company's growth. While acquisitions remain an important 
part of the Company's long-term strategy, the Company is placing its primary emphasis in 2001 on internal growth and improving its operating 
results.  

Services  

Time Definite Service  

The Company's principal service specialty is time-definite service, which is the pickup and delivery of freight to specific schedules over 
distances ranging from 400 to 3,000 miles. Time-definite transportation requires pickups and deliveries be performed to exact appointment 
times or within a specified number of minutes. This service is an essential point of differentiation from many other transportation companies, 
which typically provide service only within time "windows" ranging from a few hours to a few days. Time-definite service is particularly 
important to the Company's customers that operate in a just-in-time environment, distribution and retail inventory systems and to customers in 
the air freight and logistics industries.  

Expedited Service  

The Company's expedited service consists of the pick up and delivery of freight on prescribed schedules at transit times comparable to deferred 
airfreight service. The Company is able to meet these transit times using team drivers or relays at much lower cost than deferred airfreight. In 
2000, revenue from expedited services to manufacturers, distributors, and airfreight companies was $189.4 million.  

Regional Service  

About 70% of the freight transported in the U.S. moves over distances of less than 1,000 miles. In addition, the average length of haul of 
shipments is shrinking as manufacturers and distributors increasingly bring the various elements of their supply and distribution chains into 
closer geographical proximity. These factors make regional service capabilities an important aspect in qualifying the Company for core carrier 
relationships. The Company provides regional service involving shipments of 400-1,200 miles in the Western, Midwestern and Southeastern 
regions of the United States. In 2000, revenues from regional service totaled $126.3 million.  

Dedicated Services  

Some shippers use transportation or logistics companies to manage or operate their private trucking operations. Many of these shippers have 
historically operated their own fleets to transport their products. The Company's management expertise, capacity and systems have positioned it 
to provide dedicated services in which specific tractors and drivers are assigned to a specific customer account. Through dedicated service 
relationships, customers obtain assurance of capacity to meet their requirements. U.S. Xpress benefits by generating better equipment 
utilization, increased business volume from important customers and by  
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improving planning of resources. Driver safety is enhanced because the same drivers travel the same lanes repeatedly. Drivers also benefit 
through enhanced scheduling, reduced downtime between loads and more predictability of their off- duty time. These dedicated accounts 
represented approximately $66.0 million in revenues in 2000.  

Floorcovering Logistics  

CSI/Crown is a leading provider of logistics services to the floorcovering industry. CSI/Crown picks up floorcovering products from 
manufacturers; consolidates shipments into truckloads bound for specific destinations; contracts with U.S. Xpress and other truckload carriers 
to deliver the products to CSI/Crown service centers or to contract agents and delivery services; and delivers the products to floorcovering 
distributors, retailers, and large-scale end users in all 50 states, Canada and Mexico. In addition, CSI/Crown provides warehouse facilities and 
other specialized services such as custom carpet cutting and selling floorcovering installation supplies. CSI/Crown also provides dedicated 
services by assigning specific equipment to specific customers and uses the equipment to promote the customers' brands on the equipment. In 
this way, customers obtain the benefits of assured capacity and brand promotion without incurring the management costs and inherent 
inefficiencies of operating a private fleet. CSI/Crown benefits by being assured consistent volume for its dedicated equipment and drivers.  

Marketing and Customers  

The Company's success in marketing its services is a result of commitment to service, capabilities, capacity, flexibility, responsiveness, 
analytical planning and information technology management. The Company's marketing department and sales personnel identify new business 
prospects and implement programs to obtain and retain customer accounts.  

Mr. Quinn, the Company's Co-Chairman, and Mr. Wardeberg, the Executive Vice President of Marketing, are directly involved in marketing 
the Company's services at the national account level while supporting local sales activities. In addition, the Company employs 31 full-time 
marketing and national account representatives, who have responsibility for specific geographic areas.  

The Company's top 50 customers, most of which have designated the Company as a core carrier, accounted for approximately 63% of revenues 
in 2000. During 2000, no single customer accounted for more than 4.2% of the Company's revenue.  

Equipment  

The Company determines the specifications of equipment purchases based on such factors as vehicle and component quality, warranty service, 
driver preferences, new vehicle prices and the likely resale market. Because the fleet is standardized and has warranty agreements with original 
equipment suppliers, the Company has minimized parts inventories and maintenance costs. The Company has negotiated repurchase 
commitments from its primary equipment vendors for disposal of a substantial portion of its equipment. These agreements reduce the 
Company's risks related to equipment disposal values.  

The following table shows the type and age of U.S. Xpress company-owned and leased equipment at December 31, 2000:  
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Model Year       Tractors  Trailers  
----------       --------  --------  
  2001                285       195  
  2000              1,074     2,217  
  1999              2,202     3,387  
  1998                674     1,402  
  1997                  -     1,361  
  1996                 13     1,797  
  1995 & Prior          4     1,512  
                    -----    ------  
     Total          4,252    11,871  
                    =====    ======  



Tractors  

In the early 1990s, the Company's management and drivers worked with the Company's principal tractor supplier, Freightliner, to design 
improvements in its conventional tractors, such as more spacious and functional sleeper compartments and improved aerodynamics. In 1996, 
the Company was among the first to purchase the new Freightliner Century Class tractors, which provided superior levels of operating safety, 
fuel efficiency, information management capabilities and driver comforts.  

The Company now purchases or leases Freightliner Century Class tractors or Volvo VN 770s for substantially all of the additions and 
replacements to its fleet. Tractors are typically replaced every 36 to 40 months, generally well in advance of the need for major engine 
overhauls. This schedule can be accelerated or delayed based on resale values in the used truck market and the differential between those 
values and new truck prices. All Company tractors are equipped with Eaton Vorad anti-collision systems, electronic speed controls, anti-lock 
braking systems for improved safety, and Qualcomm and in cab e-mail for improved communications. Over 95% of the tractor fleet is 
equipped with Eaton automatic shift transmissions and approximately 80% of the fleet with automatic traction control. All engines have fuel 
incentive programming for increased fuel economy.  

Trailers  

The Company's dry van trailers have cubic capacity that is among the largest in the industry. In 1997, the Company began purchasing 
composite plate trailers from Wabash National Corporation that are more durable, have greater cubic capacity and stiffer sidewalls, and do not 
fracture as easily as conventional aluminum trailers. The Company currently purchases Wabash Duraplate trailers for substantially all of the 
additions and replacements to its fleet. In addition, approximately 90% of the trailers are equipped with air ride suspension leading to softer 
rides that result in less load damage.  

Competition  

The transportation services business is extremely competitive. The Company competes primarily with other truckload carriers and providers of 
deferred airfreight service. Competition from railroads and providers of intermodal transportation likely would increase if service standards for 
these modes were dramatically improved.  

Generally, competition for the freight transported by the Company is based on service, efficiency and pricing. Historically, increased 
competition has created downward pressure on the truckload industry's pricing structure. Prolonged weakness in freight markets or downward 
pressure on freight rates could adversely affect the Company's results of operations or financial condition. Some competitors have greater 
financial resources, operate more equipment and transport more freight than the Company.  

Regulation  

The Company is a motor carrier that is subject to safety regulations promulgated by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration of the 
Department of Transportation and various laws and regulations enforced by state agencies. These regulatory authorities have broad powers, 
generally governing activities such as authority to engage in motor carrier operations, accounting systems, certain mergers, consolidations, 
acquisitions and periodic financial reporting. Subject to federal, state and provincial regulatory authorities, the Company may transport most 
types of freight to and from any point in the United States, and certain Canadian provinces, over any route selected by the Company. The 
trucking industry is subject to possible regulatory and legislative change that could affect the economics of the industry.  

The Company's operations are also subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws dealing with transportation, storage, presence, 
use, disposal and handling of hazardous materials, discharge of storm water and underground fuel storage tanks. The Company believes that its 
operations are in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations and does not know of any existing condition that would cause non-
compliance with applicable environmental regulations to have a material adverse effect on the Company's business or operating results.  
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Safety and Risk Management  

The Company is committed to safe operations. The Company's emphasis on safety is demonstrated through equipment specifications and active 
safety and loss prevention programs. These programs reinforce the importance of driving safely, abiding by all laws and regulations such as 
speed limits and driving hours, performing regular equipment inspections and acting as good citizens on the road. The Company's accident 
review committee meets regularly to review any new accidents, take appropriate action related to drivers, examine accident trends and 
implement changes in procedures or communications to address any safety issues.  

Management's emphasis on safety also is demonstrated through its equipment specifications, such as anti-lock brakes, electronic engines, 
special mirrors, conspicuity tape and the implementation of Eaton Vorad collision avoidance systems on all tractors. The Eaton Vorad system 
is designed to provide drivers with visible and audible warnings when other vehicles are beside them and when vehicles ahead are traveling at 
slower speeds than the truck. The system provides drivers with additional response time to prevent accidents.  

The Company requires prospective drivers to meet higher qualification standards than those required by the DOT. The DOT requires the 
Company's drivers to obtain national commercial driver's licenses pursuant to the regulations promulgated by the DOT. The DOT also requires 
that the employer implement a drug-testing program in accordance with DOT regulations. The Company's program includes pre- employment, 
random, reasonable cause, post-accident and post-injury drug testing.  

Interstate motor carrier operations are subject to safety requirements prescribed by the DOT. Such matters as equipment weight and dimensions 
are also subject to federal and state regulations. DOT evaluates carriers and provides safety fitness ratings based on conformance with 
requirements and accident frequency. U.S. Xpress and CSI/Crown each have satisfactory safety fitness ratings.  

The Company secures appropriate insurance coverage at cost-effective rates. The primary claims arising in the Company's business consist of 
cargo loss and damage and auto liability (personal injury and property damage). The Company currently purchases primary and excess 
coverage for these types of claims at levels that management believes are sufficient to adequately protect the Company from significant claims. 
The Company also maintains primary and excess coverage for damage to physical properties and equipment damage resulting from collisions 
or other losses.  

Human Resources  

At December 31, 2000, the Company and its subsidiaries employed 7,388 full-time associates, of whom 5,557 were drivers, 228 were 
mechanics and other maintenance personnel, 1,214 were office associates for U.S. Xpress, the truckload division, and 389 were employed by 
CSI/Crown, the non-truckload division. U.S. Xpress also had contracts with independent contractors (owner-operators) for the services of 721 
tractors that provide both tractor and qualified drivers. None of the Company's employees are represented by a union or collective bargaining 
agreement, and the Company considers relations with its employees to be good.  

Driver Recruiting, Training and Retention  

The Company recognizes that it is paramount to recruit, train, and retain a professional driver workforce. The Company also realizes that 
competition for qualified drivers will remain high and will be impacted by declining unemployment rates, changes in workforce demographics, 
and reduced government funding of training programs. Although the Company has experienced no significant inability to attract qualified 
drivers, no assurance can be given that a shortage of qualified drivers in the future will not adversely affect the Company.  

All Company drivers must meet or exceed specific guidelines relating to their safety records, driving experience, and personal evaluations, 
including a physical examination and mandatory drug testing as outlined in DOT regulations. After an offer of employment is extended, a 
driver must successfully complete training in all aspects of Company policies and operations, safety philosophy, and fuel efficiency. All drivers 
must successfully complete a Company driving exam and possess a valid Commercial Drivers License. The Company maintains an ongoing 
safety and efficiency program to ensure that drivers comply with safe and efficient operating procedures.  
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Senior management is actively involved with the development and retention of drivers. Recognizing the shortage of new drivers entering the 
industry, the Company has since January 1998 operated a professional driving school at its facility in Medway, Ohio. The school was certified 
in 1998 by the Professional Truck Driving Institute of America and re-certified in 2000, through 2005. The Company also contracts with driver 
schools managed by independent organizations as well as community college programs throughout the United States. The Company believes 
that the continued and effective development of the driver training schools and training program will provide the Company with an additional 
source of drivers.  

Management believes that there are several key elements to recruiting and retaining experienced professional drivers, such as an attractive 
compensation and benefits package, meeting reasonable driver expectations, providing equipment with desirable driver amenities, and 
providing a company-wide culture of support for driver needs. Drivers are compensated on the basis of miles driven. The starting rate per mile 
is determined by the driver's experience level and will increase with the driver's length of service with the Company. Additional compensation 
may be earned through loading/unloading or stop pay, and mileage bonuses. Drivers employed by the Company participate in Company 
sponsored health, life, dental, and vision plans and are eligible to participate in a 401(k) Retirement Plan and an Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan. Additional benefits include paid holidays, vacation pay, and pre-paid phone cards.  

The Company believes that meeting and managing driver's reasonable expectations is critical to driver satisfaction and retention. From the 
solicitation of driver friendly freight (no loading/unloading, decreased dwell time, drop/hook, etc.), to training recruiters to provide candidates 
with a realistic view of work requirements and the lifestyle of a long-haul driver, to getting drivers home on a regular basis, the Company is 
dedicated to meeting our commitments.  

The Company's late model Freightliner and Volvo conventional tractors are designed for driver comfort and safety. Standard equipment 
includes automatic transmissions, air ride suspensions, double sleeper bunks, air conditioning, power steering, electronic engine brakes, and 
Eaton Vorad collision avoidance systems.  

Management believes that maintaining a culture of driver support through flexible work schedules that enable drivers to accommodate personal 
obligations and lifestyles, leveraging technology (in cab e-mail, Internet services, etc.) that enables drivers to remain in touch with their 
families when on the road, managing driver home time, seeking drivers' input in the decision making process and seeking mutually satisfactory 
solutions, and providing career advancement opportunities for drivers are key factors for developing one of the Company's most valuable 
assets.  

Independent Contractors  

The Company recognizes the benefits of augmenting its service capacity through the use of independent contractors. Independent contractors 
provide their own tractors and pay for all the expenses of operating their own equipment, including wages and benefits, fuel, physical damage 
insurance, maintenance, highway use taxes and debt service. Therefore, less capital is required for the Company's growth. The Company has an 
aggressive independent contractor recruiting program, with 721 contractors under contract at December 31, 2000. The Company intends to 
continue adding independent contractors.  

Fuel  

The Company purchases the majority of its fuel through a network of fuel stops throughout the United States. The Company manages its fuel 
cost by routing the Company's drivers to fuel stops with which the Company has negotiated volume discounts. Bulk fueling facilities are 
maintained at certain of the Company's terminals to further reduce fuel costs.  

During 2000, fuel prices increased significantly. The Company recovered a portion of the increased cost from customers through fuel 
surcharges, which are included in most customer contracts. However, a portion of the fuel cost increase was not recovered, which adversely 
impacted the Company's profitability in 2000.  

The Company maintains fuel storage tanks at certain of its terminals. Leakage or damage to these tanks could subject the Company to 
environmental clean-up costs. The Company believes it is in compliance with all laws and regulations relating to maintenance of such fuel 
storage tanks.  
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

The following table provides information regarding the Company's facilities at December 31,2000:  
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Company Location                        Facility Fu nctions                       Owned or Leased  
----------------                        ----------- -------                       ---------------  
 
U.S. Xpress: 
Austell, Georgia              Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Bayonne, New Jersey           Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Birmingham, Alabama           Terminal                                                 Leased 
Boise, Idaho                  Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Bordentown, New Jersey        Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Bowling Green, Kentucky       Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Chattanooga, Tennessee        Corporate Office                                         Leased 
Chicago, Illinois             Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Colton, California            Terminal, Maintenance , Customer Service,                 Owned 
                              Fleet Services, Drive r Training 
Dallas, Texas                 Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Denver, Colorado              Drop Yard                                                Leased 
El Paso, Texas                Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Greenville, South Carolina    Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Hayward, California           Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Houston, Texas                Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Jacksonville, Florida         Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Kent, Washington              Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Knoxville, Tennessee          Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Lincoln, Nebraska             Terminal, Maintenance , Customer Service,                 Owned 
                              Fleet Services, Drive r Training, Independent Contractor 
                              Recruiting 
Laredo, Texas                 Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Medway, Ohio                  Terminal, Maintenance , Customer Service,                 Leased 
                              Fleet Services, Drive r School, Driver Recruiting 
Memphis, Tennessee            Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma       Terminal, Maintenance , Customer Service,                 Leased 
                              Fleet Services, Drive r Training, Driver Recruiting 
Phoenix, Arizona              Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Sacramento, California        Terminal, Fleet Servi ces                                 Leased 
Salt Lake City, Utah          Terminal, Maintenance ,  Customer Service,                Owned 
                              Fleet Services, Drive r Training 
Sioux City, South Dakota      Terminal                                                 Leased 
Troutdale, Oregon             Drop Yard                                                Leased 
Tunnel Hill, Georgia          Terminal, Maintenance , Fleet Services,                   Leased 
                              Driver Training 
 
CSI/Crown: 
Akron, Ohio                   Distribution Center                                      Leased 
Albany, New York              Distribution Center                                      Leased 
Baltimore, Maryland           Distribution Center                                      Leased 
Calhoun, Georgia              Distribution Center                                      Owned 
Denver, Colorado              Distribution Center                                      Leased 
Detroit, Michigan             Distribution Center                                      Leased 
Eagan, Minnesota              Distribution Center                                      Leased 



 

In late 1998, the Company entered into a long-term lease of a newly constructed corporate office and operations facility in Chattanooga, 
Tennessee. The new facility encompasses nearly 100,000 square feet of office space and includes state-of-the-art information management and 
communications systems.  

CSI/Crown is based in Tunnel Hill, Georgia, approximately 25 miles from the Chattanooga location. The Tunnel Hill facility includes a 101-
door loading dock facility in which floorcovering shipments from multiple manufacturers are consolidated into truckloads for delivery to 
Company-owned and agent-operated distribution service centers. All CSI/Crown facilities operate as distribution centers performing 
consolidation, warehousing, and local distribution.  

In the opinion of the Company, its facilities are suitable and adequate for the Company's needs.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

In November 2000, the Company signed an agreement with SouthTrust Bank ("SouthTrust") to purchase certain assets of Dedicated 
Transportation Services, Inc., ("DTSI") a customer of the Company's, at foreclosure by SouthTrust as secured creditor of DTSI. After the 
agreement was signed, SouthTrust advised the Company that it had received a higher offer for the assets from another party, and that it would 
cancel the agreement with the Company, unless the Company matched the higher offer, and SouthTrust sold the assets of DTSI to the other 
party.  

In December 2000, SouthTrust filed a lawsuit against the Company, concerning events which occurred after SouthTrust terminated the 
agreement with the Company. In its lawsuit, SouthTrust claims the Company acted wrongfully and attempted to interfere with SouthTrust's sale 
of DTSI's assets. The lawsuit seeks damages in an unspecified amount from the Company, and seeks to have the court declare that actions 
taken by SouthTrust in connection with the sale of assets were lawful and did not violate any legal rights of the Company. The Company 
believes that the SouthTrust lawsuit is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself.  

The Company is party to certain other legal proceedings incidental to its business. The ultimate disposition of these matters and the ultimate 
disposition of the SouthTrust litigation, in the opinion of management, based in part on the advice of legal counsel, is not expected to have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations.  
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Company Location                 Facility Functions              Owned or Leased  
----------------                 ------------------              ---------------  
CSI/Crown (cont.): 
Fresno, California            Distribution Center                    Leased 
Grand Prairie, Texas          Distribution Center                    Leased 
Hayward, California           Distribution Center                    Leased 
Houston, Texas                Distribution Center                    Leased 
La Mirada, California         Distribution Center                    Leased 
LeMont, Illinois              Distribution Center                    Leased 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma       Distribution Center                    Leased 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania      Distribution Center                    Leased 
Rancho Cordova, California    Distribution Center                    Leased 
Rochester, New York           Distribution Center                    Leased 
Salt Lake City, Utah          Distribution Center                    Leased 
San Antonio, Texas            Distribution Center                    Leased 
San Diego, California         Distribution Center                    Leased 
Tunnel Hill, Georgia          Corporate Office, Dis tribution Center  Leased 



ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  

During the quarter ended December 31, 2000, no matters were submitted to a vote of security holders.  

Executive Officers of the Company  

Information with respect to the executive officers of the Company is set forth below:  

 

Cort J. Dondero has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company since July 2000. Previously, Mr. Dondero 
was President of Trimac Logistics, Inc. from 1999 to July 2000 and President and founder of Service and Administrative Institute from 1988 to 
1999. Mr. Dondero has been a director of the Company since July 2000.  

Max L. Fuller has served as Co-Chairman of the Board of the Company since March 1994 and Vice President and Secretary of the Company 
since 1985. Mr. Fuller was first elected a director of the Company in 1985.  

Ray M. Harlin joined the Company in 1997 as Executive Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer. He was elected a Director in 
August 1997. Mr. Harlin was employed for 25 years with the public accounting firm of Arthur Andersen LLP. He was a partner with that firm 
for the last 14 years.  

Patrick E. Quinn has served as Co-Chairman of the Board of the Company since March 1994 and President and Treasurer of the Company 
since 1985. Mr. Quinn was first elected a director of the Company in 1985.  
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Name                Age     Position 
----                ---     -------- 
Cort J. Dondero      50     Director, Executive Vic e President, Chief Operating Officer 
Max L. Fuller        48     Co-Chairman of the Boar d of Directors, Vice President and Secretary 
Ray M. Harlin        51     Director, Executive Vic e President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer  
Patrick E. Quinn     54     Co-Chairman of the Boar d of Directors, President and Treasurer 



PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

Common Stock and Stockholder Data  

The Company's Class A Common Stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market System under the symbol XPRSA. No market exists for 
the Company's Class B Common Stock. At March 15, 2001, there were 199 registered stockholders and an estimated 1,648 beneficial owners 
of the Company's Class A Common Stock and 2 beneficial owners of the Company's Class B Common Stock. At March 15, 2001 there were 
10,687,550 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding and 3,040,262 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding. On March 15, 2001, 
the closing price for the Common Stock was $6.375. Listed below is the trading activity for each quarter in the last two fiscal years:  

 

Dividends  
The Company does not pay cash dividends and intends to continue to retain earnings to finance the growth of the Company for the foreseeable 
future.  
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Quarter Ending           High       Low 
--------------           ----       --- 
 
March 31, 1999           17.75     11.00  
June 30, 1999            12.88      8.50  
September 30, 1999       11.25      5.38  
December 31, 1999         9.19      5.88  
March 31, 2000           10.00      5.12  
June 30, 2000             8.87      6.25  
September 30, 2000        8.75      5.87  
December 31, 2000         7.50      5.13  



ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  
(In thousands, except per share and operating data)  

 

(1) Data for U.S. Xpress includes data for all truckload operations, including the following from their date of acquisition: JTI, Inc. in April 
1997; Victory Express, Inc. in January 1998; and PST Vans, Inc. in August 1998.  
(2) Average revenue per mile and average revenue per tractor per week are net of fuel surcharges. Tractor and trailer data includes owned, 
leased equipment, and owner operators.  
(3) Reflects the sale by the Company of 2,885,000 shares of Class A Common Stock during the 1997 transition period. Reflects in fiscal 1999 
and 1998, the issuance of 41,901 and 994,447 shares of Class A Common Stock in connection with the purchase of PST. Reflects the 
repurchase of 925,100, 485,000 and 1,134,289 shares of Class A Common Stock in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  
(4) Effective December 31, 1997, the Company changed its fiscal year-end to December 31 from March 31. As a result, the transition period 
ended December 31, 1997 is a nine-month period.  
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                                                                                           Nine Months  Ended    Year Ended  
                                                   Year Ended December 31,                    December  31,       March 31,  
                                           -------- --------------------------------        ----------- ------    ----------  
                                             2000            1999            1998                1997( 4)           1997 
                                           --------         --------        --------        ----------- ------    ----------  
Income Statement Data(1) 
Operating revenue: 
 U.S. Xpress                               $733,583         $656,029        $513,154             $290,8 00         $307,928 
 CSI/Crown                                   58,161           57,713          74,533               57,6 45           65,845 
 Intercompany                                (4,659 )         (5,530)         (6,286)              (6,1 73)         (10,954)  
                                           --------         --------        --------             ------ --         -------- 
 Consolidated                              $787,085         $708,212        $581,401             $342,2 72         $362,819 
                                           ========         ========        ========             ====== ==         ======== 
Income from operations                     $ 19,931         $ 31,527        $ 44,405             $ 26,1 51         $ 19,776 
Income before income taxes                 $  4,482         $ 19,139        $ 34,497             $ 21,9 83         $ 14,236 
Net income                                 $  2,065         $ 11,381        $ 20,717             $ 13,1 91         $  7,878 
Earnings per share - basic                 $    .15         $    .77        $   1.38             $    . 98         $    .65 
Weighted average number 
 of shares outstanding - basic               14,095           14,785          15,038               13,4 67           12,082 
Earnings per share - diluted               $    .15         $    .77        $   1.37             $    . 97         $    .65 
Weighted average number 
  of shares outstanding - diluted            14,148           14,852          15,162               13,5 82           12,168 
 
Truckload Operating Data(2) 
Total revenue miles (in thousands)          573,271          533,628         418,665              241,5 41          261,596 
Average revenue per mile                   $   1.22         $   1.19        $   1.18             $   1. 16         $   1.15 
Tractors at end of period                     4,861            4,734           4,425                2,8 39            2,246 
Trailers at end of period                    11,871           11,718          10,413                5,8 75            5,520 
Average revenue per tractor, 
 per week                                  $  2,726         $  2,633        $  2,661             $  2,7 34         $  2,761 
Total loads                                 603,189          578,572         464,586              239,7 30          254,214 
Average tractors during period                4,932            4,651           3,572                2,6 15            2,111 
Total miles (in thousands)                  632,023          587,917         459,643              265,1 02          282,985 
 
Balance Sheet Data 
Working capital                            $ 72,870         $ 87,836        $ 98,306             $ 44,8 13         $ 33,829 
Total assets                                420,242          409,037         426,539              233,7 77          178,084 
Long-term debt, 
 net of current maturities                  179,908          181,256         202,450               52,1 20           59,318 
Stockholders' equity(3)                     156,935          161,527         153,667              128,4 93           63,162 



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Results of Operations  

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the components of the consolidated statements of operations expressed as a percentage 
of operating revenue:  
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                                                   Year Ended December 31, 
                                                   ----------------------- 
                                                    2000     1999    1998 
                                                   ------   ------  ------ 
 
Operating Revenue                                   100.0%   100.0%  100.0%  
                                                    -----    -----   ----- 
Operating Expenses: 
 Salaries, wages and benefits                        36.5     38.8    40.2 
 Fuel and fuel taxes                                 17.3     14.2    13.3 
 Vehicle rents                                        7.6      7.7     5.6 
 Depreciation and amortization, net of gain/loss      4.4      4.1     4.5 
 Purchased transportation                            13.2     11.8    10.5 
 Operating expense and supplies                       6.5      6.3     6.4 
 Insurance premiums and claims                        4.1      4.0     3.6 
 Operating taxes and licenses                         1.7      2.1     1.7 
 Communications and utilities                         1.4      1.7     1.5 
 General and other operating expenses                 4.8      4.8     5.1 
                                                    -----    -----   ----- 
 Total operating expenses                            97.5     95.5    92.4 
                                                    -----    -----   ----- 
 
Income from Operations                                2.5      4.5     7.6 
 
 
Interest expense, net                                 1.9      1.8     1.6 
                                                    -----    -----   ----- 
 
Income before income tax provision                     .6      2.7     6.0 
 
Income taxes                                           .3      1.1     2.4 
                                                    -----    -----   ----- 
 
Net Income                                             .3%     1.6%    3.6%  
                                                    =====    =====   ===== 



Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2000 to the Year Ended December 31, 1999  

Operating revenue in 2000 increased $78.9 million, or 11.1%, to $787.1 million, compared to $708.2 million in 1999. U.S. Xpress revenue 
increased $78.4 million, or 12.1%, due primarily to a 7.4% increase in revenue miles, a 2.3% increase in average revenue per mile, net of fuel 
surcharges, to $1.220 from $1.193 in 1999, and a $27.4 million increase in fuel surcharge revenue. Revenue miles increased due to an increase 
in the average number of tractors by 281, or 6.0%, to 4,932 from 4,651, and a 3.5% increase in utilization as measured by revenue per tractor 
per week. CSI/Crown revenues increased $.4 million due primarily to a 6.5% linehaul rate increase.  

Operating expenses represented 97.5% of operating revenue for 2000, compared to 95.5% during 1999.  

Salaries, wages and benefits as a percentage of revenue were 36.5% during 2000, compared to 38.8% during 1999. The decrease was primarily 
attributable to the increase in the number of owner-operators, which accounted for 13.6% of the Company's total fleet in 2000, compared to 
10.5% during 1999. The average number of owner-operators increased to 673 in 2000, compared to 487 in 1999. All owner-operator expenses 
are reflected as purchased transportation.  

Fuel and fuel taxes as a percentage of operating revenue were 17.3% during 2000, compared to 14.2% during 1999. This increase was due to 
the 32.0% increase in average fuel cost per mile during 2000, compared to 1999, the effect of which was partially offset by the increased use of 
owner-operators who are responsible for their fuel expense. The Company's exposure to increases in fuel prices is partially mitigated by fuel 
surcharges to its customers.  

Vehicle rents as a percentage of operating revenue were 7.6% during 2000, compared to 7.7% during 1999. Depreciation and amortization as a 
percentage of operating revenue was 4.4% for 2000, compared to 4.1% during 1999. The Company includes gains and losses from the sale of 
revenue equipment in depreciation expense. Net gains from the sale of revenue equipment for 2000 were $.3 million compared to a gain of $.8 
million in 1999. Overall, as a percentage of operating revenue, vehicle rents and depreciation were 12.0% during 2000, compared to 11.8% 
during 1999.  

Purchased transportation as a percentage of operating revenue was 13.2% during 2000, compared to 11.8% during 1999. The increase was 
primarily due to an increase in the average owner-operator fleet to 673 for 2000 compared to 487 in 1999. Owner-operators provide a tractor 
and driver incurring substantially all of their operating expenses in exchange for a fixed payment per mile, which is included in purchased 
transportation. Owner-operator miles increased to 95.3 million miles in 2000, compared to 66.9 million miles in 1999.  

Insurance premiums and claims as a percentage of operating revenue were 4.1% during 2000, compared to 4.0% during 1999. The increase is 
due primarily to an increase in premiums, and increases in claims and losses related to cargo and physical damage.  

Operating taxes and licenses as a percentage of operating revenue were 1.7% during 2000, compared to 2.1% in 1999. This decrease was 
primarily due to a 3.5% increase in utilization, as measured by revenue per tractor per week.  

Communications and utilities as a percentage of operating revenue were 1.4% during 2000, compared to 1.7% in 1999. This decrease was 
primarily due to the redesign of voice and data networks, which eliminated several communication circuits.  

General and other operating expenses as a percentage of operating revenue were 4.8% during 2000, compared to 4.8% during 1999. During 
2000, the Company recorded a one-time charge of $2.0 million, due to the write-off of outstanding receivables and other related expenses of a 
long-term customer. During 1999, the Company recorded a one-time charge of $1.3 million related to the settlement of litigation with a 
professional employer organization that formerly administered the Company's payroll and benefit systems.  

Interest expense increased $3.0 million, or 24.7%, to $15.4 million, compared to $12.4 million during 1999. The increase was primarily due to 
the average interest rate on the Company's line of credit increasing 29.3% to 8.1% during 2000, compared to 6.3% in 1999.  

Income from operations for 2000 decreased $11.6 million, or 36.8%, to $19.9 million from $31.5 million during 1999. As a percentage of 
operating revenue, income from operations was 2.5% for 2000 and 4.5% for 1999.  

The Company's effective tax rate increased to 53.9% in 2000 compared to 40.5% for 1999, due primarily to non-deductible goodwill 
amortization being a larger percentage of income before income taxes.  
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 1999 to the Year Ended December 31, 1998  

Operating revenue in 1999 increased $126.8 million, or 21.8%, to $708.2 million, compared to $581.4 million in 1998. U.S. Xpress revenue 
increased $143.6 million due primarily to a 27.5% increase in revenue miles and increase in average revenue per loaded mile, net of fuel 
surcharges, to $1.193, versus $1.177 in 1998, due principally to per mile rate increases. Weighted average tractors increased to 4,651 during 
1999, compared to 3,572 during 1998, due in part to the acquisition of PST Vans in August 1998. CSI/Crown revenues decreased $16.8 million 
or 22.6% resulting from a program to eliminate unprofitable operations, including the closure of certain under-performing facilities.  

Operating expenses represented 95.5% of operating revenue for 1999, compared to 92.4% during 1998.  

Salaries, wages and employee benefits as a percentage of revenue were 38.8% during 1999, compared to 40.2% during 1998. The decrease was 
primarily attributable to an increase in the average number of owner-operators to 487 in 1999, compared to 152 in 1998. All owner-operator 
expenses are reflected as purchased transportation. CSI/Crown salaries, wages and benefits decreased 23.3% during 1999, compared to 1998 
due to facility closures described above and efficiencies gained through a new bar-coding process.  

Fuel and fuel taxes as a percentage of operating revenue were 14.2% during 1999, compared to 13.3% during 1998. This increase was primarily 
due to a 9.1% increase in the average fuel cost per mile, the effect of which was offset by the increased use of owner-operators who are 
responsible for their fuel expense. The Company's exposure to increases in fuel prices is partially mitigated by fuel surcharges to its customers 
and, on a limited basis, by fuel purchase contracts.  

Vehicle rents as a percentage of operating revenue were 7.7% during 1999, compared to 5.6% during 1998. The increase resulted from 
increased operating leases for tractors to 3,041 and trailers to 5,426 at December 31, 1999, compared to 1,809 leased tractors and 2,383 leased 
trailers at December 31, 1998. Depreciation and amortization as a percentage of operating revenue was 4.1% for 1999, compared to 4.5% 
during 1998. The Company includes gains and losses from the sale of revenue equipment in depreciation expense. Net gains from the sale of 
revenue equipment for 1999 were $0.8 million compared to a loss of $.2 million in 1998. Overall, as a percentage of operating revenue, vehicle 
rents and depreciation were 11.8% during 1999, compared to 10.1% in 1998. Increasing the ratio of leased to owned revenue equipment 
effectively shifts financing expenses from interest to "above the line" operating expenses.  

Purchased transportation as a percentage of operating revenue was 11.8% during 1999, compared to 10.5% in 1998. This increase was 
primarily due to an increase in the average owner-operator fleet to 487 for 1999 compared to 152 in 1998. Owner-operators provide a tractor 
and driver incurring substantially all of their operating expenses in exchange for a fixed payment per mile, which is included in purchased 
transportation. Owner-operator miles increased from 26.2 million miles during 1998 to 66.9 million miles in 1999. The effect of the increase in 
owner-operators was offset by a $7.8 million decrease in purchased transportation related to the decrease in revenue and related purchased 
transportation by CSI/Crown.  

Insurance premiums and claims as a percentage of operating revenue was 4.0% during 1999, compared to 3.6% in 1998. The increase results 
from an increase effective January 1, 1999 in cargo insurance cost and increases experienced in physical damage and liability insurance cost 
related principally to the average cost and frequency of claims below the deductible amounts for liability and for physical damage per each 
occurrence.  

General and other operating expenses as a percentage of operating revenue were 4.8% during 1999, compared to 5.1% in 1998. This decrease 
was primarily due to the 21.8% increase in revenue, while many expenses included in general and other operating expenses are fixed. This 
decrease was offset by a $1.3 million charge as a result of the settlement of litigation with a professional employer organization that formerly 
administered the Company's payroll and benefits systems.  

Income from operations for 1999 decreased $12.9 million, or 29.0%, to $31.5 million from $44.4 million in 1998. As a percentage of operating 
revenue, income from operations was 4.5% for 1999, and 7.6% in 1998.  

Interest expense during 1999 increased $2.5 million, or 25.0%, to $12.4 million, compared to $9.9 million during 1998. The increase was 
primarily due to the increase in outstanding debt to finance the 1998 acquisitions of Victory Express and PST Vans.  

The Company's effective tax rate increased to 40.5% in 1999 compared to 40.0% for 1998, due primarily to the increased amount of non-
deductible goodwill amortization resulting from the 1998 acquisitions of Victory Express and PST Vans.  
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Special Considerations  

The trucking industry is affected by economic risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond its control. These include economic recessions 
and downturns in customers' business cycles, increases in fuel prices, the availability of qualified drivers and fluctuations in interest rates.  

The trucking industry is highly competitive and includes numerous regional, inter-regional and national truckload carriers. Some of these 
carriers have greater financial resources, equipment and freight capacity than the Company. Management believes its strategies of controlled 
growth and focused marketing will continue to provide freight at sufficient volumes and prices to remain profitable. Changes in economic 
conditions could reduce both the amount of freight available and freight rates, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's 
results.  

Fuel is one of the Company's largest expenditures. Shortages of fuel or increases in fuel prices could have a materially adverse effect on the 
operations and profitability of the Company. Many of the Company's customer contracts contain fuel surcharge provisions to mitigate increases 
in the cost of fuel (the Company recognized $29.5 million of fuel surcharge revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000, compared to $2.1 
million for the same period in 1999). Additionally, at times, fuel purchase contracts are used to mitigate the effects of increases in the prices of 
fuel. During the latter part of 1999, fuel prices steadily increased, and they remained at significantly higher levels in 2000.  

Competition for available qualified drivers in the truckload industry is intense, and will likely remain so for the foreseeable future. The 
Company and many of its competitors experience high rates of turnover and occasionally have difficulty in attracting and retaining qualified 
drivers in sufficient numbers to operate all available equipment. Management believes the Company's current pay structure, benefits, policies 
and procedures related to drivers are effective in attracting and retaining drivers. However, there can be no assurance that it will not be affected 
by a shortage of qualified drivers in the future. The inability to attract and retain qualified drivers would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's results.  

The trucking industry is extremely capital intensive. The Company depends on operating leases, lines of credit, secured equipment financing 
and cash flows from operations to finance the expansion and maintenance of its modern and cost efficient revenue equipment and facilities. At 
present, the Company is more highly leveraged than some of its competitors. If the Company were unable in the future to obtain financing at 
acceptable levels, it could be forced to limit the growth or replacement of its equipment and facilities. A significant increase in interest rates 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

The Company's primary sources of liquidity and capital resources during 2000 were funds provided by operations, borrowings under lines of 
credit, proceeds from sales of used revenue equipment, and the use of long-term operating leases for revenue equipment acquisitions. On 
December 31, 2000, the Company had in place a $225.0 million credit facility with a group of banks with a weighted average interest rate of 
8.34%, of which $48.3 million was available for borrowing. The line of credit was amended in January 2001. Under the terms of the amended 
agreement, the facility will be reduced to $215.0 million on June 30, 2001. The loan matures January 15, 2002. Interest on outstanding 
borrowings is based upon the London Interbank Offered Rate plus applicable margins, as defined in the credit agreement. The note is 
collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company. In September 2000 the Company entered into a long-term loan agreement for 
$10.0 million to finance the new Colton, California terminal facility. The term of the loan is 10 years, with amortization based on 20 years, and 
carries a variable interest rate that is based on the 30-day commercial paper rate, plus a margin. This rate can be converted to a fixed rate at any 
time up to September 2002. In 2001, the Company's primary sources of liquidity are expected to be funds provided by operations, borrowings 
under lines of credit, proceeds from sale of used revenue equipment and long-term operating lease financing for the acquisition of revenue 
equipment.  

Cash generated from operations increased to $54.7 million in 2000 from $34.5 million in 1999. Net cash used in investing activities was $49.2 
million in 2000 and $15.6 million in 1999. Such amounts were used primarily to acquire new revenue equipment, and in 2000, for the 
acquisition and construction of the new Colton, California terminal facility. During 2000, the Company made a $5 million cash investment to 
acquire a 13% equity interest in Transplace. In 2000, $56.2 million was used to acquire  
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additional property and equipment, compared to $74.6 million for 1999. Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment were $12.0 million 
in 2000, compared to $60.8 million in 1999.  

Net cash used in financing activities was $5.7 million in 2000 and $25.3 million in 1999. Borrowings under the line of credit were reduced by 
$9.8 million in 2000 and $21.0 million in 1999. As authorized by the Company's board of directors, 925,100 shares of the Company's Class A 
Common Stock were repurchased in 2000 for $7.1 million, and 485,000 shares were repurchased in 1999 for $4.5 million.  

Management believes that funds provided by operations, borrowings under lines of credit and long-term operating lease financing will be 
sufficient to fund its cash needs and anticipated capital expenditures through 2001.  

Inflation  

Inflation has not had a material effect on the Company's results of operations or financial condition during the past three years. However, 
inflation higher than experienced during the past three years could have an adverse effect on the Company's future results.  

Seasonality  

In the trucking industry, shipments generally show a seasonal pattern as customers increase shipments prior to and reduce shipments during and 
after the winter holiday season. Additionally, shipments can be adversely impacted by winter weather conditions.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities" (the "Statement"). The Statement establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument 
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured 
at its fair value. The Statement requires that changes in the derivative's fair value be recognized currently in earnings, unless specific hedge 
accounting criteria are met. Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a derivative's gains and losses to offset related results on the 
hedged item in the income statement, and requires that a company must formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of 
transactions that receive hedge accounting.  

As amended by SFAS No. 137, SFAS 133 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company adopted SFAS 133 
effective January 1, 2001. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements. However, it could increase the 
volatility in earnings and other comprehensive income for future periods.  
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOU T MARKET RISK  

Interest Rate Risk  

The Company has interest rate exposure arising from the Company's line of credit which has variable interest rates. At December 31, 2000 the 
Company had $178.0 million of variable rate debt. The Company has interest rate swap agreements which convert floating rates to fixed rates 
for a total notional amount of $45.0 million. If interest rates on the Company's variable rate debt, after considering interest rate swaps, were to 
increase by 10% from their December 31, 2000 rates for the next twelve months, the increase in interest expense would be approximately $1.2 
million.  

Commodity Price Risk  

Fuel is one of the Company's largest expenditures. The price and availability of diesel fuel fluctuates due to changes in production, seasonality 
and other market factors generally outside the Company's control. Many of the Company's customer contracts contain fuel surcharge provisions 
to mitigate increases in the cost of fuel. However, there is no assurance that such fuel surcharges could be used to offset future increases in fuel 
prices.  
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA   

Report of Independent Public Accountants  

To U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc.:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc. (a Nevada corporation) and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of U.S. Xpress 
Enterprises, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2000 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  
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/s/ ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP 
 
 
 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 
February 5, 2001 



U.S. XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.  

20  

                                                          Year Ended December 31, 
                                                       ----------------------------  
                                                         2000      1999      1998 
                                                       --------  --------  --------  
 
Operating Revenue                                      $787,085  $708,212  $581,401  
                                                       --------  --------  --------  
 
Operating Expenses: 
 Salaries, wages and benefits                           287,225   275,070   233,953  
 Fuel and fuel taxes                                    135,992   100,295    77,046  
 Vehicle rents                                           59,440    54,522    32,399  
 Depreciation and amortization, net of gain/loss on  
   disposition of equipment                              34,430    29,250    26,007  
 Purchased transportation                               104,279    83,897    60,773  
 Operating expenses and supplies                         51,382    44,629    37,575  
 Insurance premiums and claims                           32,657    28,431    20,159  
 Operating taxes and licenses                            13,542    14,709     9,830  
 Communications and utilities                            11,216    12,174     9,002  
 General and other operating expenses (Note 3)           36,991    33,708    30,252  
                                                       --------  --------  --------  
   Total operating expenses                             767,154   676,685   536,996  
                                                       --------  --------  --------  
 
Income from Operations                                   19,931    31,527    44,405  
 
Interest Expense, net                                    15,449    12,388     9,908  
                                                       --------  --------  --------  
 
Income Before Income Tax Provision                        4,482    19,139    34,497  
 
Income Tax Provision                                      2,417     7,758    13,780  
                                                       --------  --------  --------  
 
Net Income                                             $  2,065  $ 11,381  $ 20,717  
                                                       ========  ========  ========  
 
Earnings Per Share - basic                             $    .15  $    .77  $   1.38  
                                                       ========  ========  ========  
Weighted average shares - basic                          14,095    14,785    15,038  
                                                       ========  ========  ========  
 
Earnings Per Share - diluted                           $    .15  $    .77  $   1.37  
                                                       ========  ========  ========  
Weighted average shares - diluted                        14,148    14,852    15,162  
                                                       ========  ========  ========  



U.S. XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts)  
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets.  
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                                                                                         December 31, 
                                                                                     ----------------- ---  
                                                                                       2000       1999  
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
Assets 
 Current Assets 
   Cash and cash equivalents                                                         $     34   $    2 59 
   Customer receivables, net of allowance of $4,019  and $3,255                         89,184    101,8 70 
   Other receivables                                                                   14,294      9,8 07 
   Operating and installation supplies                                                  4,312      6,0 78 
   Deferred income taxes                                                                2,249      2,1 48 
   Other current assets                                                                 6,715      4,1 70 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
      Total current assets                                                            116,788    124,3 32 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
 Property and Equipment, at cost                                                      315,480    275,8 80 
   Less accumulated depreciation and amortization                                     (96,578)   (69,5 47)  
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
      Net property and equipment                                                      218,902    206,3 33 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
 Other Assets 
   Goodwill, net                                                                       67,498     70,1 61 
   Investment in Transplace                                                             5,815         -- 
   Other                                                                               11,239      8,2 11 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
      Total other assets                                                               84,552     78,3 72 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
         Total Assets                                                                $420,242   $409,0 37 
                                                                                     ========   ====== == 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 
 Current Liabilities 
   Accounts payable                                                                  $ 19,060   $ 16,5 56 
   Book overdraft                                                                       2,940        8 86 
   Accrued wages and benefits                                                           8,523      7,2 68 
   Claims and insurance accruals                                                        8,704      5,5 30 
   Other accrued liabilities                                                            3,190      5,0 74 
   Current maturities of long-term debt                                                 1,501      1,1 82 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
      Total current liabilities                                                        43,918     36,4 96 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
 Long-Term Debt, net of current maturities                                            179,908    181,2 56 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
 Deferred Income Taxes                                                                 36,902     26,5 26 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
 Other Long-Term Liabilities                                                            2,579      3,2 32 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
 Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 8 and 10) 
 Stockholders' Equity 
   Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 2,000,000 share s authorized, no shares issued          --         -- 
   Common Stock Class A, $.01 par value, 30,000,000  shares authorized, 
    13,210,467 and 13,087,545 shares issued at Dece mber 31, 2000 and 
    1999, respectively                                                                    132        1 31 
   Common Stock Class B, $.01 par value, 7,500,000 shares authorized, 3,040,262 
    shares issued and outstanding                                                          30         30 
   Additional paid-in capital                                                         105,124    104,2 59 
   Retained earnings                                                                   76,797     74,7 32 
   Treasury Stock, Class A, at cost (2,544,389 and 1,619,289 shares at 
    December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively)                                         (24,483)   (17,3 92)  
   Notes receivable from stockholders                                                    (233)      (2 33)  
   Unamortized compensation on restricted stock                                          (432)        -- 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
      Total stockholders' equity                                                      156,935    161,5 27 
                                                                                     --------   ------ -- 
         Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity                                   $420,242   $409,0 37 
                                                                                     ========   ====== == 



U.S. XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(In thousands)  
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.  

22  

                                                                             Year Ended December 31, 
                                                                        ------------------------------  
                                                                          2000       1999       1998 
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities: 
 Net income                                                             $  2,065   $ 11,381   $ 20,717  
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
  provided by operating activities: 
   Deferred income tax provision                                             713      1,181      8,882  
   Depreciation and amortization                                          34,711     30,014     25,770  
   (Gain)/loss on sales of equipment                                        (281)      (764)       237  
   Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net  of acquisitions: 
     Receivables                                                           6,655      4,113     (8,889 )  
     Operating and installation supplies                                   1,807       (616)      (260 )  
     Other assets                                                         (6,436)    (4,004)    (8,136 )  
     Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities                        14,089     (7,424)    (7,550 )  
     Accrued wages and benefits                                            1,306        606       (906 )  
     Other                                                                    86         56         47  
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
      Net cash provided by operating activities                           54,715     34,543     29,912  
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
 Payments for purchases of property and equipment                        (56,187)   (74,622)   (96,822 )  
 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment                            11,966     60,773     60,461  
 Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired                              --     (1,798)   (62,626 )  
 Investment in Transplace                                                 (5,000)        --         --  
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
      Net cash used in investing activities                              (49,221)   (15,647)   (98,987 )  
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities: 
 Net borrowings (payments) under lines of credit                          (9,801)   (21,000)   169,500  
 Payments of long-term debt                                               (1,229)      (852)   (84,174 )  
 Borrowings under long-term debt agreement                                10,000         --         --  
 Book overdraft                                                            2,054        886         --  
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options                                       8         --         91  
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock                                      340        242        403  
 Purchase of Class A Common Stock                                         (7,091)    (4,526)   (12,866 )  
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
      Net cash provided by (used in) financing acti vities                 (5,719)   (25,250)    72,954  
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalent s                        (225)    (6,354)     3,879  
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period                               259      6,613      2,734  
                                                                        --------   --------   --------  
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period                                $     34   $    259   $  6,613  
                                                                        ========   ========   ========  
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: 
 Cash paid during the period for interest, 
    net of capitalized interest                                         $ 16,003   $ 12,838   $ 10,062  
                                                                        ========   ========   ========  
 Cash (refunded) paid during the period for income taxes, net           $ (1,452)  $  6,967   $  2,600  
                                                                        ========   ========   ========  



U.S. XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

(Dollars in thousands)  
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.  
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                                                                                              Notes        Unamortized 
                                      Common Stock   Additional                             Receivable      Compensation 
                                    --------------- -   Paid-In   Retained     Treasury         From       On Restricted 
                                    Class A  Class B   Capital   Earnings       Stock      Stockholder s       Stock         Total 
                                    -------  ------ -  --------  ----------  -------------  ----------- --  --------------  ---------  
Balance, December 31, 1997             $120      $3 0  $ 85,942     $42,634      $     --          $(23 3)          $  --   $128,493 
 
 Net income                              --       - -        --      20,717            --             - -              --     20,717 
 Issuance of 2,661 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  non-employee director 
  compensation                           --       - -        47          --            --             - -              --         47 
 Proceeds from exercise of 15,167 
  stock options                          --       - -        91          --            --             - -              --         91 
 Issuance of 26,008 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  employee stock purchase plan           --       - -       403          --            --             - -              --        403 
 Issuance of 994,447 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  PST acquisition                        10       - -    16,772          --            --             - -              --     16,782 
 Repurchase of 1,134,289 shares 
  of Class A Common Stock                --       - -        --          --       (12,866)            - -              --    (12,866)  
                                    -------  ------ -  --------  ----------  ------------   ----------- -   -------------   -------- 
Balance, December 31, 1998              130       3 0   103,255      63,351       (12,866)          (23 3)             --    153,667 
 
 Net income                              --       - -        --      11,381            --             - -              --     11,381 
 Issuance of 5,068 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  non-employee director 
  compensation                           --       - -        56          --            --             - -              --         56 
 Issuance of 22,709 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  employee stock purchase plan           --       - -       242          --            --             - -              --        242 
 Issuance of 41,901 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  PST acquisition                         1       - -       706          --            --             - -              --        707 
 Repurchase of 485,000 shares of 
    Class A Common Stock                 --       - -        --          --        (4,526)            - -              --     (4,526)  
                                    -------  ------ -  --------  ----------  ------------   ----------- -   -------------   -------- 
Balance, December 31, 1999              131       3 0   104,259      74,732       (17,392)          (23 3)             --    161,527 
 
 Net income                              --       - -        --       2,065            --             - -              --      2,065 
 Issuance of 5,322 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  non-employee director 
  compensation                           --       - -        38          --            --             - -              --         38 
 Proceeds from exercise of 1,200 
  options                                --       - -         8          --            --             - -              --          8 
 Issuance of 56,400 shares of 
  Class A Common Stock for 
  employee stock purchase plan           --       - -       340          --            --             - -              --        340 
 Issuance of 60,000 shares of 
  restricted Class A Common 
  Stock to officers                       1       - -       479          --            --             - -            (480)        -- 
 Amortization of restricted stock        --       - -        --          --            --             - -              48         48 
 Repurchase of 925,100 shares of 
    Class A Common Stock                 --       - -        --          --        (7,091)            - -              --     (7,091)  
                                    -------  ------ -  --------  ----------  ------------   ----------- -   -------------   -------- 
Balance, December 31, 2000             $132      $3 0  $105,124     $76,797      $(24,483)         $(23 3)          $(432)  $156,935 
                                    =======  ====== =  ========  ==========  ============   =========== =   =============   ======== 



U.S. XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)  

1. Organization and Operations  

U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc. (the "Company") provides transportation services through two business segments. U.S. Xpress, Inc. ("U.S. 
Xpress") is a truckload carrier serving the continental United States and parts of Canada and Mexico. CSI/Crown, Inc. ("CSI/Crown") provides 
transportation services primarily to the floorcovering industry. The Company also owns 13% of Transplace.com, LLC ("Transplace"), an 
Internet-based global transportation logistics company.  

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Principles of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and 
accounts have been eliminated.  

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investment instruments with an original maturity of three months or less.  

Recognition of Revenue  

For financial reporting purposes, the Company generally recognizes revenue and direct costs when shipments are completed.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to customer receivables are limited due to the large number of entities comprising the Company's 
customer base and their dispersion across many different industries. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations and generally does not 
require collateral.  

Operating and Installation Supplies  

Operating supplies consist primarily of tires, parts, materials and supplies for servicing the Company's revenue and service equipment. 
Installation supplies consist of various accessories used in the installation of floorcoverings and are held for sale at various CSI/Crown 
distribution centers. Operating and installation supplies are recorded at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first- out basis) or market. Tires and 
tubes purchased as part of revenue and service equipment are capitalized as part of the cost of the equipment. Replacement tires and tubes are 
charged to expense when placed in service.  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method for financial 
reporting purposes and accelerated methods for tax purposes over the estimated useful lives of the related assets (net of salvage value). The cost 
and lives are as follows:  
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The Company recognized $30,593, $27,101 and $24,097 in depreciation expense in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Gains (losses) on sales 
of equipment of $281, $764 and $(237) for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, are included in depreciation and amortization expense in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. During 2000, the Company capitalized $483 of interest.  

Upon the retirement of property and equipment, the related asset cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any 
gain or loss is reflected in the Company's statement of operations with the exception of gains on trade-ins, which are included in the basis of the 
new asset. Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are expensed. Renewals or betterments that affect the nature of an asset or increase 
its useful life are capitalized.  

Goodwill  

The excess of the consideration paid by the Company over the estimated fair value of identifiable net assets acquired has been recorded as 
goodwill and is being amortized on the straight-line basis over periods ranging from 20 to 40 years. The Company continually evaluates 
whether subsequent events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining estimated useful life of goodwill might warrant 
revision or that the remaining balance may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that goodwill should be evaluated for possible 
impairment, the Company uses an estimate of the future undiscounted net cash flows of the related businesses over the remaining life of the 
goodwill in measuring whether goodwill is recoverable. The Company recognized $1,999, $1,977 and $1,244 of goodwill amortization expense 
in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Accumulated amortization was $6,416, and $4,572 at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.  

Computer Software  

The Company accounts for computer software in accordance with the AICPA's Statement of Position ("SOP") 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs 
of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use". Computer software is included in other long-term assets and is being 
amortized on a straight-line basis over three years. The Company recognized $1,732, $761 and $430 of amortization expense in 2000, 1999 and 
1998, respectively. Accumulated amortization was $3,461 and $2,072 at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.  

Book Overdraft  

Book overdraft represents outstanding checks in excess of current cash levels. The Company will fund the book overdraft from its line of credit 
and operating cash flows.  

Investment in Transplace  

On July 1, 2000, the Company and five other large transportation companies merged their logistics business units into a commonly owned, 
Internet-based global transportation logistics company, Transplace. As Transplace is a limited liability corporation, the Company accounts for 
its 13% ownership in Transplace under the equity method of accounting. The Company's equity in the earnings of Transplace for 2000 was 
immaterial.  

Claims and Insurance Accruals  

Claims and insurance accruals consist of cargo loss, damage, liability (personal injury and property damage) and workers' compensation in 
excess of established deductible levels and group health claims. Claims in excess of deductible levels are covered by insurance in amounts the 
Company considers adequate. Current deductible levels range from $3 for liability to $350 for group health claims. Claims accruals represent 
the uninsured portion of pending claims at December 31, 2000 and 1999, plus an estimated liability for incurred but not reported claims. 
Accruals for cargo loss, damage, liability and workers' compensation claims are estimated based on the Company's evaluation of the type and 
severity of individual claims. Accruals for group health insurance claims are based on the Company's estimate of outstanding claims 
determined by the Company's past claims experience.  
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                                                     Cost 
                                              ----- -------------  
                                    Lives       200 0      1999 
                                 -----------  ----- ---  --------  
Land and buildings               10-30 years  $ 24, 952  $ 16,677  
Revenue and service equipment     3-7 years    249, 773   223,991  
Furniture and equipment           3-7 years     21, 299    19,169  
Leasehold improvements            5-6 years     19, 456    16,043  
                                              ----- ---  --------  
                                              $315, 480  $275,880  
                                              ===== ===  ========  



Other Long-Term Liabilities  

Periodically, the Company receives volume rebates from vendors related to certain operating leases for new revenue and service equipment. 
Additionally, certain equipment leases include spare tires, which increase tire inventories. The Company defers recognition of these rebates and 
amortizes such amounts as a reduction of vehicle rent expense over the respective lease terms. At December 31, 2000 and 1999, other long-
term liabilities include deferred credits of $2,231 and $2,814, respectively.  

Derivative Financial Instruments  

The Company has only limited involvement with derivative financial instruments and does not use them for trading purposes. Interest rate swap 
agreements, which are used by the Company to manage its interest rate exposure, are accounted for on the accrual basis. Amounts to be paid or 
received under interest rate swap agreements are recorded in interest expense in the period in which they accrue.  

Comprehensive Income  

Comprehensive income is the total of net income and all other non-owner changes in stockholders' equity. For all periods presented, 
comprehensive income is the same as net income in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Earnings Per Share  

The difference between basic and diluted earnings per share is due to the assumed conversion of dilutive outstanding options resulting in 
approximately 53,000, 67,000 and 124,000 equivalent shares in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock 
Issued to Employees" ("APB No. 25"). Effective fiscal 1997, the Company adopted the disclosure option of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards ("SFAS") No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation."  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities" (the "Statement"). The Statement establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument 
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured 
at its fair value. The Statement requires that changes in the derivative's fair value be recognized currently in earnings, unless specific hedge 
accounting criteria are met. Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a derivative's gains and losses to offset related results on the 
hedged item in the income statement, and requires that a company must formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of 
transactions that receive hedge accounting.  

As amended by SFAS No. 137, SFAS 133 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company adopted SFAS 133 
effective January 1, 2001. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements. However, it could increase the 
volatility in earnings and other comprehensive income for future periods.  

Reclassifications  

Certain reclassifications have been made in the prior year financial statements to conform to the 2000 presentation.  

3. Certain Transactions  

In December 2000, the Company recorded a one-time, pre-tax charge of $2,000 to general and other operating expenses related to the write-off 
of outstanding receivables with Dedicated Transportation Services, Inc. ("DTSI") and other related expenses.  

On May 27, 1999, a settlement agreement and release was completed between the Company and Employee Solutions, Inc. ("ESI"), pursuant to 
which certain pending claims between the Company and ESI were resolved. As a result of the settlement, the Company recorded a charge to 
general and other operating expenses of $1,250 in 1999.  
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4. Acquisitions  

All acquisitions have been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The results of operations of the acquired businesses are 
included in the financial statements from the dates of acquisition. Under the terms of the purchase agreements for acquisitions prior to 1999 and 
in settlement of certain contingent purchase price arrangements, the Company incurred approximately $4,000 of additional consideration in 
1999, of which approximately $1,800 was paid in cash.  

Effective January 29, 1998, the Company acquired Victory Express, Inc. ("Victory"), a non-union truckload carrier based in Medway, Ohio, for 
$51,000 in cash and assumption of approximately $2,000 in debt.  

Effective August 28, 1998, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of PST Vans, Inc. ("PST"), a non-union truckload carrier based 
in Salt Lake City, Utah, for $12,281 in cash, 1,036,348 shares of Class A Common Stock, and the assumption of $52,000 in debt.  

5. Income Taxes  

The income tax provision for 2000, 1999 and 1998 consisted of the following:  

 

A reconciliation of the income tax provision as reported in the consolidated statements of operations to the amounts computed by applying 
federal statutory rates is as follows:  

 

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2000 and 1999 
consisted of the following:  
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             2000    1999     1998 
            ------  ------  -------  
Current: 
 Federal    $1,586  $5,979  $ 4,171  
 State         118     598      727  
            ------  ------  -------  
             1,704   6,577    4,898  
Deferred       713   1,181    8,882  
            ------  ------  -------  
            $2,417  $7,758  $13,780  
            ======  ======  =======  

                                                          2000    1999     1998 
                                                         ------  ------  ------- 
Federal income tax at statutory rate                     $1,524  $6,699  $12,074 
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benef it        78     395    1,366 
Nondeductible goodwill amortization                         553     548      349 
Other, net                                                  262     116       (9)  
                                                         ------  ------  ------- 
    Income tax provision                                 $2,417  $7,758  $13,780 
                                                         ======  ======  ======= 

                                                          2000      1999 
                                                        -------   -------  
Deferred tax assets: 
 Allowance for doubtful accounts                         $   567  $   601  
 Insurance reserves                                        2,307    2,157  
 Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards              4,808    2,369  
 Claims and other reserves                                   200      340  
 Net operating loss carryforwards                          5,687    6,229  
 Other                                                       794      597  
                                                         -------  -------  
  Total deferred tax assets                              $14,363  $12,293  
                                                         =======  =======  
Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Book over tax basis of property and equipment           $47,444  $34,980  
 Deductible goodwill amortization                            674      575  
 Prepaid license fees                                        269      468  
 Other                                                       629      648  
                                                         -------  -------  
  Total deferred tax liabilities                         $49,016  $36,671  
                                                         =======  =======  



At December 31, 2000, the Company has approximately $16,500 of net operating loss ("NOL") carryforwards from the PST acquisition, which 
expire in 2010 and 2011. The utilization of the NOL carryforwards is limited to future taxable income generated from PST. Management 
believes it will be able to utilize the NOL carryforwards prior to their expiration. The Company also has approximately $4,808 of alternative 
minimum tax ("AMT") credit carryforwards. AMT credits may generally be carried forward indefinitely and used in future years to the extent 
the Company's regular tax liability exceeds the AMT liability for such future years.  

6. Long-Term Debt  

Long-term debt at December 31, 2000 and 1999 consisted of the following:  

 

During 1998, the Company entered into a line of credit with a syndicate of banks with aggregate capacity up to $225,000. In January 2001, the 
line of credit agreement was amended. Under the terms of the amended agreement, the facility will be reduced to $215,000 on June 30, 2001. 
Borrowings (including letters of credit) under the line are limited to a specified percentage of eligible accounts receivable and the net book 
value of revenue equipment. Letters of credit are limited to an aggregate of $10,000 under the line. The credit agreement is collateralized by 
substantially all of the assets of the Company. Letters of credit outstanding against the line of credit were $8,677, and $48,323 was available 
under the facility at December 31, 2000.  

Borrowings under the line of credit bear interest, at the option of the Company, equal to either: (i) the greater of the bank's prime rate or the 
federal funds rate plus .50%, (ii) the rate offered in the Eurodollar market for amounts and periods comparable to the relevant loan plus a 
margin that is determined by a financial covenant, or (iii) the rate offered to the Company for a loan of a specific amount and maturity by any 
of the participating banks under a competitive bid process. At December 31, 2000, the margin applicable to the Eurodollar interest rate was 
equal to 1.75%.  

Borrowings under the mortgage note payable bear interest based on the 30-day commercial paper rate, plus a margin. This rate can be 
converted to a fixed rate at any time up to September 2002.  

The line of credit agreement subjects the Company to certain restrictions and financial covenants related to, among other matters, dividends, 
net worth, additional borrowings, acquisitions and dispositions, and maintenance of certain financial ratios.  

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years are:  

2001 $ 1,501  
 

                                                                             2000       1999 
                                                                           --------   -------- 
Obligation under line of credit with a group of ban ks, weighted average 
 interest rate of 8.34% at December 31, 2000, matur ing January 2002        $168,000   $178,000 
 
Mortgage note payable, interest rate of 8.89% at De cember 31, 2000, 
  due in monthly installments through October 2010,  with final 
  payment of $7.1 million in October 2010                                     9,969         -- 
 
Capital lease obligation maturing January 2008                                1,676      1,760 
 
Other                                                                         1,764      2,678 
                                                                           --------   -------- 
                                                                            181,409    182,438 
Less:  current maturities of long-term debt                                  (1,501)    (1,182)  
                                                                           --------   -------- 
                                                                           $179,908   $181,256 
                                                                           ========   ======== 

                        2002     168,549 
                        ---------------- 
                        2003         648 
                        ---------------- 
                        2004         479 
                        ---------------- 
                        2005         561 
                        ---------------- 
 
                                       28  



 

Interest rate swap agreements are used to manage well-defined interest rate risks. Under interest rate swap agreements, the Company agrees 
with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed rate and variable rate interest amounts calculated by 
reference to an agreed-upon notional amount. Under these agreements, the Company receives interest payments at rates equal to LIBOR reset 
quarterly, and pays interest at fixed rates shown below:  

 

The Company is exposed to credit losses in the event of non-performance by the counterparties to its interest rate swap agreements. The 
Company anticipates, however, that the counterparties will be able to fully satisfy their obligations under the contracts. The Company does not 
obtain collateral or other security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk, but monitors the credit-standing of counterparties.  

The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements is defined as the amount the Company would receive or would be required to pay to 
terminate further obligations under the agreements. At December 31, 2000, the Company estimates the amount it would receive to terminate 
the agreements approximates $159.  

8. Leases  

The Company leases certain revenue and service equipment and office and terminal facilities under long-term non-cancelable operating lease 
agreements expiring at various dates through December 2005. Rental expense under non-cancelable operating leases was approximately 
$65,950, $60,335 and $37,213 for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  

The Company is party to a long-term lease of a corporate office and operations facility, which is scheduled to expire in January 2003. Payments 
under the lease are based on LIBOR rates applied to the cost of the facility funded by the lessor. The Company has an option to renew the lease 
for up to three three-year extensions, subject to certain conditions. If the Company does not purchase the property at the end of the lease term, 
whether caused by expiration, default or otherwise, the Company would guarantee a residual value to the lessor of up to the lessor's net 
investment in the property. Under the lease, the Company is required to maintain compliance with certain financial covenants.  

Approximate aggregate minimum future rentals payable under these operating leases for each of the next five years are:  

2001 $63,428  
2002 35,440  
2003 17,985  
2004 8,753  
2005 3,308  

9. Related Party Transactions  

The Company leases certain office and terminal facilities from entities owned by the two principal stockholders of the Company. The lease 
agreements are for five-year terms and provide the Company with the option to renew the lease agreements for four three-year terms. Rent 
expense of approximately $851, $868 and $1,480 was recognized in connection with these leases during 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  
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7.   Derivative Financial Instruments  

Notional   Fixed Rate   Variable Rate       Effecti ve         Expiration 
 Amounts   Component      Component           Date               Date 
--------   ----------   -------------   ----------- -----   ---------------- 
$10,000       5.730%        6.751%      February 6,  1998   February 6, 2003 
 15,000       5.705         6.751       February 6,  1998   February 6, 2003 
 10,000       5.145         6.751       August 6, 1 999     February 6, 2003 
 10,000       5.565         6.618       September 8 , 1998  September 8, 2003  



The two principal stockholders of the Company and certain partnerships controlled by their families own 100% of the outstanding common 
stock of Paragon Leasing LLC ("Paragon"). Paragon leases certain revenue and service equipment to the Company on a temporary basis. Rent 
expense of approximately $473, $590 and $1,162 was recognized in connection with these leases during 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  

The two principal stockholders of the Company and certain partnerships controlled by their families own 45% of the outstanding common 
stock of Transcommunications, Inc. ("Transcom"). Beginning in 1999, the Company began utilizing Transcom charge cards for over-the-road 
fuel purchases. The Company paid Transcom $212 and $204 in fees for these services in 2000 and 1999, respectively. Transcom also makes a 
debit card system available to the Company's drivers through which phone calls and Internet e-mail can be credited while the driver is on the 
road. Total payments by the Company to Transcom for these services were approximately $511, $441 and $209 in 2000, 1999 and 1998, 
respectively.  

On July 1, 2000, the Company and five other large transportation companies contributed their non-asset based logistics business units into a 
commonly owned, Internet-based transportation logistics company, Transplace. During the last six months of 2000 the Company earned 
revenues of approximately $12.6 million from Transplace for providing transportation services.  

10. Commitments and Contingencies  

In November 2000, the Company signed an agreement with SouthTrust to purchase certain assets of DTSI, a customer of the Company, at 
foreclosure by SouthTrust as secured creditor of DTSI. After the agreement was signed, SouthTrust advised the Company that it had received a 
higher offer for the assets from another party, and that it would cancel the agreement with the Company, unless the Company matched the 
higher offer, and SouthTrust sold the assets of DTSI to the other party.  

In December 2000, SouthTrust filed a lawsuit against the Company concerning events which occurred after SouthTrust terminated the 
agreement with the Company. In its lawsuit, SouthTrust claims the Company acted wrongfully and attempted to interfere with SouthTrust's sale 
of DTSI's assets. The lawsuit seeks damages in an unspecified amount from the Company and seeks to have the court declare that actions taken 
by SouthTrust in connection with the sale of assets were lawful and did not violate any legal rights of the Company. The Company believes 
that the SouthTrust lawsuit is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself.  

The Company is party to certain other legal proceedings incidental to its business. The ultimate disposition of these matters, in the opinion of 
management, based in part on the advice of legal counsel, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position 
or results of operations.  

Letters of credit of $8,677 were outstanding at December 31, 2000. The letters of credit are maintained primarily to support the Company's 
insurance program (see Note 2). The Company pays commitment fees of 1.75% on the outstanding portion of the letters of credit.  

11. Employee Benefit Plan  

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan covering substantially all employees of the Company, whereby participants may contribute a 
percentage of their compensation, as allowed under applicable laws. The plan provides for a matching contribution by the Company. 
Participants are 100% vested in participant contributions and become vested in employer matching contributions over a period of six years. The 
Company recognized $1,127, $1,425 and $1,263 in expense under this employee benefit plan for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  

12. Stockholders' Equity  

Common Stock  

Holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share. Holders of Class B Common Stock are entitled to two votes per share. 
Once the Class B Common Stock is no longer held by the two principal stockholders of the Company or their families as defined, the stock is 
automatically converted into Class A Common Stock on a share per share basis.  

Preferred Stock  

Effective December 31, 1993, the Board of Directors approved the designation of 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock with par value  
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of $.01 per share. The Board of Directors has the authority to issue these shares and to determine the rights, terms and conditions of the 
preferred stock as needed.  

Stock Buyback  

As authorized by its Board of Directors, the Company purchased 925,100, 485,000 and 1,134,289 shares of the Company's outstanding Class A 
Common Stock in the open market and in private transactions at a cost of $7,091, $4,526 and $12,866 for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  

Incentive Stock Plan  

The Company maintains the U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc. Incentive Stock Plan (the "Plan"). The Plan provides for the issuance of shares of 
restricted common stock of the Company, as well as both incentive and nonstatutory stock options. There may be issued under the Plan (as 
restricted stock, in payment of performance grants, or pursuant to the exercise of stock options) an aggregate of not more than the greater of (a) 
1,038,138 shares of Class A Common Stock, or  
(b) 8% of the total number of common shares of the Company outstanding at any given time. Participants of the Plan may include key 
employees as selected by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors. Under the terms of the Plan, the Company may issue 
restricted shares of common stock, grant options, or issue performance grants to participants in amounts and for such prices as determined by 
the compensation committee. All options will vest immediately in the event of a change in control of the Company, or upon the death, 
disability, or retirement of the employee.  

Under a 1993 sale of restricted stock to certain stockholder employees, notes receivable from stockholders were issued. The notes bear interest 
at 6% and are due to the Company upon demand.  

On July 1, 2000, 60,000 restricted shares of Class A Common Stock were issued to certain executive officers. The restrictions on these 60,000 
shares expire over a five-year period beginning July 3, 2001. Restrictions on these shares expire in the event of a change in control of the 
Company, or upon the death, disability or retirement of the employee.  

Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan  

In August 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Non-Employee Directors Stock Award and Option Plan (the "Directors Stock Plan") providing 
for the issuance of stock options to non-employee directors upon their election to the Company's Board of Directors. The Directors Stock Plan 
also provides non-employee directors the option to receive certain board-related compensation in the form of the Company's Class A Common 
Stock in lieu of cash. The number of shares of Class A Common Stock available for option or issue under the Directors Stock Plan may not 
exceed 50,000 shares.  

The Directors Stock Plan provides for the grant of 1,200 options to purchase the Company's Class A Common Stock to each non-employee 
director upon the election or re-election of each such director to the board. The exercise price of options issued under the Directors Stock Plan 
is set at the fair market value of the Company's stock on the date granted. Options vest ratably on each of the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the date of grant.  

If a board member elects to receive board-related compensation in the form of stock, the number of shares issued to each director in lieu of cash 
is determined based on the amount of earned compensation divided by the fair market value of the Company's stock on the date compensation 
is earned.  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

In August 1997, the Company adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") through which employees meeting certain eligibility 
criteria may purchase shares of the Company's common stock at a discount. Under the ESPP, eligible employees may purchase shares of the 
Company's common stock, subject to certain limitations, at a 15% discount. Common stock is purchased for employees in January and July of 
each year. Employees may not purchase more than 1,250 shares in any six-month period or purchase stock having a market value of more than 
$25 per calendar year. The Company has reserved 300,000 shares for issuance under the ESPP. In January and July 2000, employees purchased 
30,899 and 25,501 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock at $6.27 and $5.74 per share, respectively. In January and July 1999, 
employees purchased 9,752 and 12,957 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock at $12.75 and $9.09 per share, respectively. In 
January and July 1998, employees purchased 17,001 and 9,007 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock at $16.15 and $14.24 per 
share, respectively, At December 31, 2000, 194,883 shares were available for purchase under the ESPP. In January 2001, employees purchased 
22,042 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock at $4.73 per share.  
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Stock Options  

Stock options generally vest over periods ranging from three to six years and expire ten years from the date of grant. A summary of the 
Company's stock option activity for 2000, 1999 and 1998 follows:  

 

For SFAS No. 123 purposes, the fair value of each option grant and each stock purchase right under the ESPP has been estimated as of the date 
of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively: risk-
free interest rate of 6.44%, 5.26% and 4.52%, expected life of five years, expected dividend yield of 0% and expected volatility of 60%, 60% 
and 61%. Using these assumptions, the fair value of the awards granted in 2000, 1999 and 1998 is $776, $473 and $756, respectively, which 
would be amortized as compensation expense over the vesting period. Had compensation cost for the plan been determined in accordance with 
SFAS No. 123, utilizing the assumptions detailed above, the Company's pro forma net income would have been $1,592, $11,083 and $20,500 
for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Pro forma basic earnings per share would have been $0.11, $0.75 and $1.36 for 2000, 1999 and 1998, 
respectively. Pro forma diluted earnings per share would have been $0.11, $0.75 and $1.35 for the same periods.  

The pro forma effect on net income in this pro forma disclosure may not be representative of the pro forma effect on net income in future years, 
because it does not take into consideration pro forma compensation expense related to grants made prior to March 31, 1996.  

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2000, 1999 and 1998 was $4.10, $7.42 and $6.45, respectively. Of the options 
outstanding at December 31, 2000, 494,476 have exercise prices between $4.72 and $8.06, with a weighted average exercise price of $6.73 and 
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.9 years. Of these options, 132,576 are exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of 
$5.59. Options to exercise 90,850 shares have exercise prices between $9.50 and $12.25, with a weighted average exercise price of $11.93 and 
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.8 years. Of these options, 41,855 are exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of 
$12.05. Options to exercise the remaining 121,100 shares have exercise prices between $15.00 and $20.88, with a weighted average exercise 
price of $17.97 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.0 years. Of these options, 61,300 were exercisable at a weighted average 
exercise price of $18.56. As of December 31, 2000, 235,731 of the options outstanding were exercisable with a weighted average exercise price 
of $10.11 per share. As of December 31, 1999, 209,564 of the options outstanding were exercisable with a weighted average exercise price of 
$9.13 per share. As of December 31, 1998, 128,423 of the options outstanding were exercisable with a weighted average exercise price of 
$7.86 per share.  

13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, customer and other receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are reasonable 
estimates of their fair values because of the short maturity of these financial instruments. Based on the borrowing rates available to the 
Company for long- term debt with similar terms and average maturities, the carrying amounts approximate the fair value of such financial 
instruments.  
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                                                                           Weighted Average  
                                         Shares       Option Price          Exercise Price 
                                        --------   ----------------        ----------------  
Outstanding at December 31, 1997         271,243   $ 4.72  --  19.13            $11.10 
  Granted at market price                108,550    12.25  --  20.88             12.63 
  Exercised                              (15,167)    4.72  --   6.88              6.02 
  Canceled or expired                     (7,500)    6.88  --  19.13             15.04 
                                         ------- 
Outstanding at December 31, 1998         357,126     4.72  --  20.88             11.70 
  Granted at market price                 51,300    10.13  --  15.00             13.13 
  Canceled or expired                    (14,000)   12.25  --  19.13             14.71 
                                         ------- 
Outstanding at December 31, 1999         394,426     4.72  --  20.88             11.78 
  Granted at market price                387,150     6.50  --   8.06              7.11 
  Exercised                               (1,200)          --   6.63              6.63 
  Canceled or expired                    (73,950)    6.50  --  20.88             10.84 
                                         ------- 
Outstanding at December 31, 2000         706,426     4.72  --  20.88              9.33 
                                         ======= 



14. Operating Segments  

The Company has two reportable segments based on the types of services it provides to its customers: U.S. Xpress, which provides truckload 
operations throughout the continental United States and parts of Canada and Mexico, and CSI/Crown, which provides transportation services to 
the floorcovering industry.  

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. All intersegment 
sales prices are market based. The Company evaluates performance based on operating income of the respective business units.  

 

The difference in consolidated operating income as shown above and consolidated income before income tax provision on the consolidated 
statements of operations is net interest expense of $15,449, $12,388 and $9,908 in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.  
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                                  U.S. Xpress  CSI/ Crown  Consolidated  
                                  -----------  ---- -----  ------------  
1998 
---- 
 Revenues - external customers       $506,868    $7 4,533      $581,401  
 Intersegment revenues                  6,286          0         6,286  
 Operating income                      41,837      2,568        44,405  
 Depreciation and amortization         24,874        896        25,770  
 Total assets                         406,386     2 0,153       426,539  
 Capital expenditures                  95,653      1,169        96,822  
 
1999 
---- 
 Revenues - external customers       $650,499    $5 7,713      $708,212  
 Intersegment revenues                  5,530          0         5,530  
 Operating income                      28,869      2,658        31,527  
 Depreciation and amortization         28,932      1,082        30,014  
 Total assets                         390,922     1 8,115       409,037  
 Capital expenditures                  74,180        442        74,622  
 
2000 
---- 
 Revenues - external customers       $728,924    $5 8,161      $787,085  
 Intersegment revenues                  4,659          0         4,659  
 Operating income                      17,107      2,824        19,931  
 Depreciation and amortization         33,447      1,264        34,711  
 Total assets                         400,221     2 0,021       420,242  
 Capital expenditures                  55,455        732        56,187  



15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)  

 

(1) The sum of quarterly earnings per share differs from annual earnings per share because of differences in the weighted average number of 
common shares used in the quarterly and annual computations.  

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

No items have occurred within the 24 months prior to December 31, 2000 involving a change of accountants or disagreements on accounting 
and financial disclosure matters.  
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                                                                     Quarter Ended 
                                         ---------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
                                          March 31       June 30      September 30     December 31        Total 
                                         ----------      ---------    --------------   -------------     --------  
Year Ended December 31, 2000 
   Operating revenue                       $191,841       $202,427       $197,135         $195,682       $787,085  
   Income from operations                     4,842          9,122          6,626             (659)        19,931  
   Income before income taxes                 1,447          5,150          2,481           (4,596)         4,482  
   Net income                                   868          3,084          1,368           (3,255)         2,065  
   Earnings per share - basic (1)              0.06           0.22           0.10            (0.24)          0.15  
   Earnings per share - diluted (1)            0.06           0.22           0.10            (0.24)          0.15  
 
Year Ended December 31, 1999 
   Operating revenue                       $161,266       $176,439       $180,702         $189,805       $708,212  
   Income from operations                     9,359          9,316          6,538            6,314         31,527  
   Income before income taxes                 6,194          6,212          3,433            3,300         19,139  
   Net income                                 3,717          3,727          2,058            1,879         11,381  
   Earnings per share - basic                  0.25           0.25           0.14             0.13            .77  
   Earnings per share - diluted                0.25           0.25           0.14             0.13            .77  



PART III  

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT  

The section entitled "Nominees for Directorships" in the Proxy Statement of the registrant for the annual meeting of shareholders to be held 
May 8, 2001 is incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding the executive officers of the registrant is presented in Part I of this 
report.  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

The information set forth under the caption "Executive Compensation and Other Information" of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by 
reference.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT  

The information set forth under the caption "Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof" of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by 
reference.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS  

The information set forth under the caption "Election of Directors" and "Certain Transactions" of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by 
reference.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K  

(a) 1. Financial Statements:  
The financial statements are set forth in Part II, Item 8.  

2. Financial Statement Schedules:  
Report of Independent Public Accountants Schedule II - - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

3. Exhibits:  
See the Exhibit Index listing on Page 40 of this Form 10-K.  

(b) Reports on Form 8-K  

A Form 8-K was filed on July 17, 2000 with the Securities and Exchange Commission to report the completion of the acquisition of a 13% 
membership interest in Transplace.com.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS  

To U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc.:  

We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, the consolidated financial statements of U.S. 
XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC. (a Nevada corporation) AND SUBSIDIARIES included in this Form 10-K and have issued our report thereon 
dated February 5, 2001. Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole. Schedule II is 
the responsibility of the Company's management and is presented for purposes of complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission's 
rules and is not part of the basic consolidated financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly states in all material respects the financial data required to be set 
forth therein in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.  
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/s/ ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP 
 
 
 
 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 
February 5, 2001 



SCHEDULE II  
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED  
DECEMBER 31, 1998, 1999 AND 2000  

(In Thousands)  
 

 

(2) Accounts written off  
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                                        Balance at 
                                         Beginning      Charged to    Charged to                  Bala nce at End  
Description                              of Period     Cost/Expenses   Other (1)   Deductions(2)    of  Period 
-----------                             ----------     -------------  ----------   -----------    ---- ----------  
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 12/31/98 
  Reserve for doubtful accounts           $2,900           $  641       $2,219         $2,009           $3,751 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 12/31/99 
  Reserve for doubtful accounts           $3,751           $1,419       $  683         $2,598           $3,255 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 12/31/00 
  Reserve for doubtful accounts           $3,255           $4,500       $  204         $3,940           $4,019 
 
 
(1)  For the year ended 12/31/98 
       Recoveries on accounts written off                               $  168 
       Balance acquired through purchase of Victory                         252 
       Balance acquired through purchase of PST Van s                     1,799 
                                                                        ------ 
                                                                        $2,219 
                                                                        ====== 
 
   For the year ended 12/31/99 
     Recoveries on accounts written off                                 $  283 
     Final adjustment resulting from purchase of PS T Vans                  400 
                                                                        ------ 
                                                                        $  683 
                                                                        ====== 
   For the year ended 12/31/00 
     Recoveries on accounts written off                                 $  204 
                                                                        ====== 



(c) Exhibits  
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Exhibit No.             Description 
-----------             ----------- 
(1)    3.1              Restated Articles of Incorp oration of the Company. 
 
(1)    3.2              By-Laws of the Company. 
 
(1)    4.1              Restated Articles of Incorp oration of the Company filed as Exhibit 3.1 and inc orporated herein 
                        by reference. 
 
(1)    4.2              By-Laws of the Company file d as Exhibit 3.2 and incorporated herein by referen ce. 
 
(1)    4.3              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted June 10, 1993 by and among Max L. Fuller, Patri ck E. Quinn and 
                        the Company. 
 
(1)    4.4              Agreement of Right of First  Refusal with regard to Class B Shares of the Compa ny dated May 11, 
                        1994 by and between Max L. Fuller and Patrick E. Quinn. 
 
(1)   10.1              Accounts Financing Agreemen t (Security Agreement) dated February 2, 1988, as a mended, between 
                        Congress Financial Corp. (S outhern) and Southwest Motor Freight, Inc. 
 
(1)   10.2              Security Agreement dated De cember 18, 1985, as amended, by and between Exchang e National Bank 
                        of Chicago and U.S. Xpress,  Inc. 
 
(1)   10.3              Security Agreement dated Se ptember 17, 1987, as amended, by and between Exchan ge National Bank 
                        of Chicago and Crown Transp ort Systems, Inc. 
 
(1)   10.4              1993 Incentive Stock Plan o f the Company. 
 
(1)   10.5              Stock Option Agreement Unde r 1993 Incentive Stock Plan. 
 
(1)   10.6              Stock Rights and Restrictio ns Agreement for Restricted Stock Award Under 1993 Incentive Stock 
                        Plan. 
 
(1)   10.7              Self-Funded Employee Benefi ts Plan Document of the Company. 
 
(1)   10.8              Service Agreement dated May  2, 1994 by and between TTC, Illinois, Inc. and the  Company for the 
                        provision of leased personn el to the Company. 
 
(1)   10.9              Salary Continuation Agreeme nt dated June 10, 1993 by and between the Company a nd Max L. Fuller. 
 
(1)  10.10              Salary Continuation Agreeme nt dated June 10, 1993 by and between the Company a nd Patrick E. 
                        Quinn. 
 
(1)  10.11              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted November 28, 1990 by and between the Company an d Clyde Fuller for the 
                        acquisition by the Company of the capital stock of Southwest Motor Freight, In c. held by Mr. Fuller, such 
                        stock constituting all of t he issued and outstanding capital stock of Southwes t Motor Freight, Inc. 
 
(1)  10.12              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted September 30, 1992 by and between the Company a nd Clyde Fuller for the 
                        acquisition by the Company of the capital stock of Chattanooga Leasing, Inc. h eld by Mr. Fuller, such stock  
                        constituting all of the iss ued and outstanding capital stock of Chattanooga Le asing, Inc. 
 
(1)  10.13              Articles of Merger and Plan  of Merger filed February 24, 1993, pursuant to whi ch Chattanooga Leasing, Inc. 
                        was merged with and into So uthwest Motor Freight, Inc. 
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Exhibit No.             Description 
-----------             ----------- 
(1)  10.14              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted January 1, 1993 by and among Max L. Fuller, Pat rick E. Quinn and the Company 
                        for the acquisition by the Company of the capital stock of U.S. Xpress, Inc. h eld by Messrs. Fuller and 
                        Quinn, such stock constitut ing all of the issued and outstanding capital stock  of U.S. Xpress, Inc. 
 
(1)  10.15              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted January 1, 1993 by and among Max L. Fuller, Pat rick E. Quinn and the Company 
                        for the acquisition by the Company of the capital stock of U.S. Xpress Leasing , Inc. held by Messrs. Fuller 
                        and Quinn, such stock const ituting all of the issued and outstanding capital s tock of U.S. Xpress Leasing, 
                        Inc. 
 
(1)  10.16              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted March 10, 1994 by and between the Company and L .D. Miller, III for the 
                        acquisition by the Company of the capital stock of Crown Transport Systems, In c. held by Mr. Miller, such 
                        stock constituting 40% of t he issued and outstanding capital stock of Crown Tr ansport Systems, Inc. 
 
(1)  10.17              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted March 17, 1994 by and between the Company, Patr ick E. Quinn and Max L. Fuller  
                        for the acquisition by the Company of the capital stock of Crown Transport Sys tems, Inc. held by Messrs. 
                        Quinn and Fuller, such stoc k constituting 60% of the issued and outstanding ca pital stock of Crown Transport  
                        Systems, Inc. 
 
(1)  10.18              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted March 18, 1994 by and between the Company and K en Adams for the acquisition 
                        by the Company of 50% of th e capital stock of Hall Systems, Inc. held by Mr. A dams and the grant of an 
                        option to the Company to pu rchase the remaining 50% of the capital stock of Ha ll Systems, Inc. from Mr. 
                        Adams, exercisable beginnin g April 1, 1997. 
 
(2)  10.19              Software Acquisition Agreem ent dated September 15, 1994 by and among Qualcomm Incorporated, Xpress Data 
                        Services, Inc., U.S. Xpress  Enterprises, Inc., Patrick E. Quinn, Max L. Fuller , Information Management 
                        Solutions, Inc. and James C oppinger. 
 
(3)  10.20              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted October 31, 1994 by and between the Company and  Ken Frohlich for the 
                        acquisition by the Company of the capital stock of National Freight Systems, I nc. held by Mr. Frohlich, such  
                        stock constituting all of t he issued and outstanding capital stock of National  Freight Systems, Inc. 
 
(4)  10.21              Asset Purchase Agreement wi th respect to acquisition of CSI/Reeves, Inc. 
 
(5)  10.22              Stock Purchase Agreement wi th respect to Hall Systems, Inc. 
 
(5)  10.23              Credit Agreement with Natio nsBank. 
 
(6)  10.24              Amendment No. 1 to Credit A greement with NationsBank. 
 
(7)  10.25              Asset Purchase Agreement da ted June 18, 1996 with respect to acquisition of Mi chael Lima 
                        Transportation, Inc. 
 
(7)  10.26              Asset Purchase Agreement da ted April 1, 1997 with respect to acquisition of as sets from 
                        Rosedale Transport, Inc. an d Rosedale Transport, Ltd. 
 
(7)  10.27              Asset Purchase Agreement da ted April 25, 1997 with respect to acquisition of J TI, Inc. 
 
(8)  10.28              Loan and Security Agreement  dated June 24, 1997 by and between Wachovia Bank, N.A. and U.S. 
                        Xpress Leasing. 
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Exhibit No.             Description 
-----------             ----------- 
(9)  10.29              Stock Purchase Agreement da ted as of December 24, 1997 by and between U.S. Xpr ess Enterprises, Inc. and 
                        Richard H. Schaffer, Richar d H. Schaffer Irrevocable Trust dated December 24, 1991 and Richard H. Schaffer 
                        Irrevocable Non-Withdrawal Trust dated December 24, 1991. 
 
(9)  10.30              Credit Agreement dated as o f January 15, 1998 among U.S. Xpress Enterprises, I nc., Wachovia Bank, N.A., 
                        NationsBank, N.A., BankBost on, N.A., SunTrust Bank, Chattanooga, N.A. and the banks listed therein. 
 
(10) 10.31              Investment and Participatio n Agreement between U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc. a nd Wachovia 
                        Capital Markets, Inc. 
 
(10) 10.32              Acquisition, Agency, Indemn ity and Support Agreement between U.S. Xpress Enter prises, Inc. and 
                        Wachovia Capital Markets, I nc. 
 
(10) 10.33              Lease Agreement between U.S . Xpress Enterprises, Inc. and Wachovia Capital Mar kets, Inc. 
 
(11) 10.34              Agreement and Plan of Merge r dated as of July 7, 1998 among U.S. Xpress Enterp rises, Inc., PST 
                        Acquisition Corp. and PST V ans, Inc. 
 
(12) 10.35              First Amendment to Credit A greement dated as of January 15, 1998 among U.S. Xp ress Enterprises, Inc., 
                        Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nation sBank, N.A., BankBoston, N.A., SunTrust Bank, Chatt anooga, N.A. and the banks 
                        listed therein. 
 
(12) 10.36              Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of January 15, 1998 among U.S. X press Enterprises, Inc., 
                        Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nation sBank, N.A., BankBoston, N.A., SunTrust Bank, Chatt anooga, N.A. and the banks 
                        listed therein. 
 
(12) 10.37              Third Amendment to Credit A greement dated as of January 15, 1998 among U.S. Xp ress Enterprises, Inc., 
                        Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nation sBank, N.A., BankBoston, N.A., SunTrust Bank, Chatt anooga, N.A. and the banks 
                        listed therein. 
 
(12) 10.38              Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of January 15, 1998 among U.S. X press Enterprises, Inc., 
                        Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nation sBank, N.A., BankBoston, N.A., SunTrust Bank, Chatt anooga, N.A. and the banks 
                        listed therein. 
 
(13) 10.39              First Amendment to the Inve stment and Participation Agreement dated as of Nove mber 12, 1999, among U.S. 
                        Xpress Enterprises, Inc. an d Wachovia Capital Investments, Inc. 
 
(13) 10.40              Second Amendment to the Inv estment and Participation Agreement dated as of Mar ch 30, 2000, among U.S. Xpress  
                        Enterprises, Inc. and Wacho via Capital Investments, Inc. 
 
(13) 10.41              Third Amendment to the Inve stment and Participation Agreement dated as of June  13, 2000, among U.S. Xpress 
                        Enterprises, Inc. and Wacho via Capital Investments, Inc. 
 
(13) 10.42              U.S. Xpress Enterprises Emp loyment Agreement with Cort J. Dondero dated as of June 13, 2000 by and between 
                        U.S. Xpress Enterprises, In c. and Cort J. Dondero. 
 
(13) 10.43              Initial Subscription Agreem ent of Transplace.com, LLC, entered into as of Apri l 19, 2000 by Transplace.com, 
                        LLC, a Nevada Limited Liabi lity Company, and Covenant Transport, Inc., J.B. Hu nt Transport Services, Inc., 
                        M.S. Carriers, Inc., Swift Transportation Co., Inc., U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc., and Werner Enterprises, 
                        Inc. 



 
42  
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     -------------------                          ----------------------- 
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----------------------------      President and Tre asurer 
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----------------------------       Vice President a nd Secretary 
  Max L. Fuller 
 
 
/s/ Ray M. Harlin                Director, Executiv e Vice President      April 2, 2001  
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  Ray M. Harlin                    Officer (princip al financial and 
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AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT  

AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of January 31, 2001 among U.S. XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC., the 
BANKS listed on the signature pages hereof, WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as 
Syndication Agent, FLEET NATIONAL BANK, as Documentation Agent, and SUNTRUST BANK, as Co-Agent.  

This Amended and Restated Credit Agreement is an amendment and restatement of the Credit Agreement by and among the Borrower, 
WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (formerly known as NationsBank, N.A.), as Syndication 
Agent, FLEET NATIONAL BANK (formerly known as BankBoston, N.A.), as Documentation Agent, and SUNTRUST BANK (formerly 
known as SunTrust Bank, Chattanooga, N.A.), as Co-Agent, dated as of January 15, 1998, as amended by First Amendment to Credit 
Agreement dated as of August 11, 1998, Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of August 28, 1998, Third Amendment to Credit 
Agreement dated as of February 22, 2000 and Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2000 (collectively, the "Original 
Agreement"), which is superseded hereby.  

The parties hereto agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I  

DEFINITIONS  

SECTION 1.01. Definitions. The terms as defined in this Section 1.01 shall, for all purposes of this Agreement and any amendment hereto 
(except as herein otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires), have the meanings set forth herein:  

"Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate" has the meaning set forth in  
Section 2.05(c).  

"Affiliate" of any relevant Person means (i) any Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls the relevant 
Person (a "Controlling Person"), (ii) any Person (other than the relevant Person or a Subsidiary of the relevant Person) which is controlled by or 
is under common control with a Controlling Person, or (iii) any Person (other than a Subsidiary of the relevant Person) of which the relevant 
Person owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the common stock or equivalent equity interests. As used herein, the term "control" means 
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the 
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  

"Administrative Agent" means Wachovia Bank, N.A., a national banking association organized under the laws of the United States of America, 
in its capacity as  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  

1  



Administrative Agent for the Banks hereunder, which term shall also include Wachovia Bank, N.A., in its capacity as Collateral Agent for the 
Secured Parties, so long as it serves in such capacity, and its successors and permitted assigns in such capacities.  

"Agreement" means this Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, together with all amendments and supplements hereto.  

"Applicable Margin" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(a).  

"Arranger" means Wachovia Securities, Inc.  

"Arranger's Letter Agreement" means that certain letter agreement, dated as of January 12, 2001 between the Borrower, the Arranger and the 
Administrative Agent relating to the structure of the Loans, and certain fees from time to time payable by the Borrower to the Arranger and the 
Administrative Agent, together with all amendments and supplements thereto.  

"Asset Disposition" means any disposition, whether by sale, lease, assignment or other transfer of any of the assets of the Borrower or its 
Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, pursuant to any Sale-Leaseback Transaction, but excluding sales of inventory in the ordinary course 
of business.  

"Assignee" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.08(c).  

"Assignment and Acceptance" means an Assignment and Acceptance executed in accordance with Section 10.08(c) in the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit D.  

"Authority" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.02.  

"Bank" means each bank listed on the signature pages hereof as having a Commitment, and its successors and assigns.  

"Bank Financial Consultant" means a financial consultant to advise the Administrative Agent and the Banks with respect to any matters 
pertaining to the Borrower, its Subsidiaries, its property and assets, its operations, its financial performance, or any other matter related to the 
credit facility described herein.  

"Base Rate" means for any Base Rate Loan for any day, the rate per annum equal to the higher as of such day of (i) the Prime Rate, or (ii) one-
half of one percent above the Federal Funds Rate. For purposes of determining the Base Rate for any day, changes in the Prime Rate or the 
Federal Funds Rate shall be effective on the date of each such change.  

"Base Rate Loan" means a Loan which bears or is to bear interest at a rate based upon the Base Rate, and is to be made as a Base Rate Loan 
pursuant to the applicable Notice of Borrowing, Section 2.02(f), or Article VIII, as applicable.  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  
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"Borrower" means U. S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and its successors and its permitted assigns.  

"Borrowing" means a borrowing hereunder consisting of Loans made to the Borrower, in the case of a Syndicated Borrowing, (i) at the same 
time by all of the Banks or (ii) by Wachovia, for Swing Loans. A Borrowing is a "Base Rate Borrowing" if such Loans are Base Rate Loans or 
a "Euro-Dollar Borrowing" if such Loans are Euro-Dollar Loans. A Borrowing is a "Syndicated Borrowing" if such Loans are made pursuant to 
Section 2.0, or a "Swing Loan Borrowing" if such Loan is made pursuant to Section 2.01(b).  

"Borrowing Base" means, as of the last day of any Fiscal Month, an amount equal to the sum of (i) 85% of all Eligible Receivables as of such 
date of determination plus (ii) 80% of Eligible Revenue Equipment as of such date of determination.  

"Borrowing Base Certificate" means a certificate, duly executed by the chief financial officer, chief accounting officer or treasurer of the 
Borrower, appropriately completed and substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto.  

"Capital Lease" means any lease or rental of real or personal property which, under GAAP, is or will be required to be capitalized on the 
balance sheet of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, taken at the amount thereof accounted for as indebtedness (net of interest expense) in 
accordance with such principles.  

"Capital Stock" means any nonredeemable capital stock of the Borrower or any Consolidated Subsidiary (to the extent issued to a Person other 
than the Borrower), whether common or preferred.  

"CERCLA" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. (S) 9601 et. seq. and its 
implementing regulations and amendments.  

"CERCLIS" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Inventory System established pursuant to 
CERCLA.  

"Change of Law" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.02.  

"Closing Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(f).  

"Closing Date" means January 31, 2001.  

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor Federal tax code.  

"Collateral" means (i) the Pledged Stock, (ii) all of the personal property described in the Security Agreement, and (iii) all of the Designated 
Real Property.  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  
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"Collateral Agent" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.11.  

"Co-Collateral Agent" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.11(h). References to the Collateral Agent shall include the Co-Collateral Agent, 
unless the context otherwise requires.  

"Commitment" means, with respect to each Bank, (i) the amount set forth opposite the name of such Bank on the schedule below, and (ii) as to 
any Bank which enters into any Assignment and Acceptance (whether as transferor Bank or as Assignee thereunder), the amount of such 
Bank's Commitment after giving effect to such Assignment and Acceptance, in each case as such amount may be reduced from time to time 
pursuant to Sections 2.07 and 2.08, and "Commitment Share" means the percentage of the total Commitment set forth opposite the name of 
such Bank on the schedule below, as such percentage may be adjusted from time to time pursuant to Section 10.08(c):  

 

"Commitment Reduction Date" means June 30, 2001.  

"Compliance Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01(c).  

"Consolidated Current Assets" and "Consolidated Current Liabilities" mean, at any time, all assets or liabilities, respectively, of the Borrower 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries that, in accordance with GAAP, should be classified as current assets or current liabilities, respectively, on a 
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries.  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  
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Bank                                       Commitme nt                Commitment Share  
----                                       -------- --                ----------------  
Bank of America, N.A.                     $ 48,375, 000                    21.50% 
 
AmSouth Bank                              $ 37,687, 500                    16.75% 
 
Wachovia Bank, N.A.                       $ 33,750, 000                    15.00% 
 
SunTrust Bank                             $ 30,937, 500                    13.75% 
 
Fleet National Bank                       $ 30,937, 500                    13.75% 
 
The Chase Manhattan Bank                  $ 17,437, 500                     7.75% 
 
LaSalle Bank National Association         $ 17,437, 500                     7.75% 
 
First Tennessee Bank, N.A.                $  8,437, 500                     3.75% 
 
TOTAL COMMITMENT                          $225,000, 000                      100% 



"Consolidated Debt" means at any date the Debt of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis as of 
such date.  

"Consolidated EBILT" means the sum of the following, calculated on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP for the Borrower and the 
Consolidated Subsidiaries, for the Fiscal Quarter just ended and the 3 immediately preceding Fiscal Quarters: (i) Consolidated Net Income; 
plus (ii) income tax expenses included in Consolidated Net Income; plus (iii) all payment obligations of the Borrower and the Consolidated 
Subsidiaries under all operating leases and operating rental agreements (other than between or among the Borrower and the Consolidated 
Subsidiaries), specifically including payment obligations of the Borrower under the Synthetic Lease Documents; plus (iv) Consolidated Interest 
Expense; plus (v) in each relevant Fiscal Quarter, a $2,000,000 charge for bad debt expense taken in the fourth Fiscal Quarter of the Fiscal 
Year ending December 31, 2000.  

"Consolidated EBILTDA" means the sum of the following, calculated on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP for the Borrower and 
the Consolidated Subsidiaries, for the Fiscal Quarter just ended and the 3 immediately preceding Fiscal Quarters: (i) Consolidated Net Income; 
plus (ii) income tax expenses included in Consolidated Net Income; plus (iii) all payment obligations of the Borrower and the Consolidated 
Subsidiaries under all operating leases and operating rental agreements (other than between or among the Borrower and the Consolidated 
Subsidiaries), specifically including payment obligations of the Borrower under the Synthetic Lease Documents; plus (iv) Consolidated Interest 
Expense; plus (v) depreciation and amortization expense; plus (vi) in each relevant Fiscal Quarter, a $2,000,000 charge for bad debt expense 
taken in the fourth Fiscal Quarter of the Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2000.  

"Consolidated Fixed Charges" for any period means the sum of (i) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period, and (ii) all payment 
obligations of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period under all operating leases and rental agreements, specifically 
including payment obligations of the Borrower under the Synthetic Lease Documents.  

"Consolidated Interest Expense" for any period means interest, whether expensed or capitalized, in respect of Debt of the Borrower or any of its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries outstanding during such period.  

"Consolidated Liabilities" means the sum of (i) all liabilities that, in accordance with GAAP, should be classified as liabilities on a consolidated 
balance sheet of Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, and (ii) to the extent not included in clause (i) of this definition, all Redeemable 
Preferred Stock.  

"Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period, the Net Income of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries determined on a 
consolidated basis, but excluding (i)  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  
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extraordinary items and (ii) any equity interests of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in the unremitted earnings of any Person that is not a 
Subsidiary.  

"Consolidated Net Worth" means, at any time, the shareholders' equity of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, as set forth or 
reflected on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with GAAP, 
but excluding any Redeemable Preferred Stock of the Borrower or any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries. Shareholders' equity generally would 
include, but not be limited to (i) the par or stated value of all outstanding Capital Stock, (ii) capital surplus, (iii) retained earnings, and (iv) 
various deductions such as (A) purchases of treasury stock, (B) valuation allowances, (C) receivables due from an employee stock ownership 
plan, (D) employee stock ownership plan debt guarantees, and (E) translation adjustments for foreign currency transactions.  

"Consolidated Operating Profits" means, for any period, the Operating Profits of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries.  

"Consolidated Subsidiary" means at any date any Subsidiary or other entity the accounts of which, in accordance with GAAP, would be 
consolidated with those of the Borrower in its consolidated financial statements as of such date.  

"Consolidated Total Adjusted Debt" means, at any time, all Consolidated Debt, plus all amounts outstanding under the Synthetic Lease 
Documents, plus an amount equal to the present value (using a discount rate of 10%) of all other operating leases of the Borrower and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries, less any obligations of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries with respect to interest rate protection 
agreements, foreign currency exchange agreements or other hedging arrangements (valued as the termination value thereof computed in 
accordance with a method approved by the International Swap Dealers Association and agreed to by such Person in the applicable hedging 
agreement, if any).  

"Consolidated Total Assets" means, at any time, the total assets of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, determined on a 
consolidated basis, as set forth or reflected on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, 
prepared in accordance with GAAP.  

"Contribution Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Contribution Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit L, to be executed by 
the Borrower, and all of the Borrower's Subsidiaries.  

"Controlled Group" means all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under 
common control which, together with the Borrower, are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.  
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"Debt" of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations of such 
Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase 
price of property or services, except trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business, (iv) all obligations of such Person as 
lessee under Capital Leases,  
(v) all obligations of such Person to reimburse any bank or other Person in respect of amounts payable under a banker's acceptance, (vi) all 
Redeemable Preferred Stock of such Person (in the event such Person is a corporation),  
(vii) all obligations of such Person to reimburse any bank or other Person in respect of amounts paid or to be paid or to be paid under a letter of 
credit or similar instrument, (viii) all Debt of others secured by a Lien on any asset of such Person, whether or not such Debt is assumed by 
such Person, (ix) all obligations of such Person with respect to interest rate protection agreements, foreign currency exchange agreements or 
other hedging arrangements (valued as the termination value thereof computed in accordance with a method approved by the International 
Swap Dealers Association and agreed to by such Person in the applicable hedging agreement, if any) and (x) all Debt of others Guaranteed by 
such Person, and, as to the Borrower, shall also include all obligations under the Synthetic Lease Documents.  

"Default" means any condition or event which constitutes an Event of Default or which with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both 
would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.  

"Default Rate" means, with respect to any Loan, on any day, the sum of 2% plus the then highest interest rate (including the Applicable 
Margin) which may be applicable to any Loans hereunder (irrespective of whether any such type of Loans are actually outstanding hereunder).  

"Depreciation" means for any period the sum of all depreciation expenses of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period, as 
determined in accordance with GAAP.  

"Designated Real Property" means Real Property as to which the Administrative Agent has required, either by so designating on Schedule 6.27 
(as amended or supplemented from time to time) or as the Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Required Banks) may after the 
Closing Date so designate by written notice to the Borrower, that a Mortgage be executed and delivered and Real Property Documentation 
obtained, including as to each such Real Property the land on which it is located and the buildings, fixtures and other improvements located 
thereon.  

"Dividends" means for any period the sum of all dividends and other distributions paid or declared during such period in respect of any Capital 
Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock (other than dividends paid or payable in the form of additional Capital Stock).  

"Dollars" or "$" means dollars in lawful currency of the United States of America.  
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"Domestic Business Day" means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in Georgia are authorized by law 
to close.  

"Eligible Account Debtor" means, as at any date of determination thereof, any account debtor other than:  

(a) the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates; and  

(b) any account debtor that is the subject of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding of any kind other than any such account debtor which has 
been approved by the Required Banks.  

"Eligible Receivables" means, at any date of determination thereof, the aggregate of all Receivables at such date due to the Borrower or one of 
its Subsidiaries other than the following (determined without duplication):  

(i) any Receivable due from an account debtor which to the Borrower's knowledge is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the 
United States of America or Canada unless such Receivable is supported by a letter of credit (including standby letters of credit) or a bank 
guaranty in an amount equal to the amount of such Receivable issued by a financial institution satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and 
containing terms and provisions satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;  

(ii) any Receivable that does not comply with all applicable legal requirements, including, without limitation, all laws, rules, regulations and 
orders of any governmental or judicial authority having jurisdiction with respect thereto;  

(iii) any Receivable that remains unpaid for more than 90 days from the original invoice date specified at the time of the original issuance of 
the invoice therefor;  

(iv) any and all of Receivables due from any single customer (and any and all of such customer's Affiliates, taken in the aggregate) of Borrower 
or any of its Subsidiaries, in the event more than fifty percent (50%) of the Receivables due from such customer and all of its Affiliates, in the 
aggregate, remain unpaid for more than 90 days from the original invoice date specified at the time of the original issuance of the invoice 
therefor;  

(v) any Receivable arising outside the ordinary course of business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, but not excluding from "Eligible 
Receivables" Receivables arising from the sale of any Revenue Equipment (whether or not in connection with the Revenue Equipment Sale and 
Replacement Program or any Off-Lease Resale Arrangement) in the ordinary course of business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, 
provided, however that if any such sale of Revenue Equipment is to Person that is also a creditor of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, then 
the amount of  
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Receivables in respect of such sale which shall be deemed to be "Eligible Receivables" shall be offset and reduced by the amount of the 
obligation owed by Borrower and any of its Subsidiaries to such creditor/purchaser;  

(vi) any Receivable the terms of payment of which have been extended or rewritten (other than to correct a manifest administrative error) in a 
manner more favorable to such account debtor after the time of the original issuance of the invoice therefor;  

(vii) any Receivable due from an account debtor that is not an Eligible Account Debtor;  

(viii) any Receivable subject to a Lien to any Person other than a Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent;  

(ix) any Receivable which fails to represent a bona fide transaction or with respect to which further acts (other than the completion of the 
shipment or delivery process) are required on the part of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, as appropriate, to make such Receivable 
payable; and  

(x) any Receivable the goods giving rise to which were subject at the time of sale, to a Lien to any person other than a Lien in favor of the 
Administrative Agent.  

"Eligible Revenue Equipment" means, as at any date of determination thereof, the recorded book value at such date of all Revenue Equipment 
owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and located in any jurisdiction in the United States of America excluding in any event any 
Revenue Equipment subject to a Lien to any Person other than a Lien in favor of the Collateral Agent.  

"Enforcement Costs", if and to the extent defined in any of the Security Documents, has the meaning set forth therein.  

"Environmental Authority" means any foreign, federal, state, local or regional government that exercises any form of jurisdiction or authority 
under any Environmental Requirement.  

"Environmental Authorizations" means all licenses, permits, orders, approvals, notices, registrations or other legal prerequisites for conducting 
the business of the Borrower or any Subsidiary required by any Environmental Requirement.  

"Environmental Judgments and Orders" means all judgments, decrees or orders arising from or in any way associated with any Environmental 
Requirements, whether or not entered upon consent, or written agreements with an Environmental Authority or other entity  
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arising from or in any way associated with any Environmental Requirement, whether or not incorporated in a judgment, decree or order.  

"Environmental Liabilities" means any liabilities, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise, arising from and in any way associated with any 
Environmental Requirements.  

"Environmental Notices" means notice from any Environmental Authority or by any other person or entity, of possible or alleged 
noncompliance with or liability under any Environmental Requirement, including without limitation any complaints, citations, demands or 
requests from any Environmental Authority or from any other person or entity for correction of any violation of any Environmental 
Requirement or any investigations concerning any violation of any Environmental Requirement.  

"Environmental Proceedings" means any judicial or administrative proceedings arising from or in any way associated with any Environmental 
Requirement.  

"Environmental Releases" means releases as defined in CERCLA or under any applicable state or local environmental law or regulation.  

"Environmental Requirements" means any legal requirement relating to health, safety or the environment and applicable to the Borrower, any 
Subsidiary or the Properties, including but not limited to any such requirement under CERCLA or similar state legislation and all federal, state 
and local laws, ordinances, regulations, orders, writs, decrees and common law.  

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, or any successor law. Any reference to 
any provision of ERISA shall also be deemed to be a reference to any successor provision or provisions thereof.  

"Euro-Dollar Business Day" means any Domestic Business Day on which dealings in Dollar deposits are carried out in the London interbank 
market.  

"Euro-Dollar Loan" means a Loan which bears or is to bear interest at a rate based upon the Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate, and to be 
made as a Euro-Dollar Loan pursuant to the applicable Notice of Borrowing.  

"Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(c).  

"Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01.  

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%) equal to the 
weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds 
brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Domestic Business Day next succeeding such day, 
provided that (i) if the day for which such  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  

10  



rate is to be determined is not a Domestic Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next 
preceding Domestic Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Domestic Business Day, and (ii) if such rate is not so published for 
any day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate charged to the Administrative Agent on such day on such transactions, as 
determined by the Administrative Agent.  

"Fiscal Month" means any fiscal month of the Borrower.  

"Fiscal Quarter" means any fiscal quarter of the Borrower.  

"Fiscal Year" means any fiscal year of the Borrower.  

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with those which, in accordance with Section 1.02, are 
to be used in making the calculations for purposes of determining compliance with the terms of this Agreement.  

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Debt or other 
obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, 
of such Person (i) to secure, purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Debt or other obligation 
(whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to provide 
collateral security, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise) or (ii) entered into for the purpose of assuring in 
any other manner the obligee of such Debt or other obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof 
(in whole or in part), provided that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of 
business. The term "Guarantee" used as a verb has a corresponding meaning.  

"Guarantor" means (i) the Guarantors specified in the Guaranty Agreement on the Closing Date; and (ii) any Subsidiary which becomes a 
Guarantor thereafter pursuant to Section 6.26.  

"Guaranty Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Guaranty Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit J, guaranteeing the 
repayment in full of all obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Documents and executed and delivered by all of the Borrower's 
Subsidiaries.  

"Hazardous Materials" includes, without limitation, (a) solid or hazardous waste, as defined in the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 
1980, 42 U.S.C. (S) 6901 et seq. and its implementing regulations and amendments, or in any applicable state or local law or regulation, (b) 
"hazardous substance", "pollutant", or "contaminant" as defined in CERCLA, or in any applicable state or local law or regulation, (c) gasoline, 
or any other petroleum product or  
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by-product, including, crude oil or any fraction thereof, (d) toxic substances, as defined in the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, or in any 
applicable state or local law or regulation and (e) insecticides, fungicides, or rodenticides, as defined in the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and 
Rodenticide Act of 1975, or in any applicable state or local law or regulation, as each such Act, statute or regulation may be amended from 
time to time.  

"Hazardous Materials Indemnity Agreement" means any one, or more, or all, as the context shall require, of a Hazardous Materials Indemnity 
Agreement relating to Designated Real Property described therein. Exhibit P is a form of Hazardous Materials Indemnity Agreement for use, 
and any Hazardous Materials Indemnity Agreement shall be modified as appropriate to reflect the applicable law of such different state, as 
applicable.  

"Hedge Obligations" means all obligations of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to any Bank or Affiliate thereof with respect to interest rate 
protection agreements, foreign currency exchange agreements or other hedging arrangements with such Bank or Affiliate thereof (valued at the 
termination value thereof computed in accordance with a method approved by the International Swap Dealers Association and agreed to by the 
Borrower or such Subsidiary in the applicable hedging agreement, if any, and in any case net of any benefits of the Borrower or such 
Subsidiary).  

"Hedge Provider" means any Bank or Affiliate thereof providing any Hedge Obligations.  

"Hedging Agreements" means the interest rate protection agreements, foreign currency exchange agreements or other hedging arrangements 
giving rise to the Hedge Obligations.  

"Interest Period" means: (1) with respect to each Euro-Dollar Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on 
the numerically corresponding day in the first, second, third or sixth month thereafter, as the Borrower may elect in the applicable Notice of 
Borrowing; provided that:  

(a) any Interest Period (subject to paragraph (c) below) which would otherwise end on a day which is not a Euro-Dollar Business Day shall be 
extended to the next succeeding Euro-Dollar Business Day unless such Euro- Dollar Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which 
case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Euro-Dollar Business Day;  

(b) any Interest Period which begins on the last Euro-Dollar Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically 
corresponding day in the appropriate subsequent calendar month) shall, subject to paragraph (c) below, end on the last Euro-Dollar Business 
Day of the appropriate subsequent calendar month; and  
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(c) no Interest Period may be selected which begins before the Termination Date and would otherwise end after the Termination Date.  

(2) with respect to each Base Rate Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending 30 days thereafter; provided 
that:  

(a) any Interest Period (subject to paragraph (b) below) which would otherwise end on a day which is not a Domestic Business Day shall be 
extended to the next succeeding Domestic Business Day; and  

(b) any Interest Period which would otherwise end after the Termination Date shall end on the Termination Date.  

"Investment" means any investment in any Person, whether by means of purchase or acquisition of obligations or securities of such Person, 
capital contribution to such Person, loan or advance to such Person, making of a time deposit with such Person, Guarantee or assumption of 
any obligation of such Person or otherwise.  

"Investment Agreement" means the Investment and Participation Agreement between the Borrower and Wachovia Capital Markets, Inc., 
pursuant to which the Borrower has financed (through a tax ownership operating lease arrangement) the acquisition and construction of its 
corporate headquarters facility in Chattanooga, Tennessee.  

"Junior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations" has the meaning set forth in clause (ii) of the definition of Secured Obligations.  

"Lending Office" means, as to each Bank, its office located at its address set forth on the signature pages hereof (or identified on the signature 
pages hereof as its Lending Office) or such other office as such Bank may hereafter designate as its Lending Office by notice to the Borrower 
and the Administrative Agent.  

"Letter of Credit" shall mean a commercial letter of credit issued by the Administrative Agent for the account of the Borrower pursuant to 
Article III.  

"Letter of Credit Fee" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in  
Section 3.08.  

"Letter of Credit Obligations" shall mean, at any particular time, the sum of (a) the Reimbursement Obligations at such time, (b) the aggregate 
maximum amount available for drawing under the Letters of Credit at such time and (c) the aggregate maximum amount available for drawing 
under Letters of Credit the issuance of which has been authorized by the Administrative Agent but which have not yet been issued.  

"Letter of Credit Application Agreement" shall mean, with respect to a Letter of Credit, such form of application therefor (whether in a single 
or several documents) as the  
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Administrative Agent may employ in the ordinary course of business for its own account, whether or not providing for collateral security, with 
such modifications thereto as may be agreed upon by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower and are not materially adverse to the interests 
of the Banks; provided, however, that in the event of any conflict between the terms of any Letter of Credit Application Agreement and this 
Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall control.  

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, deed to secure debt, deed of trust, lien, pledge, charge, security interest, security title, 
preferential arrangement which has the practical effect of constituting a security interest or encumbrance, or encumbrance or servitude of any 
kind in respect of such asset to secure or assure payment of a Debt or a Guarantee, whether by consensual agreement or by operation of statute 
or other law, or by any agreement, contingent or otherwise, to provide any of the foregoing. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Borrower 
or any Subsidiary shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien any asset which it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor 
under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title retention agreement relating to such asset.  

"Loan" means a Base Rate Loan, Euro-Dollar Loan, Syndicated Loan or Swing Loan, and "Loans" means Base Rate Loans, Euro-Dollar Loans, 
Syndicated Loans, Swing Loans, or any or all of them, as the context shall require.  

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, the Guaranty Agreement, the Contribution Agreement, the Security Documents, any 
other document evidencing, relating to or securing the Loans or the Letters of Credit, and any other document or instrument delivered from 
time to time in connection with this Agreement, the Notes, the Loans, the Letters of Credit or the Collateral, as such documents and instruments 
may be amended or supplemented from time to time.  

"London Interbank Offered Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(c).  

"Margin Stock" means "margin stock" as defined in Regulations G, T, U or X.  

"Material Adverse Effect" means, with respect to any event, act, condition or occurrence of whatever nature (including any adverse 
determination in any litigation, arbitration, or governmental investigation or proceeding), whether singly or in conjunction with any other event 
or events, act or acts, condition or conditions, occurrence or occurrences, whether or not related, a material adverse change in, or a material 
adverse effect upon, any of (a) the financial condition, operations, business, properties or prospects of the Borrower and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent or the Banks under the Loan Documents, or the ability 
of the Borrower to perform its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party, as applicable, or (c) the legality, validity or 
enforceability of any Loan Document.  

"Moody's" means Moody's Investor Service, Inc.  
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"Mortgage" means any one, or more, or all, as the context shall require, of a mortgage, deed of trust, leasehold deed of trust, deed to secure 
debt, leasehold deed to secure debt, as applicable in the relevant state, conveying a first priority Lien on Designated Real Property described 
therein owned by the Borrower or such Guarantor (or its leasehold interests therein) to the Collateral Agent, for the equal and ratable benefit of 
the Secured Parties (except that the benefit of the Liens of the Collateral Agent in all of the Collateral as to the Junior Synthetic Lease Secured 
Obligations is junior and subordinate to the benefit of such Liens as to the other Secured Obligations) subject only to the Permitted 
Encumbrances applicable thereto, as security for payment of the Secured Obligations, as any of the foregoing may be amended or 
supplemented from time to time, subject, as to any leasehold property, to obtaining any necessary landlord consent, as contemplated in Section  
6.27(b)(ii). Attached as Exhibit M is a form of Mortgage which is a Deed of Trust and Uniform Commercial Code Security Agreement and 
Assignment of Leases, Rents and Profits for use for a fee simple interest in the State of North Carolina, and any Mortgage of a leasehold 
interest and/or for a different state shall be substantially the same as Exhibit M as to representations and warranties, covenant and events of 
default, but modified as appropriate to reflect a leasehold interest and/or the applicable property law of such different state, as applicable.  

"Multiemployer Plan" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.  

"Net Income" means, as applied to any Person for any period, the aggregate amount of net income of such Person, after taxes, for such period, 
as determined in accordance with GAAP.  

"Net Cash Proceeds" means any one, or more, or all, as the context shall require, of Net Cash Proceeds of Asset Dispositions, Net Insurance 
Proceeds and Net Proceeds of Capital Stock.  

"Net Cash Proceeds of Asset Dispositions" means, in connection with any Asset Disposition, the proceeds thereof in the form of cash and cash 
equivalents (including any such proceeds received by way of deferred payment of principal pursuant to a note or installment receivable or 
purchase price adjustment receivable or otherwise, but only as and when received) of such Asset Disposition, after deducting therefrom, as 
applicable, (i) attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, investment banking fees, survey costs, title insurance premiums, and related search and 
recording charges, transfer taxes, deed or mortgage recording taxes, amounts required to be applied to the repayment of Debt secured by a Lien 
on any asset which is the subject of such Asset Disposition and other customary fees and expenses actually incurred in connection therewith 
and (ii) taxes paid or reasonably estimated by the Borrower or any Subsidiary to be payable as a result thereof (including withholding taxes 
incurred in connection with cross-border transactions, if applicable).  
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"Net Insurance Proceeds" means any proceeds received by the Borrower or a Subsidiary under any policy for casualty or business interruption 
insurance, after deducting therefrom all reasonable and customary costs and expenses incurred by the Borrower or such Subsidiary directly in 
connection with the obtaining or realization on such insurance.  

"Net Proceeds of Capital Stock" means any proceeds received by the Borrower or a Consolidated Subsidiary in respect of the issuance of 
Capital Stock, after deducting therefrom all reasonable and customary costs and expenses incurred by the Borrower or such Consolidated 
Subsidiary directly in connection with the issuance of such Capital Stock, including without limitation any underwriter's discounts and 
commissions.  

"Notes" means each of the Syndicated Loan Notes, the Swing Loan Note, or any or all of them, as the context shall require.  

"Notice of Borrowing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.  

"Officer's Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(g).  

"Off-Lease Purchase and Resale Arrangement" means any arrangement which the Borrower has with original equipment manufacturers of 
Revenue Equipment (each an "OEM") pursuant to which (i) the OEM has agreed that, when Revenue Equipment originally manufactured by 
such OEM is leased by the Borrower pursuant to an operating lease which contains a terminal rental adjustment clause (which leases with the 
Borrower permit the Borrower to purchase the Revenue Equipment within a specified period at the end of such term for a specified residual 
value), and is so purchased by the Borrower for such residual value, the OEM will purchase such Revenue Equipment from the Borrower for a 
price substantially equal to such residual value within a specified period following such purchase by the Borrower (the Borrower sometimes 
operating such Revenue Equipment for up to 4 months following such purchase and prior to resale to the OEM) and (ii) such Revenue 
Equipment is so purchased from the lessor thereof and resold to such OEM pursuant to such agreement.  

"Operating Profits" means, as applied to any Person for any period, the operating income of such Person for such period, as determined in 
accordance with GAAP.  

"Original Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.  

"Original Notes" means the Notes executed and delivered pursuant to the Original Agreement.  

"Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.08(b).  

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any entity succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA.  
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"Percentage Interest" with respect to a Secured Party, shall mean that percentage which is the equivalent of a fraction, the numerator of which 
is the then aggregate amount (including but not limited to principal, interest and premium, if any) outstanding of the Secured Obligations owing 
to such Secured Party (but limited, as to the Synthetic Lease Obligations, to the Senior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations), and the 
denominator of which is the total of the amounts described in the numerator for all Secured Parties.  

"Performance Pricing Determination Date" has the meaning set forth in  
Section 2.05(a).  

"Permitted Encumbrances" means, (i) as to the Collateral described in the Security Agreement, the encumbrances expressly permitted by the 
Security Agreement, and (ii) as to each Designated Real Property, the encumbrances expressly permitted by the Mortgage with respect to such 
Designated Real Property.  

"Person" means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an unincorporated association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including, 
but not limited to, a government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.  

"Personal Property Due Diligence Submission Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.27(c).  

"Plan" means at any time an employee pension benefit plan which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding 
standards under  
Section 412 of the Code and is either (i) maintained by a member of the Controlled Group for employees of any member of the Controlled 
Group or (ii) maintained pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or any other arrangement under which more than one employer makes 
contributions and to which a member of the Controlled Group is then making or accruing an obligation to make contributions or has within the 
preceding 5 plan years made contributions.  

"Pledged Stock" means all of the securities pledged from time to time to the Administrative Agent pursuant to the Stock Pledge Agreement.  

"Prime Rate" refers to that interest rate so denominated and set by Wachovia from time to time as an interest rate basis for borrowings. The 
Prime Rate is but one of several interest rate bases used by Wachovia. Wachovia lends at interest rates above and below the Prime Rate.  

"Properties" means all real property owned, leased or otherwise used or occupied by the Borrower or any Subsidiary, wherever located.  

"Real Property" means any owned real property having a cost or assessed value for ad valorem tax purposes of $100,000 or more, and any 
leased real property with annual aggregate base rental payments (meaning minimum periodic contractual rent, excluding  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  

17  



reimbursement recovery of common area maintenance or other common property operating expenses and excluding percentage rent) of 
$50,000 or more, of the Borrower or any Guarantor located in the United States of America and described in Schedule 6.27, as it may be 
supplemented from time to time pursuant to  
Section 6.27(b)(ii); provided, however, that none of the Synthetic Lease Property shall constitute Real Property for purposes hereof unless and 
until the Borrower purchases any such Synthetic Lease Property subject and pursuant to the Synthetic Lease Documents.  

"Real Property Documentation" means the instruments, documents and agreements executed and/or delivered by Borrower or any Guarantor to 
the Collateral Agent (if applicable) pursuant to Section 6.27(b) in connection with each Mortgage in order to convey to the Collateral Agent (or 
a trustee for the benefit of the Administrative Agent, as applicable under the applicable law) for the equal and ratable benefit of the Secured 
Parties (except that the benefit of the Liens of the Collateral Agent in all of the Collateral as to the Junior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations 
is junior and subordinate to the benefit of such Liens as to the other Secured Obligations), a first priority security interest in, lien on and 
security title (subject to Permitted Encumbrances) to the right, title and interest of the Borrower and each Guarantor in the Designated Real 
Property described therein, and other rights ancillary thereto, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, after 
consultation with the Borrower. The Real Property Documentation shall include, without limitation, the following as to each Designated Real 
Property and the land on which it is located:  

(i) an owner's/lessee's affidavit for each parcel or tract of such Designated Real Property;  

(ii) mortgagee title insurance binders and policies for each tract or parcel of such Designated Real Property;  

(iii) such consents, acknowledgments, intercreditor or attornment and subordination agreements as the Collateral Agent may require from any 
Third Parties with respect to any portion of such Designated Real Property;  

(iv) a current survey of each parcel or tract of such Designated Real Property;  

(v) a certificate as to the insurance required by the related Mortgage;  

(vi) a report of a licensed engineer detailing an environmental inspection of such Designated Real Property (which shall be a "Phase 1" report 
only unless either a "Phase 2" report is recommended in such Phase 1 report or the Collateral Agent determines in its reasonable judgment, 
based on such Phase 1 report, that a Phase 2 report should be obtained);  
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(vii) a Hazardous Materials Indemnity Agreement for such Plant or Designated Other Real Property;  

(viii) an appraisal of such Designated Real Property, prepared by an appraiser satisfactory to the Collateral Agent and engaged by and on behalf 
of the Collateral Agent and the Banks; and  

(ix) any revenue ruling or similar assurance from the department of revenue or taxation requested by the Collateral Agent with respect to any 
stamp, intangible or other taxes payable in connection with the filing for record of any of the Mortgages.  

"Receivable" means, as at any date of determination thereof, the unpaid portion of the obligation, as stated in the respective invoice, or, in the 
case of any such obligation of which no invoice has been issued, as certified in a Borrowing Base Certificate, of a customer of the Borrower or 
any of its Subsidiaries in respect of goods sold or services rendered in the ordinary course, in each case which amount has been earned by 
performance under the terms of the related contract and recognized as revenue on the books of the Borrower or such Subsidiary.  

"Recording Expenses" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.27(d).  

"Redeemable Preferred Stock" of any Person means any preferred stock issued by such Person which is at any time prior to the Termination 
Date either  
(i) mandatorily redeemable (by sinking fund or similar payments or otherwise) or  
(ii) redeemable at the option of the holder thereof.  

"Refunding Loan" means a new Syndicated Loan made on the day on which an outstanding Euro-Dollar Loan is maturing or a Base Rate 
Borrowing is being converted to a Euro-Dollar Borrowing, if and to the extent that the proceeds thereof are used entirely for the purpose of 
paying such maturing Loan or Loan being converted, excluding any difference between the amount of such maturing Loan or Loan being 
converted and any greater amount being borrowed on such day and actually either being made available to the Borrower pursuant to Section 
2.02(c) or remitted to the Administrative Agent as provided in Section 2.12, in each case as contemplated in Section 2.02(d).  

"Regulation T" means Regulation T of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as in effect from time to time, together with all 
official rulings and interpretations issued thereunder.  

"Regulation U" means Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as in effect from time to time, together with all 
official rulings and interpretations issued thereunder.  
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"Regulation X" means Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as in effect from time to time, together with all 
official rulings and interpretations issued thereunder.  

"Reimbursement Obligations" means the reimbursement or repayment obligations of the Borrower to the Administrative Agent pursuant to 
Section 3.05 with respect to Letters of Credit.  

"Reported Net Income" means, for any period, the Net Income of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated 
basis.  

"Required Banks" means at any time Banks having at least 66 2/3% of the aggregate amount of the Commitments or, if the Commitments are 
no longer in effect, Banks holding at least 66 2/3% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Syndicated Loans and the Letters of 
Credit; provided, however, that after payment in full of all of the Revolver Obligations and termination of all of the Commitments, if the 
Synthetic Lease Obligations and/or the Hedge Obligations have not been paid in full and all obligations of the Synthetic Lease Funding Parties 
under the Synthetic Lease Documents and of the Hedge Providers under the Hedging Agreements have not been terminated, all references to 
the term "Required Banks" in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be deemed to mean and refer to the holders of 66 2/3% of 
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Synthetic Lease Obligations and the Hedge Obligations.  

"Restricted Payment" means (i) any Dividend, or (ii) any payment on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement or acquisition of (a) any 
shares of the Borrower's Capital Stock (except shares acquired upon the conversion thereof into other shares of its Capital Stock) or (b) any 
option, warrant or other right to acquire shares of the Borrower's Capital Stock.  

"Revenue Equipment" means tractors and trailers used in the ordinary course of business and tagged and permitted to be used in the ordinary 
course of business.  

"Revenue Equipment Sale and Replacement Program" means the Borrower's program of selling and replacing Revenue Equipment during the 
2001 calendar year, which contemplates (i) selling up to 850 tractors and replacing 850 of them and (ii) selling up to 2400 trailers and replacing 
1200 of them (such program excluding and being in addition to the leasing of tractors pursuant to operating leases, including pursuant to Sale-
Leaseback Transactions).  

"Revolver Obligations" means all indebtedness, liabilities and obligations of the Borrower to the Administrative Agent and the Banks under 
this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents and of the Subsidiaries under the Guaranty Agreement, including, without limitation, 
all principal, interest, fees, costs and indemnification amounts, and any extensions and renewals thereof in whole or in part.  

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw- Hill, Inc.  
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"Sale-Leaseback Transaction" means any transaction pursuant to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary sells any Property or other asset to 
another Person and then leases back such Property or other asset from such other Person and the lessor obtains no interest in any assets of the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary, other than the Property or assets leased pursuant thereto.  

"Secured Parties" means (i) the Administrative Agent and the Banks, with respect to the Revolver Obligations, (ii) the Synthetic Lease Funding 
Parties, with respect to the Synthetic Lease Obligations, and (iii) the Hedge Providers, with respect to the Hedge Obligations.  

"Secured Obligations" means (i) the Revolver Obligations, (ii) all Synthetic Lease Obligations, limited, however, as to this clause (ii) to a 
maximum aggregate amount equal to $12,000,000, of which amount $8,750,000 shall be the "Senior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations", and 
$3,250,000 shall be the "Junior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations"); and (iii) all Hedge Obligations, limited, however, as to this clause (iii) 
to a maximum aggregate amount of $5,000,000; and (iv) all other Secured Obligations, including Enforcement Costs, described in any of the 
Security Documents.  

"Security Agreement" means the Security Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit O, to be executed and delivered by the Borrower and 
each Guarantor, granting to the Administrative Agent, for the equal and ratable benefit of the Secured Parties (except that the benefit of the 
Liens of the Collateral Agent in all of the Collateral as to the Junior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations is junior and subordinate to the 
benefit of such Liens as to the other Secured Obligations), a first priority security interest in the personal property described therein, subject 
only to Permitted Encumbrances, to secure the Secured Obligations, together with all amendments and supplements thereto.  

"Security Documents" means the Stock Pledge Agreement, the Security Agreement, the Mortgages and the Hazardous Materials Indemnity 
Agreements.  

"Senior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations" has the meaning set forth in clause (ii) of the definition of Secured Obligations.  

"Stock Pledge Agreement" means the Stock Pledge Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit N, and to be executed by the Borrower and 
each Guarantor owning Subsidiaries, agreeing to pledge to the Administrative Agent pursuant thereto, for the equal and ratable benefit of the 
Secured Parties (except that the benefit of the Liens of the Collateral Agent in all of the Collateral as to the Junior Synthetic Lease Secured 
Obligations is junior and subordinate to the benefit of such Liens as to the other Secured Obligations), all of the outstanding capital stock of all 
Subsidiaries, and all other securities held by them from time to time, to secure the payment of all of the Secured Obligations, as any of the 
foregoing may be amended or supplemented from time to time.  
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"Subsidiary" means any corporation or other entity of which securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting power to elect a 
majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions are at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Borrower.  

"Swing Loan" means a Loan made by Wachovia pursuant to Section 2.01(b), which must be a Base Rate Loan.  

"Swing Loan Note" means the promissory note of the Borrower, substantially in the form of Exhibit A-2, evidencing the obligation of the 
Borrower to repay the Swing Loans, together with all amendments, consolidations, modifications, renewals, and supplements thereto.  
 
"Syndicated Loan Notes" means the Syndicated Loan Notes of the Borrower, substantially in the form of Exhibit A-1, evidencing the 
obligation of the Borrower to repay Syndicated Loans, together with all amendments, consolidations, modifications, renewals and supplements 
thereto.  

"Syndicated Loans" means Base Rate Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans made pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in Section 2.01(a).  

"Synthetic Lease Documents" means the Investment Agreement, the "Lease" and the other "Operative Documents" (as those terms are defined 
in Schedule 1.02 to the Investment Agreement).  

"Synthetic Lease Funding Parties" means the "Lessor" and the "Lease Participants" (as those terms are defined in Schedule 1.02 to the 
Investment Agreement which is included in the Synthetic Lease Documents).  

"Synthetic Lease Obligations" means all indebtedness, liabilities and obligations of the Borrower as "Company", "Lessee" and 
"Acquisition/Construction Agent" (as those terms are defined in Schedule 1.02 to the Investment Agreement which is included in the Synthetic 
Lease Documents) to the Synthetic Lease Funding Parties pursuant to the Synthetic Lease Documents and of the Subsidiaries under the 
"Subsidiary Guaranty" (as defined in Schedule 1.02 to the Investment Agreement which is included in the Synthetic Lease Documents), 
including, without limitation, all "A Percentage Lessor Investments", "B Percentage Lessor Investments" "A Percentage Yield", "B Percentage 
Yield" and all other amounts (including, without limitation, fees, costs and indemnification amounts) payable under any of the "Operative 
Documents" (as those terms are defined in Schedule 1.02 to the Investment Agreement which is included in the Synthetic Lease Documents), 
and any extensions and renewals thereof in whole or in part.  

"Synthetic Lease Property" means the "Headquarters Facility" (as that term is defined in Section 11.22 of the Investment Agreement which is 
included in the Synthetic Lease Documents).  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  

22  



"Taxes" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(c).  

"Termination Date" means whichever is applicable of (i) January 14, 2002,(ii) the date the Commitments are terminated pursuant to Section 
7.01 following the occurrence of an Event of Default, or (iii) the date the Borrower terminates the Commitments entirely pursuant to Section 
2.08.  

"Third Parties" means all lessees, sublessees, licensees and other users of the Properties, excluding those users of the Properties in the ordinary 
course of the Borrower's business and on a temporary basis.  

"Transaction Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, the Security Documents, the other Loan Documents, the Synthetic Lease 
Documents and the Hedging Agreements.  

"Transferee" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.08(d).  

"Unfunded Vested Liabilities" means, with respect to any Plan at any time, the amount (if any) by which (i) the present value of all vested 
nonforfeitable benefits under such Plan exceeds (ii) the fair market value of all Plan assets allocable to such benefits, all determined as of the 
then most recent valuation date for such Plan, but only to the extent that such excess represents a potential liability of a member of the 
Controlled Group to the PBGC or the Plan under Title IV of ERISA.  

"Unused Commitment" means at any date, (a) with respect to all Banks, an amount equal to the aggregate Commitments less the sum of (i) the 
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Syndicated Loans (but not its Swing Loans) and (ii) the aggregate outstanding Letter of Credit 
Obligations, and (b) with respect to any Bank, an amount equal to the aggregate Unused Commitment determined in clause (a) above 
multiplied by such Bank's Commitment Share.  

"Wachovia" means Wachovia Bank, N.A., a national banking association, and its successors.  

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary all of the shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of which (except directors' 
qualifying shares) are at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Borrower.  

SECTION 1.02. Accounting Terms and Determinations. Unless otherwise specified herein, all terms of an accounting character used herein 
shall be interpreted, all accounting determinations hereunder shall be made, and all financial statements required to be delivered hereunder shall 
be prepared, in accordance with GAAP, applied on a basis consistent (except for changes concurred in by the Borrower's independent public 
accountants or otherwise required by a change in GAAP) with the most recent audited consolidated financial statements of  
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the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries delivered to the Banks unless with respect to any such change concurred in by the Borrower's 
independent public accountants or required by GAAP, in determining compliance with any of the provisions of this Agreement or any of the 
other Loan Documents: (i) the Borrower shall have objected to determining such compliance on such basis at the time of delivery of such 
financial statements, or (ii) the Required Banks shall so object in writing within 30 days after the delivery of such financial statements, in either 
of which events such calculations shall be made on a basis consistent with those used in the preparation of the latest financial statements as to 
which such objection shall not have been made (which, if objection is made in respect of the first financial statements delivered under Section 
6.01, shall mean the financial statements referred to in Section 5.04).  

SECTION 1.03. References. Unless otherwise indicated, references in this Agreement to "Articles", "Exhibits", "Schedules", "Sections" and 
other Subdivisions are references to articles, exhibits, schedules, sections and other subdivisions hereof.  
 
SECTION 1.04. Use of Defined Terms. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the same defined meanings when used in any of the 
other Loan Documents, unless otherwise defined therein or unless the context shall require otherwise.  
 
SECTION 1.05. Terminology. All personal pronouns used in this Agreement, whether used in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, shall 
include all other genders; the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular. Titles of Articles and Sections in this 
Agreement are for convenience only, and neither limit nor amplify the provisions of this Agreement.  

ARTICLE II  

THE REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY  

SECTION 2.01. Commitments to Lend Syndicated Loans and Swing Loans.  
 
(a) Syndicated Loans. Each Bank severally agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth herein, to make Syndicated Loans to the Borrower 
from time to time before the Termination Date; provided that, immediately after each such Syndicated Loan is made,  

(i) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Syndicated Loans (and Swing Loans, as to Wachovia) and Letter of Credit Obligations of 
such Bank shall not exceed the amount of its Commitment, and  

(ii) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Syndicated Loans and Swing Loans and all Letter of Credit Obligations shall not exceed 
the lesser of (A) the aggregate amount of the Commitments, and (B) the Borrowing Base.  
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Each Syndicated Borrowing which is a Euro-Dollar Borrowing under this Section shall be in an aggregate principal amount of $3,000,000 or 
any larger integral multiple of $1,000,000, and each Syndicated Borrowing which is a Base Rate Borrowing under this Section shall be in an 
aggregate principal amount of $3,000,000 or any larger integral multiple of $1,000,000 (except that any such Syndicated Borrowing may be in 
the aggregate amount of the Unused Commitments) and shall be made from the several Banks ratably in proportion to their respective 
Commitments. Within the foregoing limits, the Borrower may borrow under this Section, repay or, to the extent permitted by Section 2.09, 
prepay Syndicated Loans and reborrow under this Section at any time before the Termination Date.  

(b) Swing Loans. In addition to the foregoing, Wachovia shall from time to time, upon the request of the Borrower, if the applicable conditions 
precedent in Article III have been satisfied, make Swing Loans to the Borrower in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not 
exceeding $5,000,000; provided that, immediately after such Swing Loan is made, the conditions set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 2.01
(a) shall have been satisfied. Each Swing Loan Borrowing under this Section 2.01(b) shall be in an aggregate principal amount of $100,000 or 
any larger multiple of $25,000. Within the foregoing limits, the Borrower may borrow under this Section 2.01(b), prepay and reborrow under 
this Section 2.01(b) at any time before the Termination Date. Swing Loans shall not be considered a utilization of the Commitment of 
Wachovia or any other Bank hereunder. All Swing Loans shall be made as Base Rate Loans. At any time, upon the request of Wachovia, each 
Bank other than Wachovia shall, on the third Domestic Business Day after such request is made, purchase a participating interest in Swing 
Loans in an amount equal to its ratable share (based upon its respective Commitment) of such Swing Loans. On such third Domestic Business 
Day, each Bank will immediately transfer to Wachovia, in immediately available funds, the amount of its participation. Whenever, at any time 
after Wachovia has received from any such Bank its participating interest in a Swing Loan, the Administrative Agent receives any payment on 
account thereof, the Administrative Agent will distribute to such Bank its participating interest in such amount (appropriately adjusted, in the 
case of interest payments, to reflect the period of time during which such Bank's participating interest was outstanding and funded); provided, 
however, that in the event that such payment received by the Administrative Agent is required to be returned, such Bank will return to the 
Administrative Agent any portion thereof previously distributed by the Administrative Agent to it. Each Bank's obligation to purchase such 
participating interests shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including, without limitation: (i) any 
set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which such Bank or any other Person may have against Wachovia requesting such 
purchase or any other Person for any reason whatsoever; (ii) the occurrence or continuance of a Default or an Event of Default or the 
termination of the Commitments; (iii) any adverse change in the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower or any other Person; (iv) 
any breach of this Agreement by the Borrower or any other Bank; or (v) any other circumstance, happening or event whatsoever, whether or 
not similar to any of the foregoing.  
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SECTION 2.02. Method of Borrowing Syndicated Loans and Swing Loans.  

(a) The Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent notice (a "Notice of Borrowing"), which shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit E, 
prior to 11:00 A.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on the Domestic Business Day of each Base Rate Borrowing, and at least 3 Euro-Dollar Business 
Days before each Euro-Dollar Borrowing, specifying:  

(i) the date of such Borrowing, which shall be a Domestic Business Day in the case of a Base Rate Borrowing or a Euro-Dollar Business Day in 
the case of a Euro-Dollar Borrowing,  

(ii) the aggregate amount of such Borrowing,  

(iii) whether the Syndicated Loans comprising such Borrowing are to be Base Rate Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans, or stating that such Borrowing 
is to be a Swing Loan Borrowing, and  

(iv) in the case of a Euro-Dollar Borrowing, the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto, subject to the provisions of the definition of 
Interest Period; provided, that if the Commitment Reduction Date is scheduled to occur during the Interest Period so selected, and as a result 
thereof (but for this proviso) the Borrower shall become obligated to prepay or repay all or any portion of the Loans on such Commitment 
Reduction Date pursuant to Section 2.10, then a portion of such Euro-Dollar Borrowing which is equal to the amount of the Loans that would 
otherwise be so prepaid or repaid on such Commitment Reduction Date either (A) shall have applicable thereto an Interest Period or Interest 
Periods, as selected by the Borrower, ending on or before the Commitment Reduction Date corresponding in amount to such portion which 
would otherwise be prepaid or repaid, or (b) shall instead be made as a Base Rate Loan.  

(b) Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowing, the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and (unless such 
Borrowing is a Swing Loan Borrowing) of such Bank's ratable share of such Borrowing and such Notice of Borrowing, once received by the 
Administrative Agent, shall thereafter be irrevocable by the Borrower.  

(c) Not later than 1:00 P.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on the date of each Syndicated Borrowing, each Bank shall (except as provided in 
paragraph (d) of this Section) make available its ratable share of such Syndicated Borrowing, in Federal or other funds immediately available in 
Atlanta, Georgia, to the Administrative Agent at its address determined pursuant to Section 10.01. Unless the Administrative Agent determines 
that any applicable condition specified in Article IV has not been satisfied, the Administrative Agent will make the funds so received from the 
Banks available to the Borrower at the Administrative Agent's aforesaid address. Unless the Administrative Agent receives notice from a Bank, 
at the Administrative Agent's address referred to in or specified pursuant to Section 10.01 (i) no later than 4:00 P.M. (local time at such 
address) on the Domestic Business Day before the date of a  
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Euro-Dollar Borrowing or (ii) no later than 1:00 P.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on the date of a Base Rate Borrowing, stating that such Bank will 
not make a Syndicated Loan in connection with such Syndicated Borrowing, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to assume that such 
Bank will make a Syndicated Loan in connection with such Syndicated Borrowing and, in reliance on such assumption, the Administrative 
Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) make available such Bank's ratable share of such Syndicated Borrowing to the Borrower for the 
account of such Bank. If the Administrative Agent makes such Bank's ratable share available to the Borrower and such Bank does not in fact 
make its ratable share of such Syndicated Borrowing available on such date, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to recover such Bank's 
ratable share from such Bank or the Borrower (and for such purpose shall be entitled to charge such amount to any account of the Borrower 
maintained with the Administrative Agent), together with interest thereon for each day during the period from the date of such Syndicated 
Borrowing until such sum shall be paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the rate at which the Administrative Agent determines that it 
obtained (or could have obtained) overnight Federal funds to cover such amount for each such day during such period, provided that (i) any 
such payment by the Borrower of such Bank's ratable share and interest thereon shall be without prejudice to any rights that the Borrower may 
have against such Bank and (ii) until such Bank has paid its ratable share of such Syndicated Borrowing, together with interest pursuant to the 
foregoing, it will have no interest in or rights with respect to such Syndicated Borrowing for any purpose hereunder. If the Administrative 
Agent does not exercise its option to advance funds for the account of such Bank, it shall forthwith notify the Borrower of such decision. 
Unless the Administrative Agent determines that any applicable condition specified in Article IV has not been satisfied, Wachovia will make 
available to the Borrower at Wachovia's Lending Office the amount of any such Borrowing which is a Swing Loan Borrowing.  

(d) If any Bank makes a new Syndicated Loan hereunder on a day on which the Borrower is to repay all or any part of an outstanding 
Syndicated Loan from such Bank, such Bank shall apply the proceeds of its new Syndicated Loan to make such repayment as a Refunding 
Loan and only an amount equal to the difference (if any) between the amount being borrowed and the amount of such Refunding Loan shall be 
made available by such Bank to the Administrative Agent as provided in paragraph (c) of this Section, or remitted by the Borrower to the 
Administrative Agent as provided in Section 2.11, as the case may be.  

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, no Euro-Dollar Borrowing may be made if there shall have occurred 
a Default or an Event of Default, which Default or Event of Default shall not have been cured or waived, and all Refunding Loans shall be 
made as Base Rate Loans (but shall bear interest at the Default Rate, if applicable).  

(f) In the event that a Notice of Borrowing fails to specify whether the Syndicated Loans comprising such Syndicated Borrowing are to be Base 
Rate Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans, such Syndicated Loans shall be made as Base Rate Loans. If the Borrower is otherwise entitled under this 
Agreement to repay any Syndicated Loans maturing at the end of an  
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Interest Period applicable thereto with the proceeds of a new Syndicated Borrowing, and the Borrower fails to repay such Syndicated Loans 
and fails to give a Notice of Borrowing in connection with such new Syndicated Borrowing, a new Syndicated Borrowing shall be deemed to 
be made on the date such Syndicated Loans mature in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Syndicated Loans so maturing, and the 
Syndicated Loans comprising such new Syndicated Borrowing shall be Base Rate Loans.  

(g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, there shall not be more than eight (8) Euro-Dollar Borrowings outstanding at 
any given time.  

SECTION 2.03. Notes.  
(a) The Syndicated Loans of each Bank shall be evidenced by a single Syndicated Loan Note payable to the order of such Bank for the account 
of its Lending Office in an amount equal to the original principal amount of such Bank's Commitment. The Swing Loans shall be evidenced by 
a single Swing Loan Note payable to the order of Wachovia in the original principal amount of $5,000,000.  
 
(b) Upon receipt of each Bank's Notes pursuant to Section 4.01, the Administrative Agent shall deliver such Notes to such Bank. Each Bank 
shall record, and prior to any transfer of its Notes shall endorse on the schedules forming a part thereof appropriate notations to evidence, the 
date, amount and maturity of, and effective interest rate for, each Loan made by it, the date and amount of each payment of principal made by 
the Borrower with respect thereto, and such schedules of each such Bank's Notes shall constitute rebuttable presumptive evidence of the 
respective principal amounts owing and unpaid on such Bank's Notes; provided that the failure of any Bank to make, or any error in making, 
any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under the Notes or the ability of any Bank to 
assign its Notes. Each Bank is hereby irrevocably authorized by the Borrower so to endorse its Notes and to attach to and make a part of any 
Note a continuation of any such schedule as and when required.  
 
SECTION 2.04. Maturity of Loans.  
(a) Each Loan included in any Borrowing shall mature, and the principal amount thereof shall be due and payable, on the last day of the Interest 
Period applicable to such Borrowing.  

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the outstanding principal amount of the Loans, if any, together with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, 
if any, shall be due and payable on January 14, 2002.  

SECTION 2.05. Interest Rates.  

(a) "Applicable Margin" means:  
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(i) for the period commencing on the Closing Date, to and including the next Performance Pricing Determination Date, (x) for any Base Rate 
Loan, 1.50%, and (y) for any Euro-Dollar Loan, 3.00%; provided, however, that Euro-Dollar Loans made under the Original Agreement which 
are outstanding on the Closing Date shall be adjusted to reflect the provisions of this Section 2.05 for the remainder of their respective Interest 
Periods; and  

(ii) from and after such next Performance Pricing Determination Date, for any Base Rate Loan or Euro-Dollar Loan, the percentage determined 
on each Performance Pricing Determination Date by reference to the table set forth below as to the ratio of Consolidated EBILT to 
Consolidated Fixed Charges for the quarterly or annual period ending immediately prior to such Performance Pricing Determination Date.  

 
In determining interest for purposes of this Section 2.05 and fees for purposes of Section 2.06, the Borrower and the Banks shall refer to the 
Borrower's most recent consolidated quarterly and annual (as the case may be) financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(a) or (b), 
as the case may be. If such financial statements require a change in interest pursuant to this Section 2.05 or fees pursuant to Section 2.06, the 
Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent, along with such financial statements, a notice to that effect, which notice shall set forth in 
reasonable detail the calculations supporting the required change. The "Performance Pricing Determination Date" is the date which is the last 
date on which such financial statements are permitted to be delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(a) or (b), as applicable. Any such required 
change in interest and fees shall become effective on such Performance Pricing Determination Date, and shall be in effect until the next 
Performance Pricing Determination Date, provided that: (i) changes in interest shall only be effective for Interest Periods commencing on or 
after the Performance Pricing Determination Date; and (ii) no fees or interest shall be decreased pursuant to this Section 2.05 or Section 2.06 if 
a Default is in existence on the Performance Pricing Determination Date.  

(b) Each Base Rate Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for each day from the date such Loan is made until it 
becomes due, at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate for such day plus the Applicable Margin. Such interest shall be payable for each 
Interest Period on the last day thereof. Any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, overdue interest on any Base 
Rate Loan shall bear interest, payable on demand, for each day until paid at a rate per annum equal to the Default Rate.  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  
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(c) Each Euro-Dollar Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for the Interest Period applicable thereto, at a rate 
per annum equal to the sum of the Applicable Margin plus the applicable Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate for such Interest Period. 
Such interest shall be payable for each Interest Period on the last day thereof and, if such Interest Period is longer than 3 months, at intervals of 
3 months after the first day thereof. Any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by law, overdue interest on any Euro-Dollar Loan 
shall bear interest, payable on demand, for each day until paid at a rate per annum equal to the Default Rate.  

The "Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate" applicable to any Interest Period means a rate per annum equal to the quotient obtained 
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%) by dividing (i) the applicable London Interbank Offered Rate for such 
Interest Period by (ii) 1.00 minus the Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage.  

The "London Interbank Offered Rate" applicable to any Euro-Dollar Loan means for the Interest Period of such Euro-Dollar Loan, the rate per 
annum determined on the basis of the offered rate for deposits in Dollars of amounts equal or comparable to the principal amount of such Euro-
Dollar Loan offered for a term comparable to such Interest Period, which rates appear on the Telerate Page 3750 effective as of 11:00 A.M., 
London time, 2 Euro-Dollar Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, provided that if no such offered rates appear on such 
page, the "London Interbank Offered Rate" for such Interest Period will be the arithmetic average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next 
higher 1/100th of 1%) of rates quoted by not less than 2 major banks in New York City, selected by the Administrative Agent, at approximately 
10:00 A.M., New York City time, 2 Euro-Dollar Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, for deposits in Dollars offered by 
leading European banks for a period comparable to such Interest Period in an amount comparable to the principal amount of such Euro-Dollar 
Loan.  

"Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" means for any day that percentage (expressed as a decimal) which is in effect on such day, as prescribed by 
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) for determining the maximum reserve requirement for a member 
bank of the Federal Reserve System in respect of "Eurocurrency liabilities" (or in respect of any other category of liabilities which includes 
deposits by reference to which the interest rate on Euro-Dollar Loans is determined or any category of extensions of credit or other assets 
which includes loans by a non-United States office of any Bank to United States residents). The Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate shall 
be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in the Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage.  

(d) The Administrative Agent shall determine each interest rate applicable to the Loans hereunder. The Administrative Agent shall give prompt 
notice to the Borrower and the Banks by telecopier of each rate of interest so determined, and its determination thereof shall be conclusive in 
the absence of manifest error.  
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(e) After the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the principal amount of the Loans (and, to the extent permitted by 
applicable law, all accrued interest thereon) may, at the election of the Required Banks, bear interest at the Default Rate.  

SECTION 2.06. Fees.  

(a) The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the ratable account of each Bank, a commitment fee, calculated in the manner 
provided in the last paragraph of Section 2.05(a)(ii), on the average daily amount of such Bank's Unused Commitment, at a rate per annum 
equal to: (i) for the period commencing on the Closing Date, to and including the next Performance Pricing Determination Date, 0.50%; and 
(ii) from and after such next Performance Pricing Determination Date, the percentage determined on each Performance Pricing Determination 
Date by reference to the table set forth below as to the ratio of Consolidated EBILT to Consolidated Fixed Charges for the quarterly or annual 
period ending immediately prior to such Performance Pricing Determination Date:  

 

* 1.15 to 1.00 0.50%  

Such commitment fees shall accrue from and including the Closing Date to but excluding the Termination Date and shall be payable on each 
March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 and on the Termination Date.  

(b) The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account and sole benefit of the Administrative Agent, such fees and other 
amounts at such times as set forth in the Arranger's Letter Agreement.  

SECTION 2.07. Optional Termination or Reduction of Commitments. The Borrower may, upon at least 3 Domestic Business Days' notice to 
the Administrative Agent, terminate at any time, or proportionately reduce the Unused Commitments from time to time by an aggregate amount 
of at least $5,000,000 or any larger integral multiple of $1,000,000. If the Commitments are terminated in their entirety, all accrued fees (as 
provided under Section 2.06) shall be due and payable on the effective date of such termination.  
 
SECTION 2.08. Mandatory Reduction and Termination of Commitments.  

(a) The Commitments shall terminate on the Termination Date and any Loans then outstanding (together with accrued interest thereon) shall be 
due and payable on such date.  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  
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(b) The aggregate amount of Commitments shall be reduced by the amount of any mandatory prepayments required to be made pursuant to 
Section 2.10(b) on the date such required prepayments are required to be made pursuant thereto.  

(c) The aggregate amount of Commitments shall be reduced to $210,000,000 on the Commitment Reduction Date, if they have not previously 
been reduced to or below such amount pursuant to Section 2.07 or this Section 2.08.  

SECTION 2.09. Optional Prepayments.  

(a) The Borrower may, upon at least 1 Domestic Business Days' notice to the Administrative Agent, prepay any Base Rate Borrowing in whole 
at any time, or from time to time in part in amounts aggregating at least $3,000,000, or $100,000 as to Swing Loans, by paying the principal 
amount to be prepaid together with accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment. Each such optional prepayment shall be applied to 
prepay ratably the Base Rate Loans of the several Banks (or of Wachovia, in the case of Swing Loans) included in such Base Rate Borrowing.  

(b) Subject to any payments required pursuant to the terms of Article IX for such Euro-Dollar Loan, upon 3 Domestic Business Days' prior 
written notice, the Borrower may prepay in minimum amounts of $3,000,000 with additional increments of $1,000,000 (or any lesser amount 
equal to the outstanding balance of such Loan) all or any portion of the principal amount of any Euro-Dollar Loan prior to the maturity thereof.  

(c) Upon receipt of a notice of prepayment pursuant to this Section 2.09, the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of the 
contents thereof and of such Bank's ratable share of such prepayment and such notice, once received by the Administrative Agent, shall 
thereafter be irrevocable by the Borrower.  

SECTION 2.10. Mandatory Prepayments.  

(a) On each date on which (w) the Commitments are reduced pursuant to  
Section 2.07 or Section 2.08, or (x) the aggregate amount of all outstanding Syndicated Loans and Letter of Credit Obligations exceeds the 
Borrowing Base, the Borrower shall repay or prepay such principal amount of the outstanding Loans, if any (together with interest accrued 
thereon and any amount due under  
Section 9.05(a)), as may be necessary so that after such payment the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans does not exceed (y) the 
aggregate amount of the Commitments as then reduced, or (z) the Borrowing Base as then in effect.  

(b) Within 3 Domestic Business Days after receipt of Net Cash Proceeds, the Borrower shall prepay the Loans by an amount equal to:  

(i) with respect to Net Cash Proceeds of Asset Dispositions, 100% of such Net Cash Proceeds of Asset Dispositions (other than from any Asset 
Disposition  
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which is part of the Revenue Equipment Sales and Replacement Program unless such Asset Disposition also is a Sale-Leaseback Transaction, 
or from any Off-Lease Purchase and Resale Arrangement; provided that (1) in the event of a sale of the Borrower's terminal facility in Salt 
Lake City, Utah, the Borrower may certify in writing to the Administrative Agent the amount which it reasonably estimates in good faith will 
be needed to replace such facility, and such amount may be retained by the Borrower and used to replace such facility, so long as any portion of 
such retained amount which is not so used to replace such facility within 12 months shall be paid to the Administrative Agent pursuant hereto 
(and the Borrower shall keep the Administrative Agent fully informed as to the status of such replacement and the amounts used therefor) and 
(2) in addition to the foregoing exceptions, the Borrower may retain the first $1,000,000 of Net Cash Proceeds received by it in any Fiscal 
Year;  

(ii) with respect to Net Insurance Proceeds, other than Net Insurance Proceeds that Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries have designated in 
writing to Administrative Agent will be used solely for purposes of repairing, restoring or replacing the applicable personal property or Real 
property that is the subject of the casualty, 100% of such Net Insurance Cash Proceeds; and  

(iii) with respect to Net Proceeds of Capital Stock, 100% of such Net Proceeds of Capital Stock.  

Each such payment or prepayment pursuant to this Section 2.10(b) shall be accompanied by a detailed calculation showing all deductions from 
gross proceeds in order to arrive at Net Cash Proceeds.  

(c) Each such payment or prepayment shall be applied ratably to the Loans of the Banks outstanding on the date of payment or prepayment in 
the following order of priority: (i) first to any Swing Loans outstanding; (ii) secondly to Syndicated Loans which are Base Rate Loans; and (ii) 
thirdly to Syndicated Loans which are Euro-Dollar Loans.  

SECTION 2.11. General Provisions as to Payments.  

(a) The Borrower shall make each payment of principal of, and interest on, the Loans and of fees hereunder, not later than 11:00 A.M. (Atlanta, 
Georgia time) on the date when due, in Federal or other funds immediately available in Atlanta, Georgia, to the Administrative Agent at its 
address referred to in  
Section 10.01. The Administrative Agent will promptly distribute to Wachovia each such payment received on account of the Swing Loans and 
to each Bank its ratable share of each such payment received by the Administrative Agent for the account of the Banks.  

(b) Whenever any payment of principal of, or interest on, the Base Rate Loans or of fees hereunder shall be due on a day which is not a 
Domestic Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Domestic Business Day. Whenever  
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any payment of principal of or interest on, the Euro-Dollar Loans shall be due on a day which is not a Euro-Dollar Business Day, the date for 
payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Euro-Dollar Business Day unless such Euro-Dollar Business Day falls in another 
calendar month, in which case the date for payment thereof shall be the next preceding Euro-Dollar Business Day.  

(c) All payments of principal, interest and fees and all other amounts to be made by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement with respect to 
any Loan or fee relating thereto shall be paid without set-off, counterclaim, or deduction, including but not limited to any deduction for,(and 
shall be free from), any tax, imposts, levies, duties, deductions, or withholdings of any nature now or at anytime hereafter imposed by any 
governmental authority or by any taxing authority thereof or therein excluding in the case of each Bank, taxes imposed on or measured by its 
net income, and franchise taxes imposed on it, by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such Bank is organized or any political subdivision 
thereof and, in the case of each Bank, taxes imposed on its income, and franchise taxes imposed on it, by the jurisdiction of such Bank's 
applicable Lending Office or any political subdivision thereof (all such non-excluded taxes, imposts, levies, duties, deductions or withholdings 
of any nature being "Taxes"). In the event that the Borrower is required by applicable law to make any such withholding or deduction of Taxes 
with respect to any Loan or fee or other amount, the Borrower shall pay such deduction or withholding to the applicable taxing authority, shall 
promptly furnish to any Bank in respect of which such deduction or withholding is made all receipts and other documents evidencing such 
payment and shall pay to such Bank additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the amount received by such Bank after the required 
withholding or other payment shall equal the amount such Bank would have received had no such withholding or other payment been made. If 
no withholding or deduction of Taxes are payable in respect to any Loan or fee relating thereto, the Borrower shall furnish any Bank, at such 
Bank's request, a certificate from each applicable taxing authority or an opinion of counsel acceptable to such Bank, in either case stating that 
such payments are exempt from or not subject to withholding or deduction of Taxes. If the Borrower fails to provide such original or certified 
copy of a receipt evidencing payment of Taxes or such certificate(s) or opinion of counsel, the Borrower hereby agrees to compensate such 
Bank for, and indemnify them with respect to, the tax consequences of the Borrower's failure to provide evidence of tax payments or tax 
exemption.  

Each Bank which is not organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof agrees, as soon as practicable after receipt by it of a 
request by the Borrower to do so, to file all appropriate forms and take other appropriate action to obtain a certificate or other appropriate 
document from the appropriate governmental authority in the jurisdiction imposing the relevant Taxes, establishing that it is entitled to receive 
payments of principal and interest under this Agreement and the Notes without deduction and free from withholding of any Taxes imposed by 
such jurisdiction; provided that if it is unable, for any reason, to establish such exemption, or to file such forms and, in any event, during such 
period of time as such request for exemption is pending, the Borrower shall nonetheless remain obligated under the terms of the immediately 
preceding paragraph.  
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In the event any Bank receives a refund of any Taxes paid by the Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.11(c), it will pay to the Borrower the 
amount of such refund promptly upon receipt thereof; provided that if at any time thereafter it is required to return such refund, the Borrower 
shall promptly repay to it the amount of such refund.  

Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrower hereunder, the agreements and obligations of the Borrower and the 
Banks contained in this Section 2.11(c) shall be applicable with respect to any Participant, Assignee or other Transferee, and any calculations 
required by such provisions (i) shall be made based upon the circumstances of such Participant, Assignee or other Transferee, and (ii) constitute 
a continuing agreement and shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the payment in full or cancellation of the Notes.  

SECTION 2.12. Computation of Interest and Fees. Interest on Base Rate Loans shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and paid 
for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). Interest on Euro-Dollar Loans shall be computed on 
the basis of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed, calculated as to each Interest Period from and including the first 
day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. Commitment fees and any other fees payable hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a 
year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day).  

ARTICLE III  

LETTER OF CREDIT FACILITY  

SECTION 3.01. Obligation to Issue. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and in reliance upon the representations and 
warranties of the Borrower herein set forth, the Administrative Agent shall issue for the account of Borrower, one or more Letters of Credit 
denominated in Dollars, in accordance with this Article III, from time to time during the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending 
on the Domestic Business Day prior to the Termination Date.  
 
SECTION 3.02. Types and Amounts. The Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to issue any Letter of Credit at any time:  

(a) if the aggregate maximum amount then available for drawing under Letters of Credit, after giving effect to the issuance of the requested 
Letter of Credit, shall exceed any limit imposed by law or regulation upon the Administrative Agent;  

(b) if, after giving effect to the issuance of the requested Letter of Credit, (i) the aggregate Letter of Credit Obligations would exceed 
$10,000,000, or (ii) the sum of the aggregate Letter of Credit Obligations, plus the aggregate principal amount of the Loans outstanding at such 
time, would exceed the Borrowing Base;  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  

35  



(c) which has an expiration date (i) more than 360 days after the date of issuance or (ii) after the Termination Date.  

SECTION 3.03. Conditions. In addition to being subject to the satisfaction of the conditions contained in Article IV, the obligation of the 
Administrative Agent to issue any Letter of Credit is subject to the satisfaction in full of the following conditions:  

(a) the Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent at such times and in such manner as the Administrative Agent may prescribe, 
a Letter of Credit Application Agreement and such other documents and materials as may be required pursuant to the terms thereof all 
satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent and the terms of the proposed Letter of Credit shall be satisfactory in form and 
substance to the Administrative Agent;  

(b) as of the date of issuance no order, judgment or decree of any court, arbitrator or Authority shall purport by its terms to enjoin or restrain 
the Administrative Agent from issuing the Letter of Credit and no law, rule or regulation applicable to the Administrative Agent and no request 
or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any Authority with jurisdiction over the Administrative Agent shall prohibit or 
request that the Agent refrain from the issuance of letters of credit generally or the issuance of that Letter of Credit;  

(c) the Unused Commitment shall not be less than the amount of the requested Letter of Credit; and  

(d) the expiration date of the Letter of Credit shall not extend beyond the Termination Date.  

SECTION 3.04. Issuance of Letters of Credit.  

(a) At least two Domestic Business Days before the effective date for any Letter of Credit, the Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent a 
written notice containing the original signature of an authorized officer or employee of the Borrower. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall 
specify the original face amount of the Letter of Credit requested (which original face amount shall not be less than $100,000), the effective 
date (which day shall be a Domestic Business Day) of issuance of such requested Letter of Credit, the date on which such requested Letter of 
Credit is to expire, the amount of then outstanding Letter of Credit Obligations, the purpose for which such Letter of Credit is to be issued, 
whether such Letter of Credit may be drawn in single or partial draws and the person for whose benefit the requested Letter of Credit is to be 
issued.  

(b) Issuance; Notice of Issuance. If the original face amount of the requested Letter of Credit is less than or equal to the Unused Commitment at 
such time and the applicable conditions set forth in this Agreement are satisfied, the Administrative Agent shall issue the  
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requested Letter of Credit. The Administrative Agent shall give each Bank written or telex notice in substantially the form of Exhibit K, or 
telephonic notice confirmed promptly thereafter in writing, of the issuance of a Letter of Credit and shall deliver to each Bank in connection 
with such notice a copy of the Letter of Credit issued by the Administrative Agent.  
 
(c) No Extension or Amendment. The Administrative Agent shall not extend or amend any Letter of Credit if the issuance of a new Letter of 
Credit having the same terms as such Letter of Credit as so amended or extended would be prohibited by Section 3.02 or Section 3.03.  
 
SECTION 3.05. Reimbursement Obligations; Duties of the Issuing Bank.  
 
(a) Reimbursement. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in any Letter of Credit Application Agreement:  

(i) the Borrower shall reimburse the Administrative Agent for drawings under a Letter of Credit issued by it no later than the earlier of (A) the 
time specified in such Letter of Credit Application Agreement, or (B) 1 Domestic Business Day after the payment by the Administrative Agent; 

(ii) any Reimbursement Obligation with respect to any Letter of Credit shall bear interest from the date of the relevant drawing under the 
pertinent Letter of Credit until the date of payment in full thereof at a rate per annum equal to (A) prior to the date that is 3 Domestic Business 
Days after the date of the related payment by the Administrative Agent, the Base Rate and (B) thereafter, the Default Rate; and  

(iii) in order to implement the foregoing, upon the occurrence of a draw under any Letter of Credit, unless the Administrative Agent is 
reimbursed in accordance with subsection (i) above, the Borrower irrevocably authorizes the Administrative Agent to treat such nonpayment as 
a Notice of Borrowing in the amount of such Reimbursement Obligation and to make Loans to Borrower in such amount regardless of whether 
the conditions precedent to the making of Loans hereunder have been met. The Borrower further authorizes the Administrative Agent to credit 
the proceeds of such Loan so as to immediately eliminate the liability of the Borrower for Reimbursement Obligations under such Letter of 
Credit.  

(b) Duties of the Administrative Agent. Any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Administrative Agent in connection with any Letter of 
Credit, if taken or omitted in the absence of willful misconduct or gross negligence, shall not put the Administrative Agent under any resulting 
liability to any Bank, or assuming that the Administrative Agent has complied with the procedures specified in Section 3.04 and such Bank has 
not given a notice contemplated by  
Section 3.06(a) that continues in full force and effect, relieve that Bank of its obligations hereunder to the Administrative Agent. In determining 
whether to pay under any Letter of Credit, the Administrative Agent shall have no obligation relative to the Banks other  
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than to confirm that any documents required to have been delivered under such Letter of Credit appear to comply on their face, with the 
requirements of such Letter of Credit.  

SECTION 3.06. Participations.  
 
(a) Purchase of Participations. Immediately upon issuance by the Administrative Agent of any Letter of Credit in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Section 3.04, each Bank shall be deemed to have irrevocably and unconditionally purchased and received from the 
Administrative Agent, without recourse or warranty, an undivided interest and participation, to the extent of such Bank's Commitment Share, in 
such Letter of Credit (or guaranty pertaining thereto); provided, that a Letter of Credit shall not be entitled to the benefits of this Section 3.06 if 
the Administrative Agent shall have received written notice from any Bank on or before the Domestic Business Day immediately prior to the 
date of the Administrative Agent's issuance of such Letter of Credit that one or more of the conditions contained in Section 3.03 or Article IV is 
not then satisfied, and, in the event the Administrative Agent receives such a notice, it shall have no further obligation to issue any Letter of 
Credit until such notice is withdrawn by that Bank or until the Required Banks have effectively waived such condition in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement.  
 
(b) Sharing of Letter of Credit Payments. In the event that the Administrative Agent makes any payment under any Letter of Credit for which 
the Borrower shall not have repaid such amount to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 3.07 or which cannot be paid by a Loan 
pursuant to subsection (iii) of Section 3.05, the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of such failure, and each Bank shall 
promptly and unconditionally pay to the Administrative Agent such Bank's Commitment Share of the amount of such payment in Dollars and 
in same day funds. If the Administrative Agent so notifies such Bank prior to 10:00 A.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on any Domestic Business 
Day, such Bank shall make available to the Administrative Agent its Commitment Share of the amount of such payment on such Domestic 
Business Day in same day funds. If and to the extent such Bank shall not have so made its Commitment Share of the amount of such payment 
available to the Administrative Agent, such Bank agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such amount together with 
interest thereon, for each day from the date such payment was first due until the date such amount is paid to the Administrative Agent at a rate 
per annum equal to the rate at which the Administrative Agent determines that it obtained (or could have obtained) overnight federal funds to 
cover such amount for each such day during such period. The failure of any Bank to make available to the Administrative Agent its 
Commitment Share of any such payment shall neither relieve nor increase the obligation of any other Bank hereunder to make available to the 
Administrative Agent its Commitment Share of any payment on the date such payment is to be made.  
 
(c) Sharing of Reimbursement Obligation Payments. Whenever the Administrative Agent receives a payment on account of a Reimbursement 
Obligation, including any interest thereon, as to which the Administrative Agent has received any payments from the  
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Banks pursuant to this Section 3.06, it shall promptly pay to each Bank which has funded its participating interest therein, in Dollars and in the 
kind of funds so received, an amount equal to such Bank's Commitment Share thereof. Each such payment shall be made by the Administrative 
Agent on the Domestic Business Day on which the funds are paid to such Person, if received prior to 10:00 am. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on such 
Domestic Business Day, and otherwise on the next succeeding Domestic Business Day.  

(d) Documentation. Upon the request of any Bank, the Administrative Agent shall furnish to such Bank copies of any Letter of Credit, Letter of 
Credit Application Agreement and other documentation relating to Letters of Credit issued pursuant to this Agreement.  
 
(e) Obligations Irrevocable. The obligations of the Banks to make payments to the Administrative Agent with respect to a Letter of Credit shall 
be irrevocable, not subject to any qualification or exception whatsoever and shall be made in accordance with, but not subject to, the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement under all circumstances (assuming that the Administrative Agent has issued such Letter of Credit in accordance 
with Section 3.04 and such Bank has not given a notice contemplated by Section 3.06(a) that continues in full force and effect), including, 
without limitation, any of the following circumstances:  

(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents;  

(ii) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right which the Borrower may have at any time against a beneficiary named in a Letter 
of Credit or any transferee of any Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such transferee may be acting), the Administrative Agent, any 
Bank or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, any Letter of Credit, the transactions contemplated herein or any 
unrelated transactions;  

(iii) any draft, certificate or any other document presented under the Letter of Credit proves to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in 
any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;  

(iv) the surrender or impairment of any security for the performance or observance of any of the terms of any of the Loan Documents;  

(v) payment by the Administrative Agent under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or 
any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;  

(vi) payment by the Administrative Agent under any Letter of Credit against presentation of any draft or certificate that does not comply with 
the terms of such Letter of Credit, except payment resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Administrative Agent; or  
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(vii) any other circumstances or happenings whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, except circumstances or happenings 
resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Administrative Agent.  

SECTION 3.07. Payment of Reimbursement Obligations.  
 
(a) Payments to Issuing Bank. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent the amount of all Reimbursement Obligations, interest 
and other amounts payable to the Administrative Agent under or in connection with any Letter of Credit issued for such Borrower's account 
immediately when due, irrespective of:  

(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents;  

(ii) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right which the Borrower may have at any time against a beneficiary named in a Letter 
of Credit or any transferee of any Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such transferee may be acting), the Administrative Agent, any 
Bank or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, any Letter of Credit, the transactions contemplated herein or any 
unrelated transactions;  

(iii) any draft, certificate or any other document presented under the Letter of Credit proves to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in 
any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;  

(iv) the surrender or impairment of any security for the performance or observance of any of the terms of any of the Loan Documents;  

(v) payment by the Administrative Agent under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or 
any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;  

(vi) payment by the Administrative Agent under any Letter of Credit against presentation of any draft or certificate that does not comply with 
the terms of such Letter of Credit, except payment resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Administrative Agent; or  

(vii) any other circumstances or happenings whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, except circumstances or happenings 
resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Administrative Agent.  

(b) Recovery or Avoidance of Payments. In the event any payment by or on behalf of the Borrower received by the Administrative Agent with 
respect to a Letter of Credit and distributed by the Administrative Agent to the Banks on account of their participations is  
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thereafter set aside, avoided or recovered from the Administrative Agent in connection with any receivership, liquidation or bankruptcy 
proceeding, each Bank that received such distribution shall, upon demand by such Administrative Agent, contribute such Bank's Commitment 
Share of the amount set aside, avoided or recovered together with interest at the rate required to be paid by the Administrative Agent upon the 
amount required to be repaid by it.  

SECTION 3.08. Compensation for Letters of Credit.  
 
(a) Letter of Credit Fees. The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent with respect to each Letter of Credit issued hereunder a per 
annum letter of credit fee ("Letter of Credit Fee") equal to the Applicable Margin for Euro-Dollar Loans from time to time as set forth in 
Section 2.05(a)(ii) on the average daily maximum amount available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit, accruing from the date of issuance 
to the date of expiration, and payable on each March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 and on the Termination Date. Letter of 
Credit Fees payable hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed (including 
the first day but excluding the last day). The Administrative Agent shall promptly remit such Letter of Credit Fees, when paid, to the Banks in 
accordance with their Commitment Shares thereof.  
 
(b) Administrative Agent Charges. The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent, solely for its own account on the date of issuance of 
each Letter of Credit, an issuance fee for each Letter of Credit equal to .125% of the face amount of the Letter of Credit, as well as the standard 
charges assessed by the Administrative Agent in connection with the issuance, administration, amendment and payment or cancellation of 
Letters of Credit issued hereunder, which charges shall be those typically charged by the Administrative Agent to its customers generally 
having credit and other characteristics similar to the Borrower, as determined in good faith by the Administrative Agent.  
 
SECTION 3.09. Indemnification; Exoneration.  
 
(a) Indemnification. In addition to amounts payable as elsewhere provided in this Article III, the Borrower shall protect, indemnify, pay and 
save the Administrative Agent and each Bank harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, damages, losses, costs, 
charges and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) which the Administrative Agent, or any Bank may incur or be subject to as a 
consequence of the issuance of any Letter of Credit for the Borrower's account other than as a result of its gross negligence or willful 
misconduct, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.  
 
(b) Assumption of Risk by Borrower. As between the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Banks, the Borrower assumes all risks of the 
acts and omissions of, or misuse of the Letters of Credit issued for such Borrower's account by, the respective beneficiaries of such Letters of 
Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Administrative Agent and the Banks shall not be responsible for (i) the form, 
validity, sufficiency, accuracy, genuineness or legal effect of any document submitted by any party in  
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connection with the application for and issuance of the Letters of Credit, even if it should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid, 
insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged, (ii) the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or purporting to transfer 
or assign a Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or 
ineffective for any reason,  
(iii) failure of the beneficiary of a Letter of Credit to comply duly with conditions required in order to draw upon such Letter of Credit, (iv) 
errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of any messages, by mail, cable, telegraph, telex or otherwise, whether or 
not they be in cipher, for errors in interpretation of technical terms, (vi) any loss or delay in the transmission or otherwise of any document 
required in order to make a drawing under any Letter of Credit or of the proceeds thereof, (vii) the misapplication by the beneficiary of a Letter 
of Credit of the proceeds of any drawing under such Letter of Credit; and (viii) any consequences arising from causes beyond the control of the 
Administrative Agent and the Banks.  

(c) Exoneration. In furtherance and extension and not in limitation of the specific provisions hereinabove set forth, any action taken or omitted 
by the Administrative Agent under or in connection with the Letters of Credit or any related certificates if taken or omitted in good faith and 
with reasonable care, shall not put the Administrative Agent or any Bank under any resulting liability to the Borrower or relieve the Borrower 
of any of its obligations hereunder to any such Person.  
 
SECTION 3.10. Credit Yield Protection; Capital Adequacy. If the adoption after the date hereof of any applicable law, statute, rule, regulation, 
ordinance, writ, injunction, decree, order, judgment, guideline or decision of any Authority ("Governmental Rule"), any change after the date 
hereof in any interpretation or administration of any applicable Governmental Rule by any Person charged with its interpretation or 
administration or compliance by the Administrative Agent or any Bank (or its Lending Office) with any request or directive (whether or not 
having the force of law) of any such Person:  

(a) shall subject the Administrative Agent or any Bank (or its Lending Office) to any tax (other than overall net income taxation), duty or other 
charge with respect to any amount drawn on any Letter of Credit or its obligation to make any payment under the Letters of Credit, or to 
maintain the Letters of Credit, or shall change the basis of taxation (other than overall net income taxation) of payments to the Administrative 
Agent or any Bank (or its Lending Office) of any amounts due under this Agreement or any amount drawn on the Letters of Credit; or  

(b) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including, without limitation, any imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System or any Person regulating insurance activities or insurance companies), special deposit or similar requirements against assets of, 
deposits with or for the account of, credit extended by, letters of credit issued or maintained by, or collateral subject to a lien in favor of the 
Administrative Agent or any Bank (or its Lending Office) any other condition affecting  
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any amount drawn on the Letters of Credit, or its obligation to make any payment under the Letters of Credit, as the case may be, or to maintain 
the Letters of Credit; then the remaining provisions of this Section 3.10 shall apply. If the result of any of the foregoing (without regard to 
whether the Administrative Agent or any Bank shall have sold participations in its respective obligations under this Agreement) is to increase 
the cost to or to impose a cost on the Administrative Agent or any Bank (or its Lending Office) of making or maintaining any amounts payable 
hereunder, of maintaining the Letters of Credit, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Administrative Agent or any 
Bank (or its Lending Office) under any Letter of Credit, then:  

(i) the Administrative Agent or such Bank shall promptly deliver to the Borrower a certificate stating the change which has occurred or the 
reserve requirements or other conditions which have been imposed on the Administrative Agent or such Bank (or its Lending Office) or the 
request, direction or requirement with which it has complied, together with the date hereof; and  

(ii) the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent or such Bank within 30 days of written request (which request shall state the amount of 
increased cost, reduction or payment and the way in which such amount has been calculated), such amount or amounts as will compensate the 
Administrative Agent or such Bank for the additional cost, reduction of return or payment incurred by the Administrative Agent or such other 
Bank and, at the option of the Borrower at any time while the Administrative Agent or such Bank is requesting such additional amount or 
amounts, upon the giving of notice to the Bank and payment to such Bank of all amounts owing to such Bank hereunder, the Borrower may 
require such Bank to enter into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement pursuant to which such Bank shall transfer all of its rights and 
interests hereunder and under the other Loan Documents to a third party selected by the Borrower and consented to by the Administrative 
Agent. If such written request is given within 30 days after the event which results in such increased cost, reduction of return or reduction of 
payments, such amounts will be calculated from the date of such event; otherwise, such amounts will be calculated as of the date on which the 
Administrative Agent or such Bank makes the aforesaid written request. The written request of the Administrative Agent or such Bank as to the 
additional amounts payable pursuant to this paragraph delivered to the Borrower shall be conclusive evidence of the amount thereof in the 
absence of manifest error.  

(c) If any Bank shall have determined that after the date hereof the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation regarding capital 
adequacy, or any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Bank (or its Lending 
Office) with any request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any Authority, has or would have 
the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Bank's capital as a consequence of its obligations  
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hereunder to a level below that which such Bank could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration 
such Bank's policies with respect to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then from time to time, within 30 
days after demand by such Bank, the Borrower shall pay to such Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for 
such reduction.  

(d) Each Bank will promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the 
date hereof, which will entitle such Bank to compensation pursuant to this  
Section and will designate a different Lending Office if such designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation 
and will not, in the judgment of such Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank. A certificate of any Bank claiming compensation 
under this  
Section and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. In 
determining such amount, such Bank may use any reasonable averaging and attribution methods.  

(e) The provisions of this Section 3.10 shall be applicable with respect to any Participant, Assignee or other Transferee, and any calculations 
required by such provisions shall be made based upon the circumstances of such Participant, Assignee or other Transferee.  

ARTICLE IV  

CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS AND BORROWINGS  

SECTION 4.01. Conditions to Effectiveness. The obligations of the Administrative Agent and the Banks hereunder, and the effectiveness of 
this Agreement, are subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in clauses (ii) and (iii) of Section 4.02 and receipt by the 
Administrative Agent of the following (as to the documents described in paragraphs (a),(c), (d)and  
(e) below, in sufficient number of counterparts for delivery of a counterpart to each Bank and retention of one counterpart by the 
Administrative Agent):  

(a) from each of the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Required Banks, either (i) a duly executed counterpart of this Agreement 
signed by such party or (ii) a facsimile transmission of such executed counterpart, with the original to be sent to the Administrative Agent by 
overnight courier);  

(b) a duly executed Syndicated Loan Note for the account of each Bank and a duly executed Swing Loan Note to Wachovia, each such Note 
complying with the provisions of Section 2.03, and from each Bank which holds any of the Original Notes, such Original Notes (provided that, 
if any Bank is unable to deliver its Original Note on the Closing Date, such delivery on such date shall not be a condition to the  
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of this Agreement, and such Bank shall deliver such Original Note to the Borrower as soon as reasonably practicable after the Closing Date);  

(c) the Guaranty Agreement, duly executed and delivered by each Subsidiary of the Borrower;  

(d) an opinion letter (together with any opinions of local counsel relied on therein) of Scudder Law Firm, P.C., L.L.O., counsel for the 
Borrower, dated as of the Closing Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit B and covering such additional matters relating to the transactions 
contemplated hereby as the Administrative Agent or any Bank may reasonably request;  
 
(e) an opinion of Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue, special counsel for the Administrative Agent, dated as of the Closing Date, substantially in the 
form of Exhibit C and covering such additional matters relating to the transactions contemplated hereby as the Agent may reasonably request;  
 
(f) a certificate (the "Closing Certificate") substantially in the form of Exhibit G), dated as of the earlier of the date of the first Borrowing or the 
date of the issuance of the first Letter of Credit, signed by a principal financial officer of the Borrower, to the effect that (i) no Default has 
occurred and is continuing on such date and (ii) the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in Article V are true on and as of 
such date;  
 
(g) all documents which the Administrative Agent or any Bank may reasonably request relating to the existence of the Borrower, the corporate 
authority for and the validity of this Agreement and the Notes, and any other matters relevant hereto, all in form and substance satisfactory to 
the Administrative Agent, including, without limitation, a certificate of the Borrower and of each Subsidiary substantially in the form of 
Exhibit H (the "Officer's Certificate"), signed by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Borrower or the Subsidiary, as the case may be, 
certifying as to the names, true signatures and incumbency of the officer or officers of the Borrower or the Subsidiary authorized to execute and 
deliver the Loan Documents, and certified copies of the following items: (i) the Borrower's and each Subsidiary's Certificate of Incorporation, 
(ii) the Borrower's and each Subsidiary's Bylaws, (iii) a certificate of the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada as to the good standing of the 
Borrower as a Nevada corporation, and a certificate of the Secretary of State of the State of incorporation of each Subsidiary as to the good 
standing of such Subsidiary, and (iv) the action taken by the Board of Directors of the Borrower authorizing the Borrower's execution, delivery 
and performance of this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a party, and the action taken by the 
Board of Directors of each Subsidiary authorizing such Subsidiary's execution, delivery and performance of the Guaranty and the Contribution 
Agreement;  
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(h) a Borrowing Base Certificate, dated as of the Closing Date;  

(i) the Contribution Agreement, in form and substance as set forth on Exhibit L, duly executed and delivered, from each Subsidiary of the  
 

Borrower and the Borrower; and  

(j) receipt by the Administrative Agent of (i) for the ratable account of those Banks that approve the amendment and restatement of the Original 
Agreement by executing this Agreement and delivering (or authorizing counsel for the Administrative Agent to release) its signature pages (or 
a facsimile thereof) on or before 4:00 P.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on February 2, 2001, an amendment fee in an amount equal to 0.175% of 
the aggregate Commitments; and (ii) for the account of the Arranger, the fees payable on the Closing Date pursuant to the Arranger's Letter 
Agreement.  

Any Loans outstanding under the Original Agreement on the Closing Date shall be deemed to have been made under this Agreement and shall 
be evidenced by the Notes issued hereunder.  

SECTION 4.02. Conditions to All Borrowings. The obligation of each Bank to make a Syndicated Loan on the occasion of each Syndicated 
Borrowing and the obligation of Wachovia to make a Swing Loan on the occasion of each Swing Loan Borrowing (and, with respect to clauses 
(b), (c),and (d) below, the obligations of the Administrative Agent to issue each Letter of Credit) is subject to the satisfaction of the following 
conditions:  

(a) receipt by the Administrative Agent of a Notice of Borrowing;  

(b) the fact that, immediately before and after such Borrowing or Letter of Credit issuance, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred 
and be continuing;  

(c) the fact that the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in Article V of this Agreement shall be true on and as of the date 
of such Borrowing or Letter of Credit issuance; and  

(d) the fact that, immediately after such Borrowing or Letter of Credit issuance, as appropriate, the conditions set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) of 
Section 2.01(a) shall have been satisfied.  

Each Borrowing hereunder shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty by the Borrower on the date of such Borrowing as to the truth 
and accuracy of the facts specified in paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) of this Section.  
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ARTICLE V  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

The Borrower represents and warrants that:  

SECTION 5.01. Corporate Existence and Power. The Borrower is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, is duly qualified to transact business in every jurisdiction where, by the nature of its business, such 
qualification is necessary except where the failure to be so qualified could not have a Material Adverse Effect, and has all corporate powers and 
all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted.  
 
SECTION 5.02. Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of 
this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents (i) are within the Borrower's corporate powers, (ii) have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action, (iii) require no action by or in respect of or filing with, any governmental body, agency or official, (iv) do not 
contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of the 
Borrower or of any agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, 
and (v) do not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.  
 
SECTION 5.03. Binding Effect. This Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Borrower enforceable in accordance with its 
terms, and the Notes, the Guaranty Agreements, and the other Loan Documents, when executed and delivered in accordance with this 
Agreement, will constitute valid and binding obligations of the Borrower or a Subsidiary, as the case may be, enforceable in accordance with 
their respective terms, provided that the enforceability hereof and thereof is subject in each case to general principles of equity and to 
bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.  
 
SECTION 5.04. Financial Information.  

(a) The consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1999 and the related consolidated 
statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the Fiscal Year then ended, reported on by Arthur Andersen, LLP, copies of 
which have been delivered to each of the Banks, and the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Borrower for the interim period 
ended September 30, 2000, copies of which have been delivered to each of the Banks, fairly present, in conformity with GAAP, the 
consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of such dates and their consolidated results of operations 
and cash flows for such periods stated.  
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(b) Since December 31, 1999, there has been no event, act, condition or occurrence having a Material Adverse Effect, except for any matters 
fully disclosed in writing (including in any financial reports) furnished to the Banks prior to the date hereof.  

SECTION 5.05. No Litigation. There is no action, suit or proceeding pending, or to the knowledge of the Borrower threatened, against or 
affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency or official which would be 
reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or which in any manner draws into question the validity of or could impair the ability of the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Notes or any of the other Loan Documents.  
 
SECTION 5.06. Compliance with ERISA.  

(a) The Borrower and each member of the Controlled Group have fulfilled their obligations under the minimum funding standards of ERISA 
and the Code with respect to each Plan and are in compliance in all material respects with the presently applicable provisions of ERISA and the 
Code, and have not incurred any liability to the PBGC or a Plan under Title IV of ERISA.  

(b) Neither the Borrower nor any member of the Controlled Group has incurred any withdrawal liability with respect to any Multiemployer 
Plan under Title IV of ERISA, and no such liability is expected to be incurred.  

SECTION 5.07. Compliance with Laws; Payment of Taxes. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with all applicable 
laws, regulations and similar requirements of governmental authorities, except where such compliance is being contested in good faith through 
appropriate proceedings. There have been filed on behalf of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, or proper extensions have been obtained for, all 
Federal, state and local income, excise, property and other tax returns which are required to be filed by them and all taxes due pursuant to such 
returns or pursuant to any assessment received by or on behalf of the Borrower or any Subsidiary have been paid. The charges, accruals and 
reserves on the books of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in respect of taxes or other governmental charges are, in the opinion of the 
Borrower, adequate. United States income tax returns of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries have been examined and closed through the Fiscal 
Year ended December 31, 1992.  
 
SECTION 5.08. Subsidiaries. Each of the Borrower's Subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under 
the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, is duly qualified to transact business in every jurisdiction where, by the nature of its business, such 
qualification is necessary except where the failure to be so qualified could not have a Material Adverse Effect, and has all corporate powers and 
all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted. The Borrower has no 
Subsidiaries except for those Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 5.08, which accurately sets forth each such Subsidiary's complete name and 
jurisdiction of incorporation.  
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SECTION 5.09. Investment Company Act. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is an "investment company" within the meaning of 
the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.  
 
SECTION 5.10. Public Utility Holding Company Act. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is a "holding company", or a 
"subsidiary company" of a "holding company", or an "affiliate" of a "holding company" or of a "subsidiary company" of a "holding company", 
as such terms are defined in the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.  
 
SECTION 5.11. Ownership of Property; Liens. Each of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries has title to its properties sufficient for 
the conduct of its business, and none of such property is subject to any Lien except as permitted in Section 6.18.  
 
SECTION 5.12. No Default. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries is in default under or with respect to any agreement, 
instrument or undertaking to which it is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound which could have or cause a Material Adverse 
Effect. No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under any such agreement, instrument, or undertaking.  
 
SECTION 5.13. Full Disclosure. All information heretofore furnished by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent or any Bank for purposes 
of or in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby is, and all such information hereafter furnished by the 
Borrower to the Administrative Agent or any Bank will be, true, accurate and complete in every material respect or based on reasonable 
estimates on the date as of which such information is stated or certified. The Borrower has disclosed to the Banks in writing any and all facts 
which could have or cause a Material Adverse Effect.  
 
SECTION 5.14. Environmental Matters.  

(a) Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary is subject to any Environmental Liability which could have or cause a Material Adverse Effect and 
neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary has been designated as a potentially responsible party under CERCLA or under any state statute 
similar to CERCLA. None of the Properties has been identified on any current or proposed (i) National Priorities List under 40 C.F.R. (S) 300, 
(ii) CERCLIS list or (iii) any list arising from a state statute similar to CERCLA.  

(b) No Hazardous Materials have been or are being used, produced, manufactured, processed, treated, recycled, generated, stored, disposed of, 
managed or otherwise handled at, or shipped or transported to or from the Properties or are otherwise present at, on, in or under the Properties, 
or, to the best of the knowledge of the Borrower, at or from any adjacent site or facility, except for Hazardous Materials used, produced, 
manufactured, processed, treated, recycled, generated, stored, disposed of, managed, or otherwise handled or shipped or  

/1/ To the extent known on the Closing Date, otherwise to be indicated within 30 days.  

49  



transported to or from the Properties in the ordinary course of business and in compliance with all applicable Environmental Requirements.  

(c) The Borrower, and each of its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, has procured all Environmental Authorizations necessary for the conduct of its 
business, and is in compliance with all Environmental Requirements in connection with the operation of the Properties and the Borrower's, and 
each of its Subsidiary's and Affiliate's, respective businesses.  

SECTION 5.15. Capital Stock. All Capital Stock, debentures, bonds, notes and all other securities of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries 
presently issued and outstanding are validly and properly issued in accordance with all applicable laws, including, but not limited to, the "Blue 
Sky" laws of all applicable states and the federal securities laws. The issued shares of Capital Stock of the Borrower's Wholly Owned 
Subsidiaries are owned by the Borrower free and clear of any Lien or adverse claim. At least a majority of the issued shares of capital stock of 
each of the Borrower's other Subsidiaries (other than Wholly Owned Subsidiaries) is owned by the Borrower free and clear of any Lien or 
adverse claim.  
 
SECTION 5.16. Margin Stock. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in 
the business of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock, and no part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used to purchase or carry any Margin 
Stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock, or be used for any purpose which violates, or 
which is inconsistent with, the provisions of Regulation T, U or X.  
 
SECTION 5.17. Insolvency. After giving effect to the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of the Loans under this 
Agreement:  
(i) neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary will (x) be "insolvent," within the meaning of such term as used in O.C.G.A. (S) 18-2-22 or as 
defined in (S) 101 of the "Bankruptcy Code", or Section 2 of either the "UFTA" or the "UFCA", or as defined or used in any "Other Applicable 
Law" (as those terms are defined below), or (y) be unable to pay its debts generally as such debts become due within the meaning of Section 
548 of the Bankruptcy Code, Section 4 of the UFTA or Section 6 of the UFCA, or (z) have an unreasonably small capital to engage in any 
business or transaction, whether current or contemplated, within the meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code, Section 4 of the UFTA or 
Section 5 of the UFCA; and (ii) the obligations of the Borrower and each Subsidiary under the Loan Documents and with respect to the Loans 
will not be rendered avoidable under any Other Applicable Law. For purposes of this Section 4.17, "Bankruptcy Code" means Title 11 of the 
United States Code, "UFTA" means the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, "UFCA" means the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act, and 
"Other Applicable Law" means any other applicable law pertaining to fraudulent transfers or acts voidable by creditors, in each case as such 
law may be amended from time to time.  
 
SECTION 5.18. Insurance. The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries has (either in the name of the Borrower or in such Subsidiary's own 
name), with financially sound and  
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reputable insurance companies, insurance in at least such amounts and against at least such risks (including on all its property, and public 
liability and worker's compensation) as are usually insured against in the same general area by companies of established repute engaged in the 
same or similar business.  

ARTICLE VI  

COVENANTS  

The Borrower agrees that, so long as any Bank has any Commitment hereunder or any amount payable hereunder or under any Note remains 
unpaid:  

SECTION 6.01. Information. The Borrower will deliver to each of the Banks:  

(a) as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash 
flows for such Fiscal Year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all certified by Arthur 
Andersen, LLP, or other independent public accountants of nationally recognized standing, with such certification to be free of exceptions and 
qualifications not reasonably acceptable to the Required Banks;  

(b) as soon as available and in any event within: (i) 45 days after the end of each of the first 3 Fiscal Quarters of each Fiscal Year, a 
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Quarter and the related statement of 
income and statement of cash flows for such Fiscal Quarter and for the portion of the Fiscal Year ended at the end of such Fiscal Quarter, 
setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding Fiscal Quarter and the corresponding portion of the previous 
Fiscal Year, all certified (subject to normal year-end adjustments) as to fairness of presentation, GAAP and consistency by the chief financial 
officer or the chief accounting officer of the Borrower; and (ii) 20 days after the end of each Fiscal Month of each Fiscal Year, a consolidated 
balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Month and the related statement of income and 
statement of cash flows for such Fiscal Month and for the portion of the Fiscal Year ended at the end of such Fiscal Month, setting forth in each 
case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding Fiscal Month and the corresponding portion of the previous Fiscal Year, all certified 
(subject to normal year-end adjustments) as to fairness of presentation, GAAP and consistency by the chief financial officer or the chief 
accounting officer of the Borrower;  

(c) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, a certificate, substantially in 
the form of Exhibit F (a "Compliance Certificate"), of the chief financial officer or the chief  
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accounting officer of the Borrower (i) setting forth in reasonable detail the calculations required to establish whether the Borrower was in 
compliance with the requirements of Sections 6.05, 6.16, 6.18, and 6.21 through 6.23, on the date of such financial statements and (ii) stating 
whether any Default exists on the date of such certificate and, if any Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the action which 
the Borrower is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;  

(d) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of annual financial statements referred to in paragraph (a) above, a statement of the firm of 
independent public accountants which reported on such statements to the effect that nothing has come to their attention to cause them to believe 
that any Default existed on the date of such financial statements;  

(e) within 5 Domestic Business Days after the Borrower becomes aware of the occurrence of any Default, or of its determination, based on 
information then available to it (even if the books have not yet been closed for the relevant period) that there is a reasonable probability that a 
Default under any of Sections 6.21, 6.22 or 6.23 will occur (and the Borrower hereby agrees to make such determinations from time to time, as 
financial circumstances warrant), a certificate of the chief financial officer or the chief accounting officer of the Borrower setting forth the 
details thereof and the action which the Borrower is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;  

(f) promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of the Borrower generally, copies of all financial statements, reports and proxy 
statements so mailed;  

(g) promptly upon the filing thereof, copies of all registration statements (other than the exhibits thereto and any registration statements on 
Form S-8 or its equivalent) and annual, quarterly or monthly reports which the Borrower shall have filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission;  

(h) if and when any member of the Controlled Group (i) gives or is required to give notice to the PBGC of any "reportable event" (as defined in 
Section 4043 of ERISA) with respect to any Plan which might constitute grounds for a termination of such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or 
knows that the plan administrator of any Plan has given or is required to give notice of any such reportable event, a copy of the notice of such 
reportable event given or required to be given to the PBGC; (ii) receives notice of complete or partial withdrawal liability under Title IV of 
ERISA, a copy of such notice; or (iii) receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to terminate or appoint a trustee to 
administer any Plan, a copy of such notice;  

(i) within 20 days after the end of each calendar month, a Borrowing Base Certificate computed as of the last day of such calendar month; and  
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(j) from time to time such additional information regarding the financial position or business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as the 
Administrative Agent, at the request of any Bank, may reasonably request.  

SECTION 6.02. Inspection of Property, Books and Records. The Borrower will (i) keep, and cause each Subsidiary to keep, proper books of 
record and account in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to 
its business and activities; and (ii) permit, and cause each Subsidiary to permit, representatives of any Bank at such Bank's expense prior to the 
occurrence of a Default and at the Borrower's expense after the occurrence of a Default to visit and inspect any of their respective properties, to 
examine and make abstracts from any of their respective books and records and to discuss their respective affairs, finances and accounts with 
their respective officers, employees and independent public accountants. The Borrower agrees to cooperate and assist in such visits and 
inspections, in each case at such reasonable times and as often as may reasonably be desired.  
 
SECTION 6.03. Maintenance of Existence. The Borrower shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, maintain its corporate existence and carry 
on its business in substantially the same manner and in substantially the same fields as such business is now carried on and maintained.  
 
SECTION 6.04. Dissolution. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall suffer or permit dissolution or liquidation either in whole or 
in part or redeem or retire any shares of its own stock or that of any Subsidiary, except through corporate reorganization to the extent permitted 
by  
Section 6.05.  
 
SECTION 6.05. Consolidations, Mergers and Sales of Assets. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, consolidate or merge 
with or into, or sell, lease or otherwise transfer all or any substantial part of its assets to, any other Person, or discontinue or eliminate any 
business line or segment, provided that (a) the Borrower may merge with another Person if  
(i) such Person was organized under the laws of the United States of America or one of its states, (ii) the Borrower is the corporation surviving 
such merger and (iii) immediately after giving effect to such merger, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (b) Subsidiaries of the 
Borrower may merge with one another, and (c) the foregoing limitation on the sale, lease or other transfer of assets and on the discontinuation 
or elimination of a business line or segment shall not prohibit (1) a sale of Revenue Equipment as part of the Revenue Equipment Sales and 
Replacement Program or any Off-Lease Purchase and Resale Arrangement, or (2) subject to Sections 2.08(b) and 2.10(b), during any Fiscal 
Quarter, any other transfer of assets or the discontinuance or elimination of a business line or segment (in a single transaction or in a series of 
related transactions) unless the aggregate assets to be so transferred or utilized in a business line or segment to be so discontinued, when 
combined with all other assets transferred, and all other assets utilized in all other business lines or segments discontinued, during such Fiscal 
Quarter and the immediately preceding 3 Fiscal Quarters, either (x) constituted more than 10%  
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of Consolidated Total Assets at the end of the most recent Fiscal Year immediately preceding such Fiscal Quarter, or (y) contributed more than 
10% of Consolidated Operating Profits during the 4 Fiscal Quarters immediately preceding such Fiscal Quarter (and, upon request of the 
Borrower, the Collateral Agent shall release any Collateral sold as part of any transfers permitted by this Section 6.05(c)).  

SECTION 6.06. Use of Proceeds. No portion of the proceeds of the Loans will be used by the Borrower or any Subsidiary (i) in connection 
with, whether directly or indirectly, any tender offer for, or other acquisition of, stock of any corporation with a view towards obtaining control 
of such other corporation, unless such tender offer or other acquisition is to be made on a negotiated basis and with the approval (where the 
Person being acquired is a publicly traded company) of the Board of Directors of the Person to be acquired, and the provisions of Section 6.17 
would not be violated, (ii) directly or indirectly, for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of purchasing or carrying any 
Margin Stock, or (iii) for any purpose in violation of any applicable law or regulation.  
 
SECTION 6.07. Compliance with Laws; Payment of Taxes. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries and each member of the 
Controlled Group to, be in material compliance with applicable laws (including but not limited to ERISA), regulations and similar requirements 
of governmental authorities (including but not limited to PBGC), except where the necessity of such compliance is being contested in good 
faith through appropriate proceedings diligently pursued. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay promptly when due 
all taxes, assessments, governmental charges, claims for labor, supplies, rent and other obligations which: (A) if unpaid, might become a lien 
against the property of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, except liabilities being contested in good faith and against which, if requested by the 
Administrative Agent, the Borrower will set up reserves in accordance with GAAP; and (B) when combined with all other such taxes, 
assessments, governmental charges, claims for labor, supplies, rent and other obligations not paid promptly when due during the current Fiscal 
Quarter and the immediately preceding three Fiscal Quarters is greater than $500,000.  
 
SECTION 6.08. Insurance. The Borrower will maintain, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain (either in the name of the Borrower 
or in such Subsidiary's own name), with financially sound and reputable insurance companies, insurance on all its property in at least such 
amounts and against at least such risks (including on all its property, and public liability and worker's compensation) as are usually insured 
against in the same general area by companies of established repute engaged in the same or similar business.  
 
SECTION 6.09. Change in Fiscal Year. The Borrower will not change its Fiscal Year without the consent of the Required Banks.  
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SECTION 6.10. Maintenance of Property. The Borrower shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, maintain all of its properties and assets in 
good condition, repair and working order, ordinary wear and tear excepted.  
 
SECTION 6.11. Environmental Notices. The Borrower shall furnish to the Banks and the Administrative Agent prompt written notice of all 
Environmental Liabilities, pending, threatened in writing or anticipated (if material) Environmental Proceedings, Environmental Notices, 
Environmental Judgments and Orders, and Environmental Releases at, on, in, under or in any way affecting the Properties or, to the extent the 
Borrower is aware, any adjacent property, and all facts, events, or conditions that could lead to any of the foregoing.  
 
SECTION 6.12. Environmental Matters. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries will not, and will not permit any Third Party to, use, produce, 
manufacture, process, treat, recycle, generate, store, dispose of, manage at, or otherwise handle, or ship or transport to or from the Properties 
any Hazardous Materials except for Hazardous Materials used, produced, manufactured, processed, treated, recycled, generated, stored, 
disposed, managed, or otherwise handled in the ordinary course of business in compliance with all applicable Environmental Requirements.  
 
SECTION 6.13. Environmental Release. The Borrower agrees that upon the occurrence of an Environmental Release at or on any of the 
Properties it will act immediately to investigate the extent of, and to take appropriate remedial action to eliminate, such Environmental Release, 
whether or not ordered or otherwise directed to do so by any Environmental Authority.  
 
SECTION 6.14. Transactions with Affiliates. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall enter into, or be a party to, any transaction 
with any Affiliate of the Borrower or such Subsidiary (which Affiliate is not the Borrower or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary), except as permitted 
by law and in the ordinary course of business and pursuant to reasonable terms which are fully disclosed in public documents which have been 
delivered to the Banks, and are no less favorable to Borrower or such Subsidiary than would be obtained in a comparable arm's length 
transaction with a Person which is not an Affiliate.  
 
SECTION 6.15. Restricted Payments. The Borrower shall not declare or make any Restricted Payments at any time after January 10, 2001.  
 
SECTION 6.16. Loans or Advances. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall make loans or advances at any time after January 
10, 2001 to any Person except as permitted by Section 6.17 and except: (i) deposits required by government agencies or public utilities; and (ii) 
loans and advances to Wholly Owned Subsidiaries; (iii) advances to drivers made in the ordinary course of business and consistent with 
practices existing on the Closing Date; and (iv) other loans and advances not exceeding an aggregate principal amount outstanding at any time 
of $250,000; provided that after giving effect to the making of any loans,  
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advances or deposits permitted by this Section, no Default shall be in existence or be created thereby.  

SECTION 6.17. Investments. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall make Investments in any Person except as permitted by 
Section 6.16 and except Investments in (i) direct obligations of the United States Government maturing within one year, (ii) certificates of 
deposit issued by a commercial bank whose credit is satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, (iii) commercial paper rated A1 or the equivalent 
thereof by S&P or P1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody's and in either case maturing within 6 months after the date of acquisition, or (iv) 
tender bonds the payment of the principal of and interest on which is fully supported by a letter of credit issued by a United States bank whose 
long-term certificates of deposit are rated at least AA or the equivalent thereof by S&P and Aa or the equivalent thereof by Moody's; provided, 
however, immediately after giving effect to the making of any Investment, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing.  
 
SECTION 6.18. Liens. Neither the Borrower nor any Consolidated Subsidiary will create, assume or suffer to exist any Lien on any asset now 
owned or hereafter acquired by it, except:  

(a) Liens securing the Secured Obligations;  

(b) Liens existing on the date of this Agreement (other than those relating to the Secured Obligations) securing Debt outstanding on the date 
hereof described in Schedule 6.20 in the aggregate amount of $12,410,000;  

(c) Liens securing Debt owing by any Subsidiary to the Borrower;  

(d) any Lien arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Debt secured by any Lien permitted by any of the foregoing 
paragraphs of this Section, provided that (i) such Debt is not secured by any additional assets, and (ii) the amount of such Debt secured by any 
such Lien is not increased; and  

(e) Liens incidental to the conduct of its business or the ownership of its assets which (i) do not secure Debt and (ii) do not in the aggregate 
materially detract from the value of its assets or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of its business.  

SECTION 6.19. Restrictions on Ability of Subsidiaries to Pay Dividends. The Borrower shall not permit any Subsidiary to, directly or 
indirectly, create or otherwise cause or suffer to exist or become effective any encumbrance or restriction on the ability of any such Subsidiary 
to (i) pay any dividends or make any other distributions on its Capital Stock or any other interest or (ii) make or repay any loans or advances to 
the Borrower or the parent of such Subsidiary.  
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SECTION 6.20. Limitation on Debt. Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary will create, assume or suffer to exist any Debt, except:  

(a) Debt hereunder and under the Notes;  

(b) Existing Debt secured by Liens described in Schedule 6.20 in the aggregate amount of $12,410,000 and existing unsecured Debt described 
in Schedule 6.20 in the amount of $800,000; and  

(c) Debt owing to the Borrower or another Wholly Owned Subsidiary.  

SECTION 6.21. Ratio of Consolidated Total Adjusted Debt to Consolidated EBILTDA. The ratio of Consolidated Total Adjusted Debt to 
Consolidated EBILTDA will not, at the end of any Fiscal Quarter, exceed (i) 3.00 to 1.00 during the Fiscal Quarter ending on March 31, 2001, 
and (ii) thereafter, 2.75 to 1.00.  
 
SECTION 6.22. Ratio of Consolidated EBILT to Consolidated Fixed Charges. The ratio of (a) Consolidated EBILT to (b) Consolidated Fixed 
Charges will, as of the end of any Fiscal Quarter, exceed the following amounts during the corresponding periods set forth below:  
 

 
SECTION 6.23. Minimum Consolidated Net Worth. Consolidated Net Worth will at no time be less than the Consolidated Net Worth reflected 
on the balance sheet of the Borrower as at December 31, 2000, minus $500,000, plus the sum of (i) 75% of the cumulative Reported Net 
Income of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries during any period after December 31, 2000 (taken as one accounting period), 
calculated quarterly at the end of each Fiscal Quarter but excluding from such calculations of Reported Net Income for purposes of this clause 
(i), any Fiscal Quarter in which the Reported Net Income of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries is negative, and (ii) 100% of the 
cumulative Net Proceeds of Capital Stock received during any period after the Closing Date, calculated quarterly at the end of each Fiscal 
Quarter.  
 
SECTION 6.24. Limitation on Negative Pledge Clauses. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, enter into any agreement 
with any Person other than the Banks pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document which prohibits or limits the  
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            Period                                  Amount 
            ------                                  ------ 
Fiscal Quarter ending 12/31/00                   1. 00 to 1.00  
Fiscal Quarters ending 03/31/01, 6/30/01         1. 05 to 1.00  
         and 9/30/01 
Each Fiscal Quarter ending thereafter            1. 15 to 1.00  



ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its properties, assets, or revenues, 
whether now owned or hereafter acquired.  

SECTION 6.25. Limitation on Acquisitions. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, agree to or effect any asset acquisition 
or stock acquisition (other than the acquisition of assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices).  
 
SECTION 6.26. Creation of Subsidiaries. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, create any Subsidiary except for the 
creation of a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Borrower or of a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, provided that (i) such Subsidiary is organized under 
the laws of a jurisdiction within the United States of America, (ii) such Subsidiary executes at the time of its creation each of the following (or 
a joinder agreement pertaining thereto) the Guaranty Agreement, the Contribution Agreement and each of the Security Documents (if and to 
the extent that it owns Property of the type subject thereto), (iii) an opinion of counsel, acceptable to the Administrative Agent, is delivered to 
the Banks confirming the due organization of such Subsidiary, the enforceability of the Guaranty Agreement and such Security Documents 
against such Subsidiary, and such other matters as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request, and (iv) no Default exists immediately 
prior to or after the creation of the Subsidiary.  
 
SECTION 6.27. Collateral.  

(a) It is the intent of the parties hereto that the Secured Obligations shall be secured by the Collateral pursuant to this Agreement and the 
Security Documents, at the earliest practicable time, and that the actions to be taken pursuant to this Section 6.27 by the Collateral Agent and 
the Borrower which do not have specific time frames set forth herein shall be pursued with diligence and performed as soon as reasonably 
practical.  

(b) All Real Property of the Borrower and each Guarantor as of the Closing Date is listed on Schedule 6.27, which shows, as to each Real 
Property:  
(1) the city, town or other local jurisdiction, and county and state of its location; (2) whether the land on which such Real Property is located is 
owned or leased by the Borrower or a Guarantor, and if leased, the name and address of the owner; (3) all Liens on the Real Property; and (4) 
to the extent available on the Closing Date, and in any event no later than 30 days after the Closing Date, the name, address and type of interest 
of any Third Party whose consent is required in connection with the execution, delivery, recording and performance of a Mortgage as to such 
Real Property, and whether such consent has been obtained.  

(i) As soon as practicable as to each item, but in any event within 30 days after the Closing Date (or, as to any Real Property which is not 
Designated Real Property on the Closing Date, after the date the Collateral Agent notifies the Borrower of such designation), the Borrower and 
the Guarantors, as applicable, shall deliver to the Collateral Agent copies of any existing owner's title insurance policies, surveys and 
environmental inspection reports, as to such Designated Real Property which the  
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Borrower or any Guarantor has in its possession. In the event the Borrower or any Guarantor acquires, after the Closing Date, any new Real 
Property (either by acquisition of fee simple title or by acquiring a leasehold interest), it will furnish an amendment to or supplement of 
Schedule 6.27 to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and each of the Banks, together with copies of any existing owner's title 
insurance policies, surveys and environmental inspection reports, as to such new Real Property which the Borrower or any Guarantor has in its 
possession within 5 days after such acquisition adding such new Real Property thereto, and if the Administrative Agent (acting at the direction 
of the Required Banks) shall so designate, such new Real Property shall become Designated Real Property, for all purposes hereunder and the 
provisions of clause (ii) below shall apply thereto.  

(ii) As soon as practicable as to each item, but in any event within 60 days after the Closing Date (or, as to any Real Property which is not 
Designated Real Property on the Closing Date, after the date the Collateral Agent notifies the Borrower of such designation), the Borrower and 
the Guarantors, as applicable, shall execute (as applicable) and deliver to the Collateral Agent: (1) the Mortgages and UCC-1 financing 
statements relating to the fixtures located at the premises described therein as to all Designated Real Property; provided, however, that as to any 
Mortgage on a leasehold, the Borrower agrees that it shall use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue and obtain any required consent; and 
(2) all other Real Property Documentation with respect thereto (including a mortgagee title policy, a current survey and an environmental 
inspection report) and related lien searches; provided, however, that if a "Phase 2" report is recommended in any Phase 1 report as to any 
Designated Real Property or the Collateral Agent determines in its reasonable judgment, based on such Phase 1 report, that a Phase 2 report 
should be obtained, such Phase 2 report shall be obtained and furnished as soon as reasonably practicable after such 60 day period ends, if it 
cannot be obtained and furnished within such 60 day period. If the Borrower or any Guarantor acquires any other Real Property, it shall 
promptly furnish to the Collateral Agent and the Secured Parties a supplement to Schedule 6.27 including such additional Real Property and 
furnish to the Collateral Agent a Mortgage and appropriate UCC-1 financing statements requested by the Collateral Agent with respect to each 
such Real Property which is designated as Designated Real Property.  

(c) The Borrower and each Guarantor has been furnished the forms of Collateral Disclosure Certificates to complete and deliver to the 
Collateral Agent and its counsel. Lien search reports as to personal property will be obtained by counsel for the Collateral Agent after receipt of 
such Collateral Disclosure Certificates. In addition, the Borrower shall furnish to the Collateral Agent and its counsel, as soon as practicable, 
either as part of the relevant Collateral Disclosure Certificate or separately, a complete list of all Revenue Equipment (the "Revenue Equipment 
List"), showing, for each item, (i) its make, model and serial number, (ii) identification of the state which issued a certificate of title with 
respect thereto, any certificate of title number assigned thereto, whether there is a holder of a Lien noted thereon, and  
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identification of any such holder (including name and address). All such Collateral Disclosure Certificates, duly completed, and the Revenue 
Equipment List shall be furnished to the Collateral Agent and its counsel as soon as practicable as to each item, but in any event within 30 days 
after the Closing Date (the "Personal Property Due Diligence Submission Date").  

(i) At any time after the Personal Property Due Diligence Submission Date, in the discretion of the Collateral Agent (when the Collateral Agent 
or its counsel is satisfied that it has received most of the personal property lien search reports), the Exhibits to the Security Agreement will be 
prepared, including Exhibit B, listing Permitted Encumbrances based on such lien search reports so received, and the Security Agreement, 
together with UCC-1 financing statements relating thereto, shall be delivered to the Borrower and the Guarantors for execution and delivery to 
counsel for the Collateral Agent, and the Borrowers and the Guarantors shall duly execute the Security Agreement (together with a favorable 
opinion reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent regarding the validity, binding effect and enforceability thereof) and such UCC-1 
financing statements and deliver them to such counsel within 5 days of receipt. To the extent liens search reports ordered on behalf of the 
Collateral Agent have not been received as of such time, such Exhibit B shall be modified after all such lien search reports have been received 
to include additional Permitted Encumbrances reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent based on such additional lien search reports. The 
Borrower and the Guarantors shall cooperate with the Collateral Agent and any Co-Collateral Agent in connection with the application for new 
certificates of title for Eligible Revenue Equipment, showing the Lien of the Collateral Agent or any Co-Collateral Agent thereon, and in 
arranging a system and procedure for delivering all such certificates of title to the Collateral Agent or Co-Collateral Agent, and for releasing 
the same as and when Eligible Revenue Equipment and other Revenue Equipment is sold as permitted hereby. The Borrower shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to pursue and obtain such agreements with Third Parties (including acknowledgements, lien waivers and 
agreements as to access to personal property from any warehouse owner or processor where any of such personal property may be located) as 
the Collateral Agent may reasonably require.  

(ii) At any time after the Personal Property Due Diligence Submission Date, in the discretion of the Collateral Agent, the Stock Pledge 
Agreement, including the Exhibits thereto, will be prepared based on the information obtained in the Collateral Disclosure Certificates or 
otherwise furnished by the Borrower and delivered to the Borrower and the relevant Guarantors for execution and delivery to counsel for the 
Collateral Agent, and the Borrowers and the relevant Guarantors shall duly execute the Stock Pledge Agreement and deliver it to such counsel 
within 5 days of receipt, together with the powers of attorney or blank stock powers pursuant thereto and with delivery of the relevant stock 
certificates or evidence of registration of the pledge or such other document or other writing which the Administrative Agent may reasonably 
require with respect thereto (including the execution by the relevant financial intermediary of an  
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account control agreement, as to any uncertificated securities). It is the intent of the parties that the Borrower and each Guarantor shall, 
pursuant to the Stock Pledge Agreement, pledge to the Collateral Agent (1) all shares of capital stock or other securities or ownership interests 
held by it on the Closing Date in any Person, whether such Person is a Subsidiary or not (including, without limitation, Transplace.com, LLC 
but such pledge as to Transplace.com, LLC shall only be effective upon (x) receipt of unanimous consent of the "Members" of Transplace.com, 
LLC under its Operating Agreement dated April 29, 2000 (which the Borrower agrees to use commercially reasonably efforts to seek to obtain 
at the earliest practicable time), or (y) to the extent, if any, the prohibition on such pledge contained in Section 11.4 of such Operating 
Agreement is modified to permit such a pledge or (z) a public offering of equity interests in Transplace.com, LLC, to the extent such pledge 
would then be permitted under such Operating Agreement or other operative organic governing documents of Transplace.com, LLC or its 
successor, and the Borrower hereby agrees to notify the Collateral Agent of the occurrence of any such event promptly, and in any event within 
2 Domestic Business Days, after such occurrence, and (2) all shares of capital stock or other securities or ownership interests in any Person 
acquired by any of them after the Closing Date. If the Borrower or any Guarantor acquires any additional shares of stock or securities or other 
ownership interests in any Person other than a Subsidiary after the Closing Date, within 5 days of such acquisition, it shall notify the 
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Banks thereof, and deliver to the Collateral Agent an amendment or supplement to Exhibit 
A to the Stock Pledge Agreement, describing such shares, together with the powers of attorney or blank stock powers pursuant thereto and with 
delivery of the relevant stock certificates or evidence of registration of the pledge or such other document or other writing (including the 
execution by the relevant financial intermediary of an account control agreement, as to any uncertificated securities), which the Administrative 
Agent may reasonably require with respect thereto.  

(d) Counsel for the Collateral Agent shall file for record, as applicable, as and when available, each of the Mortgages (and related UCC-1 
financing statements pertaining to related fixtures) as to all of the Designated Real Property, each of the UCC-1 financing statements relating to 
the Security Agreement, and the Borrower shall pay all recording fees and costs and stamp, intangible or other taxes payable in connection with 
the filing for record of the Mortgages and UCC-1 financing statements (collectively, the "Recording Expenses"). Such filings may be effected 
as to any Designated Real Property even if some of the Real Property Documentation has not yet been received, if the Collateral Agent so 
elects or is so directed by the Required Banks.  

SECTION 6.28. Covenants Pertaining to Synthetic Lease Documents and Hedging Agreements; More Restrictive Agreements.  

(a) It is acknowledged and agreed by all parties hereto that the Synthetic Lease Documents will be amended as soon as reasonably practicable, 
but effective January 31,  
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2001, to: (1) conform the Synthetic Lease Documents to and include therein the affirmative, negative and financial covenants contained in 
Article VI hereof (collectively, the "Identified Covenants") (but other covenants peculiar to such transaction, including, without limitation, 
those related to the synthetic lease nature thereof or relating to the operation or maintenance of the property leased pursuant thereto, need not be 
modified); (ii) modify the calculation and determination of the "Yield" portion of "Rent" payable pursuant thereto to reflect the Applicable 
Margin as determined in Section 2.05 (the "Identified Pricing"); and (iii) to change the Scheduled Lease Termination Date therein to one year 
after the Termination Date contained herein (the "Identified Maturity Date"). No voluntary prepayment of Synthetic Lease Obligations shall be 
made without the express written consent of the Required Banks.  

(b) Wachovia, on behalf of the Synthetic Lease Funding Parties, and each Bank which has, or whose Affiliate has, Hedge Obligations, on 
behalf of the Hedge Providers, hereby agree, that if it shall exercise any right of setoff with respect to any deposit or deposit account of the 
Borrower or any Guarantor held by or with, such right will be exercised as to its Notes, and not as to the Synthetic Lease Obligations or the 
Hedge Obligations, and such amount shall be shared pursuant to Section 10.05(b); provided, that (i) the foregoing shall not apply to any special 
deposit expressly required by the Synthetic Lease Documents or any of the Hedging Agreements prior to the Closing Date (and not added 
thereto in contemplation of the Closing Date); and (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to any cash collateral held by Wachovia or any Hedge 
Provider (and not applied to its Synthetic Lease Obligations or Hedge Obligations) which is derived from its receipt of a distribution to it 
pursuant to Section 7.03, unless and until its Synthetic Lease Obligations or Hedge Obligations, as the case may be, have been paid in full, and 
it has no further obligation under the Synthetic Lease Documents or Hedging Agreements, as applicable.  

(c) Except for the conforming amendments to the Synthetic Lease Documents contemplated in paragraph (a) above, the Borrower will not 
revise the Synthetic Lease Documents, or become a party to any other credit facility or other agreement relating to the incurrence of Debt, to 
include therein or which contains any affirmative, negative or financial covenants more restrictive than the Identified Covenants, or to include 
or contain any pricing less favorable to the Borrower than the Identified Pricing, or to require or contain scheduled principal payments or a 
maturity date earlier than one year after the Identified Maturity Date, as to the Synthetic Lease Documents, or the Identified Maturity Date, as 
to any other credit facility or agreement, without (i) the Administrative Agent's and the Required Banks' prior written consent, or (ii) if 
requested by the Administrative Agent and the Required Banks, executing and delivering an amendment to this Agreement and, if necessary, to 
the other Loan Documents, in order to provide the same more restrictive covenants, pricing and maturity date in favor of the Administrative 
Agent and the Lenders, as may be requested.  
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ARTICLE VII  

DEFAULTS  

SECTION 7.01. Events of Default. If one or more of the following events ("Events of Default") shall have occurred and be continuing:  

(a) the Borrower shall fail to pay when due any principal of any Loan or any Reimbursement Obligations with respect to any Letter of Credit or 
shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan within 5 Domestic Business Days after such interest shall become due, or shall fail to pay any fee or 
other amount payable hereunder within 5 Domestic Business Days after such fee or other amount becomes due; or  

(b) the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant contained in Sections 6.01(e), 6.02(ii), 6.03 through 6.06, inclusive, or Sections 
6.15 through 6.25, inclusive; or  

(c) the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant or agreement contained or incorporated by reference in this Agreement (other 
than those covered by paragraph (a) or (b) above) and such failure shall not have been cured within 30 days after the earlier to occur of (i) 
written notice thereof has been given to the Borrower by the Administrative Agent at the request of any Bank or (ii) the Borrower otherwise 
becomes aware of any such failure; or  

(d) any representation, warranty, certification or statement made by the Borrower in Article V of this Agreement or by the Borrower or any 
Subsidiary in any certificate, financial statement, Loan Document or other document delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall prove to have 
been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made (or deemed made); or  

(e) the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall fail to make any payment in respect of Debt in an aggregate amount in excess of $1,000,000 
outstanding (other than the Notes) when due or within any applicable grace period; or  

(f) any event or condition shall occur which results in the acceleration of the maturity of Debt in an aggregate amount in excess of $1,000,000 
outstanding of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (including, without limitation, any required mandatory prepayment or "put" of such Debt to the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary) or enables (or, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would enable) the holders of such Debt or 
commitment or any Person acting on such holders' behalf to accelerate the maturity thereof or terminate any such commitment (including, 
without limitation, any required mandatory prepayment or "put" of such Debt to the Borrower or any Subsidiary); or  
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(g) the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with 
respect to itself or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment of a 
trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any substantial part of its property, or shall consent to any such relief or 
to the appointment of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other proceeding commenced against it, or shall make 
a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally, or shall admit in writing its inability, to pay its debts as they become 
due, or shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the foregoing; or  

(h) an involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against the Borrower or any Subsidiary seeking liquidation, reorganization or 
other relief with respect to it or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the 
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any substantial part of its property, and such involuntary 
case or other proceeding shall remain undismissed and unstayed for a period of 60 days; or an order for relief shall be entered against the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary under the federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter in effect; or  

(i) the Borrower or any member of the Controlled Group shall fail to pay when due any material amount which it shall have become liable to 
pay to the PBGC or to a Plan under Title IV of ERISA; or notice of intent to terminate a Plan or Plans shall be filed under Title IV of ERISA 
by the Borrower, any member of the Controlled Group, any plan administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or the PBGC shall institute 
proceedings under Title IV of ERISA to terminate or to cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any such Plan or Plans or a proceeding 
shall be instituted by a fiduciary of any such Plan or Plans to enforce Section 515 or 4219(c)(5) of ERISA and such proceeding shall not have 
been dismissed within 30 days thereafter; or a condition shall exist by reason of which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree 
adjudicating that any such Plan or Plans must be terminated; or  

(j) one or more judgments or orders for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of $500,000 shall be rendered against the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary and such judgment or order shall continue unsatisfied and unstayed for a period of 30 days; or  

(k) a federal tax lien shall be filed against the Borrower or any Subsidiary under Section 6323 of the Code or a lien of the PBGC shall be filed 
against the Borrower or any Subsidiary under Section 4068 of ERISA and in either case such lien shall remain undischarged for a period of 25 
days after the date of filing; or  
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(l) (i) any Person or two or more Persons acting in concert shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of outstanding shares of the voting stock of the Borrower 
representing 20% or more of the votes eligible to be cast for the election of the Borrower's Board of Directors; or (ii) as of any date a majority 
of the Board of Directors of the Borrower consists of individuals who were not either (A) directors of the Borrower as of the corresponding 
date of the previous year, (B) selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of the Borrower of which a majority 
consisted of individuals described in clause (A), or (C) selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of the Borrower of 
which a majority consisted of individuals described in clause (A) and individuals described in clause (B); or  

(m) the occurrence of any event, act, occurrence, or condition which the Required Banks determine either does or has a reasonable probability 
of causing a Material Adverse Effect.  

then, and in every such event, (i) the Administrative Agent shall, if requested by the Required Banks, by notice to the Borrower terminate the 
Commitments and they shall thereupon terminate; (ii) the Administrative Agent shall, if requested by the Required Banks, by notice to the 
Borrower declare the Notes (together with accrued interest thereon), and all other amounts payable hereunder and under the other Loan 
Documents, to be, and the Notes, including the Swing Loan Note (together with accrued interest thereon), and all other amounts payable 
hereunder and under the other Loan Documents shall thereupon become, immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or 
other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower together with interest at the Default Rate accruing on the principal 
amount thereof from and after the date of such Event of Default; provided that if any Event of Default specified in paragraph (g) or (h) above 
occurs with respect to the Borrower, without any notice to the Borrower or any other act by the Administrative Agent or the Banks, the 
Commitments shall thereupon terminate and the Notes (together with accrued interest thereon) and all other amounts payable hereunder and 
under the other Loan Documents shall automatically and without notice become immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, 
protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower together with interest thereon at the Default Rate accruing 
on the principal amount thereof from and after the date of such Event of Default; and (iii) the Collateral Agent and any Co-Collateral Agent 
shall take such actions as are directed by the Required Banks, and apply any proceeds of the Collateral as provided in Section 7.03. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and any Co-Collateral Agent shall have available to it all other 
remedies at law or equity, and shall exercise any one or all of them at the request of the Required Banks.  

In addition, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, to the extent of any existing Letter of Credit Obligations, the Administrative Agent 
may immediately advance the  
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principal amount thereof and set aside the amounts so advanced as a collateral reserve for payment of the Reimbursement Obligations relating 
to Letters of Credit which are subsequently funded. After all Letters of Credit have been cancelled and all Reimbursement Obligations have 
been satisfied, and the Administrative Agent has been reimbursed all amounts funded by it with respect thereto, any balance remaining in said 
collateral reserve may be applied to other amounts owed by the Borrower hereunder, and, if none, shall be remitted to Borrower. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrative Agent shall have available to it all other remedies at law or equity, and shall exercise any 
one or all of them at the request of the Required Banks.  

SECTION 7.02. Notice of Default. The Administrative Agent shall give notice to the Borrower of any Default under Section 7.01(c) promptly 
upon being requested to do so by any Bank and shall thereupon notify all the Banks thereof.  
 
SECTION 7.03. Application of Proceeds. In the event the Administrative Agent exercises any rights, powers or remedies under the Security 
Documents, or otherwise receives and payment or distribution on account of the Collateral, all such amounts shall be applied as follows:  

FIRST: To the payment of all Enforcement Costs and other costs, expenses, liabilities and advances made or incurred by the Administrative 
Agent or the Secured Parties, or any of them, in connection with the administration, collection and enforcement of the Secured Obligations and 
the sale or other realization upon the Collateral, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses actually incurred of the Administrative 
Agent and the customary fees of the Administrative Agent, which fees, costs, expenses, liabilities and advances are unpaid as of such date of 
distribution;  

SECOND: To each of the Secured Parties to the extent of its Secured Obligations (but limited, as to the Synthetic Lease Obligations, to the 
Senior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations), calculated on outstanding principal balance thereof on the date of distribution (regardless of 
whether such Secured Obligations have matured, by acceleration or otherwise), for application to their respective Secured Obligations (or 
retaining as cash collateral to secure Secured Obligations, as appropriate, in the case of the Senior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations and the 
Hedge Obligations), in an amount equal to its Percentage Interest in the funds available for distribution as of the date of receipt, without 
priority of any one over any other, until the Secured Obligations (other than the Junior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations) have been paid in 
full;  

THIRD, to the Synthetic Lease Funding Parties, for application to the Junior Synthetic Lease Secured Obligations (or retaining as cash 
collateral therefor, as appropriate); and  

FOURTH: Any surplus then remaining after payment of all Secured Obligations shall be paid to the Borrower or a Guarantor, as applicable, as 
its interests may appear, or as a court of competent jurisdiction may direct.  
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In determining the amount of the Synthetic Lease Senior Secured Obligations and Synthetic Lease Junior Secured Obligations of any Synthetic 
Lease Funding Party or the Hedge Obligations of any Hedge Provider, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely on a written statement 
from Wachovia, as to the Synthetic Lease Obligations, and each Hedge Provider, as to the Hedge Obligations, sent to the Administrative 
Agent, with a copy sent simultaneously to each of the other Secured Parties and the Company, stating the amounts which said Secured Party in 
good faith reasonably believes to be its Synthetic Lease Senior Secured Obligations, Synthetic Lease Junior Secured Obligations or Hedge 
Obligations, as the case may be (which statement shall itemize the various components thereof, such as interest, principal, fees, etc.). Such 
statements shall be conclusive or binding on any Secured Party which has failed to object to the statement within 5 Domestic Business Days of 
receipt of a copy of said statement. Wachovia, as to the Synthetic Lease Obligations, and each Hedge Provider, as to the Hedge Obligations, 
agrees to give such a statement as to the amount of its Synthetic Lease Senior Secured Obligations, Synthetic Lease Junior Secured Obligations 
or Hedge Obligations, as the case may be, promptly after a request by the Administrative Agent therefor. Prior to making any distribution 
hereunder, the Administrative Agent shall make a request to Wachovia and each Hedge Provider for a statement of Synthetic Lease Senior 
Secured Obligations, Synthetic Lease Junior Secured Obligations or Hedge Obligations, as the case may be, in accordance with the 
immediately preceding sentence if the most recent statements of such types of Secured Obligations then in the possession of the Administrative 
Agent are more than 30 days old. In addition to the foregoing, Wachovia, as to the Synthetic Lease Obligations, and each Hedge Provider, as to 
the Hedge Obligations, agrees that it will from time to time provide such information that is available to it to the Administrative Agent as may 
be necessary to enable the Administrative Agent to make any calculation hereunder or otherwise required for any purpose hereof.  

ARTICLE VIII  

THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT  

SECTION 8.01. Appointment; Powers and Immunities.  

(a) Each Bank hereby irrevocably appoints and authorizes the Administrative Agent to act as its Administrative Agent hereunder and under the 
other Loan Documents with such powers as are specifically delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together 
with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Administrative Agent: (a) shall have no duties or responsibilities except as 
expressly set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and shall not by reason of this Agreement or any other Loan Document be 
a trustee for any Bank; (b) shall not be responsible to the Banks for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties contained in this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document, or in any certificate or other document referred to or provided for in, or received by any Bank under, 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or for the validity, effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or 
any other Loan Document or any  
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other document referred to or provided for herein or therein or for any failure by the Borrower to perform any of its obligations hereunder or 
thereunder; (c) shall not be required to initiate or conduct any litigation or collection proceedings hereunder or under any other Loan Document 
except to the extent requested by the Required Banks, and then only on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and (d) 
shall not be responsible for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it hereunder or under any other Loan Document or any other document 
or instrument referred to or provided for herein or therein or in connection herewith or therewith, except for its own gross negligence or willful 
misconduct. The Administrative Agent may employ Agents and attorneys-in-fact and shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct 
of any such Agents or attorneys-in-fact selected by it with reasonable care. The provisions of this Article VIII are solely for the benefit of the 
Administrative Agent and the Banks, and the Borrower shall not have any rights as a third party beneficiary of any of the provisions hereof. In 
performing its functions and duties under this Agreement and under the other Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent shall act solely as 
Administrative Agent of the Banks and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligation towards or relationship of 
agency or trust with or for the Borrower. The duties of the Administrative Agent shall be ministerial and administrative in nature, and the 
Administrative Agent shall not have by reason of this Agreement or any other Loan Document a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Bank.  

(b) Each Bank hereby designates Bank of America, N.A. as Syndication Agent, Fleet National Bank as Documentation Agent, and SunTrust 
Bank as Co- Agent. Each of the Syndication Agent, Documentation Agent and Co-Agent, in such capacities, shall have no duties or obligations 
whatsoever under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any other document or any matter related hereto and thereto, but shall 
nevertheless be entitled to all the indemnities and other protection afforded to the Administrative Agent under this Article VIII.  

SECTION 8.02. Reliance by Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any certification, notice or other 
communication (including any thereof by telephone, telecopier, telegram or cable) believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been 
signed or sent by or on behalf of the proper Person or Persons, and upon advice and statements of legal counsel, independent accountants or 
other experts selected by the Administrative Agent. As to any matters not expressly provided for by this Agreement or any other Loan 
Document, the Administrative Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, hereunder and thereunder in 
accordance with instructions signed by the Required Banks, and such instructions of the Required Banks in any action taken or failure to act 
pursuant thereto shall be binding on all of the Banks.  
 
SECTION 8.03. Defaults. The Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or an Event of 
Default (other than the nonpayment of principal of or interest on the Loans) unless the Administrative Agent has received notice from a Bank 
or the Borrower specifying such Default or Event of Default and stating that such notice is a "Notice of Default". In the event that the 
Administrative Agent receives such a notice of the  
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occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to the Banks. The Administrative 
Agent shall give each Bank prompt notice of each nonpayment of principal of or interest on the Loans whether or not such Bank has received 
any notice of the occurrence of such nonpayment. The Administrative Agent shall (subject to Section 10.06) take such action hereunder with 
respect to such Default or Event of Default as shall be directed by the Required Banks, provided that, unless and until the Administrative Agent 
shall have received such directions, the Administrative Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such action, or refrain from taking such 
action, with respect to such Default or Event of Default as it shall deem advisable in the best interests of the Banks.  

SECTION 8.04. Rights of Administrative Agent and its Affiliates as a Bank. With respect to the Loans made by the Administrative Agent and 
any  

Affiliate of the Administrative Agent, Wachovia in its capacity as a Bank hereunder and any Affiliate of the Administrative Agent or such 
Affiliate in its capacity as a Bank hereunder shall have the same rights and powers hereunder as any other Bank and may exercise the same as 
though Wachovia were not acting as the Administrative Agent, and the term "Bank" or "Banks" shall, unless the context otherwise indicates, 
include Wachovia in its individual capacity and any Affiliate of the Administrative Agent in its individual capacity. The Administrative Agent 
and any Affiliate of the Administrative Agent may (without having to account therefor to any Bank) accept deposits from, lend money to and 
generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with the Borrower (and any of the Borrower's Affiliates) as if Wachovia were 
not acting as the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent and any Affiliate of the Administrative Agent may accept fees and other 
consideration from the Borrower (in addition to any agency fees and arrangement fees heretofore agreed to between the Borrower and the 
Administrative Agent) for services in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document or otherwise without having to account for 
the same to the Banks.  
 
SECTION 8.05. Indemnification. Each Bank severally agrees to indemnify the Administrative Agent, to the extent the Administrative Agent 
shall not have been reimbursed by the Borrower, ratably in accordance with its Commitment, for any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, 
damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses (including, without limitation, counsel fees and disbursements) or disbursements 
of any kind and nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent in any way relating to 
or arising out of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any other documents contemplated by or referred to herein or therein or the 
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (excluding, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the normal administrative 
costs and expenses incident to the performance of its agency duties hereunder) or the enforcement of any of the terms hereof or thereof or any 
such other documents; provided that no Bank shall be liable for any of the foregoing to the extent they arise from the gross negligence or wilful 
misconduct of the Administrative Agent. If any indemnity furnished to the Administrative Agent for any purpose shall, in the opinion of the 
Administrative Agent, be insufficient or become impaired, the Administrative Agent may call for additional indemnity and  
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cease, or not commence, to do the acts indemnified against until such additional indemnity is furnished.  

SECTION 8.06. Consequential Damages. THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE OR LIABLE TO ANY 
BANK, THE BORROWER OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
DAMAGES WHICH MAY BE ALLEGED AS A RESULT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY OF 
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.  
 
SECTION 8.07. Payee of Note Treated as Owner. The Administrative Agent may deem and treat the payee of any Note as the owner thereof 
for all purposes hereof unless and until a written notice of the assignment or transfer thereof shall have been filed with the Administrative 
Agent and the provisions of Section 10.08(c) have been satisfied. Any requests, authority or consent of any Person who at the time of making 
such request or giving such authority or consent is the holder of any Note shall be conclusive and binding on any subsequent holder, transferee 
or assignee of that Note or of any Note or Notes issued in exchange therefor or replacement thereof.  
 
SECTION 8.08. Nonreliance on Administrative Agent and Other Banks. Each Bank agrees that it has, independently and without reliance on 
the Administrative Agent or any other Bank, and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit 
analysis of the Borrower and decision to enter into this Agreement and that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative 
Agent or any other Bank, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own 
analysis and decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. The Administrative Agent shall 
not be required to keep itself (or any Bank) informed as to the performance or observance by the Borrower of this Agreement or any of the 
other Loan Documents or any other document referred to or provided for herein or therein or to inspect the properties or books of the Borrower 
or any other Person. Except for notices, reports and other documents and information expressly required to be furnished to the Banks by the 
Administrative Agent hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty or responsibility to 
provide any Bank with any credit or other information concerning the affairs, financial condition or business of the Borrower or any other 
Person (or any of their Affiliates) which may come into the possession of the Administrative Agent.  
 
SECTION 8.09. Failure to Act. Except for action expressly required of the Administrative Agent hereunder or under the other Loan 
Documents, the Administrative Agent shall in all cases be fully justified in failing or refusing to act hereunder and thereunder unless it shall 
receive further assurances to its satisfaction by the Banks of their indemnification obligations under Section 8.05 against any and all liability 
and expense which may be incurred  
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by the Administrative Agent by reason of taking, continuing to take, or failing to take any such action.  

SECTION 8.10. Resignation or Removal of Administrative Agent. Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor Administrative 
Agent as provided below, the Administrative Agent may resign at any time by giving notice thereof to the Banks and the Borrower and the 
Administrative Agent may be removed at any time with or without cause by the Required Banks. Upon any such resignation or removal, the 
Required Banks shall have the right to appoint a successor Administrative Agent. If no successor Administrative Agent shall have been so 
appointed by the Required Banks and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Administrative Agent's notice of 
resignation or the Required Banks' removal of the retiring Administrative Agent, then the retiring Administrative Agent may, on behalf of the 
Banks, appoint a successor Administrative Agent. Any successor Administrative Agent shall be a bank which has a combined capital and 
surplus of at least $500,000,000. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor Administrative 
Agent, such successor Administrative Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of 
the retiring Administrative Agent, and the retiring Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. After 
any retiring Administrative Agent's resignation or removal hereunder as Administrative Agent, the provisions of this Article VIII shall continue 
in effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as the Administrative Agent hereunder.  
 
SECTION 8.11. Provisions Applicable to Collateral Agent. The following provisions apply to the Administrative Agent in its capacity as 
collateral agent under the Security Documents (in such capacity, the "Collateral Agent").  

(a) The Borrower shall indemnify the Collateral Agent, the Secured Parties and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents from, 
and hold each of them harmless against, any and all losses, liabilities, claims or damages to which any of them may become subject, or which 
the Collateral Agent may reasonably incur as a result of the execution, delivery or performance under the Security Documents, or as a result of 
the Collateral Agent's serving as such thereunder (including, without limitation, its fees and expenses, reasonable counsel fees and 
disbursements and environmental liabilities arising from or related to any of the properties described in the Security Documents), (ii) each 
Secured Party severally agrees to indemnify the Collateral Agent, to the extent the Collateral Agent shall not have been reimbursed by the 
Company, ratably in accordance with its Percentage Interest, for any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
judgments, suits, costs, expenses which the Collateral Agent may incur as a result of the execution, delivery or performance under the Security 
Documents or as a result of the Collateral Agent's serving as such thereunder (including, without limitation, reasonable counsel fees and 
disbursements and environmental liabilities arising from or related to any of the properties described in the Security Documents and any 
actions taken by the Collateral Agent, at the direction of the Required Banks, in each case if and  
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as expressly required and provided by this Agreement, to enforce any of the Security Documents), but in all such cases excluding any such 
losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by reason of the gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith of the Collateral 
Agent or any Secured Party and excluding the normal administrative costs and expenses incident to the performance of its agency duties under 
the Security Documents or hereunder.  

(b) The Collateral Agent shall not be responsible for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties herein or in any of the Security 
Documents or for insuring or inspecting the Collateral or for paying or discharging any tax, assessment, governmental charge or lien affecting 
the Collateral, nor shall the Collateral Agent be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the performance or observance of any covenants, conditions 
or agreements of the Company contained herein or in any of the Security Documents, including but not limited to agreements by the Company 
to maintain insurance and pay taxes; provided, however, that nothing in this subsection (b) shall relieve the Collateral Agent of the performance 
of any of its duties specifically set forth in this Agreement.  

(c) The Collateral Agent makes no representation or warranty as to the validity, sufficiency or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the 
Security Documents or Transaction Documents against any other Person, as to the value, title, condition, fitness for use of, or otherwise with 
respect to the Collateral or as to the perfection or priority of the liens or security interests created thereby.  

(d) The Collateral Agent may rely upon and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon and, absent a request by the Required 
Banks, shall not be bound to investigate the facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, 
request, direction, consent, order, bond, note or other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or 
presented by the proper party or parties.  

(e) The Collateral Agent may consult with counsel, appraisers, engineers, accountants and other skilled persons to be selected by the Collateral 
Agent and which are reasonably acceptable to the Required Banks and the written advice of any thereof shall be full and complete authorization 
and protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in reasonable reliance thereon.  

(f) Wachovia shall be entitled to compensation as Collateral Agent as provided in a separate letter agreement with the Company. Any Collateral 
Agent other than Wachovia which may hereafter be appointed (an "Other Collateral Agent") shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for all 
services rendered hereunder, as set forth below, and Wachovia and any Other Collateral Agent shall also be entitled to reimbursement for all 
reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances incurred or made by it, in and about the administration of the matters herein provided for and 
in and about the foreclosure, enforcement or other protection  
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of this Agreement, the Collateral or the liens and security interests provided in the Security Documents. The compensation of any Other 
Collateral Agent shall be in accordance with a fee schedule to be agreed to from time to time by the Company and the Other Collateral Agent, 
plus expenses and disbursements. Any Other Collateral Agent shall provide a copy of any such schedule to the Secured Parties and, upon any 
modification of the fee schedule, the Collateral Agent shall give prompt written notice thereof to the Company and to each Secured Party. 
Compensation and reimbursement of the Collateral Agent pursuant to this  
Section 19 shall be paid by the Company upon demand.  

(g) The Collateral Agent may resign at any time by giving at least 30 days' prior notice thereof to the Secured Parties (such resignation to take 
effect upon the acceptance of a successor collateral agent as hereinafter provided). The Collateral Agent may be removed as Collateral Agent 
hereunder for or without cause, at any time by the Required Banks. In the event of any such resignation or removal of the Collateral Agent, the 
Required Banks shall thereupon have the right to appoint a successor Collateral Agent. If no acceptable successor Collateral Agent shall have 
been so appointed by the Required Secured Parties and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Collateral 
Agent's giving of notice of resignation or its removal, the retiring Collateral Agent shall, on behalf of the Secured Parties, appoint a successor 
collateral agent. Any successor collateral agent appointed by the Collateral Agent pursuant to this Section 8.11(g)s hall be a commercial bank 
organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof and having a combined capital and surplus of at least 
$200,000,000. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as collateral agent hereunder by a successor collateral agent, such successor collateral 
agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring or removed Collateral 
Agent, and the retiring or removed Collateral Agent shall thereupon be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. After any retiring 
or removed Collateral Agent's resignation or removal hereunder as collateral agent, the provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect for 
its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as the collateral agent.  

(h) The Collateral Agent, with the consent of the Required Banks, shall have power to appoint one or more persons to act as co-collateral agent 
(a "Co-Collateral Agent"), jointly with the Collateral Agent, or separate agent or separate agents, of all or any part of the Collateral, including, 
without limitation with respect to the Eligible Revenue Equipment, as contemplated in  
Section 6.27(c)(i) and to vest in such person or persons, in such capacity, such title to the Collateral or any part thereof, and such rights, 
powers, duties, trusts or obligations as the Collateral Agent, with the consent of the Required Banks, may consider necessary or desirable in 
any case only for the purpose of meeting any legal requirements of any jurisdiction in which any part of the Collateral may at the time be 
located. Absent any specific agreement to the contrary, any Co-Collateral Agent appointed hereunder shall, to the extent applicable, have the 
rights, obligations and duties of the Collateral Agent hereunder, and its reasonable fees and expenses shall be paid by the Borrower promptly 
upon receipt of statements therefor.  
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ARTICLE IX  

CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES; COMPENSATION  

SECTION 9.01. Basis for Determining Interest Rate Inadequate or Unfair. If on or prior to the first day of any Inte rest Period:  

(a) the Administrative Agent determines that deposits in Dollars (in the applicable amounts) are not being offered in the relevant market for 
such Interest Period, or  

(b) the Required Banks advise the Administrative Agent that the London Interbank Offered Rate as determined by the Administrative Agent 
will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Banks of funding the Euro-Dollar Loans for such Interest Period,  

the Administrative Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Banks, whereupon until the Administrative Agent notifies 
the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such suspension no longer exist, the obligations of the Banks to make the Euro-Dollar Loans 
specified in such notice shall be suspended. Unless the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent at least 2 Domestic Business Days before 
the date of any Borrowing of such Euro- Dollar Loans for which a Notice of Borrowing has previously been given that it elects not to borrow 
on such date, such Borrowing shall instead be made as a Base Rate Borrowing.  

SECTION 9.02. Illegality. If, after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation, or any change therein or any existing 
or future law, rule or regulation, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any governmental authority, central bank or 
comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof (any such agency being referred to as an "Authority" and any such 
event being referred to as a "Change of Law"), or compliance by any Bank (or its Lending Office) with any request or directive (whether or not 
having the force of law) of any Authority shall make it unlawful or impossible for any Bank (or its Lending Office) to make, maintain or fund 
its Euro-Dollar Loans and such Bank shall so notify the Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to 
the other Banks and the Borrower, whereupon until such Bank notifies the Borrower and the Administrative Agent that the circumstances 
giving rise to such suspension no longer exist, the obligation of such Bank to make Euro-Dollar Loans shall be suspended. Before giving any 
notice to the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Section, such Bank shall designate a different Lending Office if such designation will avoid 
the need for giving such notice and will not, in the judgment of such Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank. If such Bank shall 
determine that it may not lawfully continue to maintain and fund any of its outstanding Euro-Dollar Loans to maturity and shall so specify in 
such notice, the Borrower shall immediately prepay in full the then outstanding principal amount of each Euro-Dollar Loan of such Bank, 
together with accrued interest thereon and any amount due such Bank pursuant to  
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Section 9.05(a). Concurrently with prepaying each such Euro-Dollar Loan, the Borrower shall borrow a Base Rate Loan in an equal principal 
amount from such Bank (on which interest and principal shall be payable contemporaneously with the related Euro-Dollar Loans of the other 
Banks), and such Bank shall make such a Base Rate Loan.  

SECTION 9.03. Increased Cost and Reduced Return.  

(a) If after the date hereof, a Change of Law or compliance by any Bank (or its Lending Office) with any request or directive (whether or not 
having the force of law) of any Authority:  

(i) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement (including, without limitation, any such 
requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, but excluding with respect to any Euro-Dollar Loan any such 
requirement included in an applicable Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage) against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended 
by, any Bank (or its Lending Office); or  

(ii) shall impose on any Bank (or its Lending Office) or on the United States market for certificates of deposit or the London interbank market 
any other condition affecting its Euro-Dollar Loans, its Notes or its obligation to make Euro-Dollar Loans;  

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Bank (or its Lending Office) of making or maintaining any Loan, or to 
reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Bank (or its Lending Office) under this Agreement or under its Notes with respect 
thereto, by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then,  

(iii) the Administrative Agent or such Bank shall promptly deliver to the Borrower a certificate stating the change which has occurred or the 
reserve requirements or other conditions which have been imposed on the Administrative Agent or such Bank (or its Lending Office) or the 
request, direction or requirement with which it has complied, together with the date hereof; and  

(iv) the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent or such Bank within 30 days of written request (which request shall state the amount of 
increased cost, reduction or payment and the way in which such amount has been calculated), such amount or amounts as will compensate the 
Administrative Agent or such Bank for the additional cost, reduction of return or payment incurred by the Administrative Agent or such other 
Bank and, at the option of the Borrower at any time while the Administrative Agent or such Bank is requesting such additional amount or 
amounts, upon the giving of notice to the Bank and payment to such Bank of all amounts owing to such Bank hereunder, the Borrower may 
require such Bank to enter into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement pursuant to which such Bank shall transfer all of its rights and  
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interests hereunder and under the other Loan Documents to a third party selected by the Borrower and consented to by the Administrative 
Agent. If such written request is given within 30 days after the event which results in such increased cost, reduction of return or reduction of 
payments, such amounts will be calculated from the date of such event; otherwise, such amounts will be calculated as of the date on which the 
Administrative Agent or such Bank makes the aforesaid written request. The written request of the Administrative Agent or such Bank as to the 
additional amounts payable pursuant to this paragraph delivered to the Borrower shall be conclusive evidence of the amount thereof in the 
absence of manifest error.  

(b) If any Bank shall have determined that after the date hereof the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation regarding capital 
adequacy, or any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Bank (or its Lending 
Office) with any request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any Authority, has or would have 
the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Bank's capital as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which such 
Bank could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration such Bank's policies with respect to capital 
adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then from time to time, within 30 days after demand by such Bank, the Borrower 
shall pay to such Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for such reduction.  

(c) Each Bank will promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date 
hereof, which will entitle such Bank to compensation pursuant to this Section and will designate a different Lending Office if such designation 
will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in the judgment of such Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous 
to such Bank. A certificate of any Bank claiming compensation under this Section and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid 
to it hereunder shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. In determining such amount, such Bank may use any reasonable averaging 
and attribution methods.  

(d) The provisions of this Section 9.03 shall be applicable with respect to any Participant, Assignee or other Transferee, and any calculations 
required by such provisions shall be made based upon the circumstances of such Participant, Assignee or other Transferee.  

SECTION 9.04. Base Rate Loans Substituted for Affected Euro-Dollar Loans. If (i) the obligation of any Bank to make or maintain Euro-
Dollar Loans has been suspended pursuant to Section 9.02 or (ii) any Bank has demanded compensation under Section 9.03, and the Borrower 
shall, by at least 5 Euro- Dollar Business Days' prior notice to such Bank through the Administrative Agent, have elected that the provisions of 
this Section shall apply to such  
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Bank, then, unless and until such Bank notifies the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such suspension or demand for compensation 
no longer apply:  

(a) all Loans which would otherwise be made by such Bank as Euro- Dollar Loans shall be made instead as Base Rate Loans (in all cases 
interest and principal on such Loans shall be payable contemporaneously with the related Euro-Dollar Loans of the other Banks), and  

(b) after each of its Euro-Dollar Loans has been repaid, all payments of principal which would otherwise be applied to repay such Euro-Dollar 
Loans shall be applied to repay its Base Rate Loans instead.  

SECTION 9.05. Compensation. Upon the request of any Bank, delivered to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, the Borrower shall pay 
to such Bank such amount or amounts as shall compensate such Bank for any loss, cost or expense incurred by such Bank as a result of:  

(a) any payment or prepayment (pursuant to Section 2.10, 2.11, 7.01, 9.02 or otherwise) of a Euro-Dollar Loan on a date other than the last day 
of an Interest Period for such Loan; or  

(b) any failure by the Borrower to prepay a Euro-Dollar Loan on the date for such prepayment specified in the relevant notice of prepayment 
hereunder; or  

(c) any failure by the Borrower to borrow a Euro-Dollar Loan on the date for the Euro-Dollar Borrowing specified in the applicable Notice of 
Borrowing delivered pursuant to Section 2.02;  

such compensation to include, without limitation, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (x) the amount of interest which would have accrued 
on the amount so paid or prepaid or not prepaid or borrowed for the period from the date of such payment, prepayment or failure to prepay or 
borrow to the last day of the then current Interest Period for such Euro-Dollar Loan (or, in the case of a failure to prepay or borrow, the Interest 
Period for such Euro-Dollar Loan which would have commenced on the date of such failure to prepay or borrow) at the applicable rate of 
interest for such Euro-Dollar Loan provided for herein over  
(y) the amount of interest (as reasonably determined by such Bank) such Bank would have paid on deposits in Dollars of comparable amounts 
having terms comparable to such period placed with it by leading banks in the London interbank market.  
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ARTICLE X  

MISCELLANEOUS  

SECTION 10.01. Notices. All notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be in writing (including telecopier or 
similar writing) and shall be given to such party at its address or telecopier number set forth on the signature pages hereof or such other address 
or telecopier number as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to each other party. Each such notice, request or other 
communication shall be effective (i) if given by telecopier, when such telecopy is transmitted to the telecopier number specified in this Section 
and the confirmation is received, (ii) if given by mail, 72 hours after such communication is deposited in the mails with first class postage 
prepaid, addressed as aforesaid or (iii) if given by any other means, when delivered at the address specified in this Section; provided that 
notices to the Administrative Agent under Article II or Article IX shall not be effective until received.  
 
SECTION 10.02. No Waivers. No failure or delay by the Administrative Agent or any Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege 
hereunder or under any Note or other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude 
any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be 
cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.  
 
SECTION 10.03. Expenses; Documentary Taxes. The Borrower shall pay  
(i) all out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent, including fees and disbursements of special counsel for the Banks and the 
Administrative Agent, in connection with the preparation of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, any waiver or consent hereunder or 
thereunder or any amendment hereof or thereof or any Default or alleged Default hereunder or thereunder, and, if the engagement of a Bank 
Financial Consultant is requested by the Required Banks at any time, the reasonable fees and expenses of the Bank Financial Consultant, which 
fees and expenses shall be payable by the Borrower promptly upon receipt of statements therefor (but the Borrower shall not be entitled to 
receive any reports, conclusions or evaluations of such financial consultant, either in writing or orally, without the consent of the Required 
Banks), and (ii) if a Default occurs, all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent and the Banks, including fees and 
disbursements of counsel, in connection with such Default and collection and other enforcement proceedings resulting therefrom, including 
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in enforcing this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative 
Agent and each Bank against any transfer taxes, documentary taxes, assessments or charges made by any Authority by reason of the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.  
 
SECTION 10.04. Indemnification. The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent, the Banks and each Affiliate thereof and their 
respective directors,  
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officers, employees and agents from, and hold each of them harmless against, any and all losses, liabilities, claims or damages to which any of 
them may become subject, insofar as such losses, liabilities, claims or damages arise out of, result from, or are in any way directly or indirectly 
related to (a) this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the transactions contemplated thereby, or (b) any actual or proposed use by the 
Borrower of the proceeds of any extension of credit by any Bank hereunder, or (c) any breach by the Borrower of this Agreement or any other 
Loan Document, or (d) any investigation, litigation (including, without limitation, any actions taken by the Administrative Agent or any of the 
Banks to enforce this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents) or other proceeding (including, without limitation, any threatened 
investigation or proceeding) relating to the foregoing, and the Borrower shall reimburse the Administrative Agent and each Bank, and each 
Affiliate thereof and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents, upon demand for any expenses (including, without limitation, 
legal fees) incurred in connection with any such investigation or proceeding; but excluding any such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or 
expenses incurred by reason of the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the Person to be indemnified.  

SECTION 10.05. Setoff; Sharing of Setoffs.  

(a) The Borrower hereby grants to the Administrative Agent, to Wachovia as to the Swing Loan Note, and to each Bank a lien for all 
indebtedness and obligations owing to them from the Borrower upon all deposits or deposit accounts, of any kind, or any interest in any 
deposits or deposit accounts thereof, now or hereafter pledged, mortgaged, transferred or assigned to the Administrative Agent or any such 
Bank or otherwise in the possession or control of the Administrative Agent or any such Bank for any purpose for the account or benefit of the 
Borrower and including any balance of any deposit account or of any credit of the Borrower with the Administrative Agent or any such Bank, 
whether now existing or hereafter established hereby authorizing the Administrative Agent and each Bank at any time or times with or without 
prior notice to apply such balances or any part thereof to such of the indebtedness and obligations owing by the Borrower to the Banks and/or 
the Administrative Agent then past due and in such amounts as they may elect, and whether or not the collateral, if any, or the responsibility of 
other Persons primarily, secondarily or otherwise liable may be deemed adequate. For the purposes of this paragraph, all remittances and 
property shall be deemed to be in the possession of the Administrative Agent or any such Bank as soon as the same may be put in transit to it 
by mail or carrier or by other bailee.  

(b) Each Bank agrees that if it shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or resort to collateral security or otherwise, receive 
payment of a proportion of the aggregate amount of principal and interest owing with respect to the Note held by it which is greater than the 
proportion received by any other Bank in respect of the aggregate amount of all principal and interest owing with respect to the Note held by 
such other Bank, the Bank receiving such proportionately greater payment shall purchase such participations in the Notes held by the other 
Banks owing to such other Banks, and such other adjustments shall be made, as may be required so that all such payments of principal and 
interest with respect to the Notes held  
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by the Banks owing to such other Banks shall be shared by the Banks pro rata; provided that (i) nothing in this Section shall impair the right of 
any Bank to exercise any right of setoff or counterclaim it may have and to apply the amount subject to such exercise to the payment of 
indebtedness of the Borrower other than its indebtedness under the Notes, and (ii) if all or any portion of such payment received by the 
purchasing Bank is thereafter recovered from such purchasing Bank, such purchase from each other Bank shall be rescinded and such other 
Bank shall repay to the purchasing Bank the purchase price of such participation to the extent of such recovery together with an amount equal 
to such other Bank's ratable share (according to the proportion of (x) the amount of such other Bank's required repayment to (y) the total 
amount so recovered from the purchasing Bank) of any interest or other amount paid or payable by the purchasing Bank in respect of the total 
amount so recovered. The Borrower agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any holder of a participation 
in a Note, whether or not acquired pursuant to the foregoing arrangements, may exercise rights of setoff or counterclaim and other rights with 
respect to such participation as fully as if such holder of a participation were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such 
participation.  
 
SECTION 10.06. Amendments and Waivers.  

(a) Any provision of this Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan Documents may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or 
waiver is in writing and is signed by the Borrower and the Required Banks (and, if the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent are affected 
thereby, by the Administrative Agent); provided that, no such amendment or waiver shall, unless signed by all Banks, (i) change the 
Commitment of any Bank or subject any Bank to any additional obligation, (ii) change the principal of or lower the rate of interest on any Loan 
or lower any fees (other than fees payable to the Administrative Agent) hereunder, (iii) change the date fixed for any payment of principal of or 
interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder, including any mandatory prepayments as required under Section 2.10, (iv) change the amount of 
principal, interest or fees due on any date fixed for the payment thereof, including any mandatory prepayments as required under Section 2.10, 
(v) change the percentage of the Commitments or of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Notes, or the percentage of Banks, which 
shall be required for the Banks or any of them to take any action under this Section or any other provision of this Agreement, (vi) change the 
manner of application of any payments made under this Agreement or the Notes, (vii) except as expressly provided in this Agreement or any of 
the Security Documents, release or substitute all or any of the Collateral, viii) release any Guarantee given to support payment of the Loans, or 
(ix) extend the expiration date of any Letter of Credit beyond the Termination Date.  

(b) The Borrower will not solicit, request or negotiate for or with respect to any proposed waiver or amendment of any of the provisions of this 
Agreement unless each Bank shall be informed thereof by the Borrower and shall be afforded an opportunity of considering the same and shall 
be supplied by the Borrower with sufficient information to enable it to make an informed decision with respect thereto. Executed or true and 
correct copies of any waiver or consent effected pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement shall be delivered by the Borrower  
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to each Bank forthwith following the date on which the same shall have been executed and delivered by the requisite percentage of Banks. The 
Borrower will not, directly or indirectly, pay or cause to be paid any remuneration, whether by way of supplemental or additional interest, fee 
or otherwise, to any Bank (in its capacity as such) as consideration for or as an inducement to the entering into by such Bank of any waiver or 
amendment of any of the terms and provisions of this Agreement unless such remuneration is concurrently paid, on the same terms, ratably to 
all such Banks.  

SECTION 10.07. No Margin Stock Collateral. Each of the Banks represents to the Administrative Agent and each of the other Banks that it in 
good faith is not, directly or indirectly (by negative pledge or otherwise), relying upon any Margin Stock as collateral in the extension or 
maintenance of the credit provided for in this Agreement.  
 
SECTION 10.08. Successors and Assigns.  

(a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and 
assigns; provided that the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights under this Agreement.  

(b) Any Bank may at any time sell to one or more Persons (each a "Participant") participating interests in any Loan owing to such Bank, any 
Note held by such Bank, any Commitment hereunder or any other interest of such Bank hereunder. In the event of any such sale by a Bank of a 
participating interest to a Participant, such Bank's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, such Bank shall remain solely 
responsible for the performance thereof, such Bank shall remain the holder of any such Note for all purposes under this Agreement, and the 
Borrower and the Administrative Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Bank in connection with such Bank's rights and 
obligations under this Agreement. In no event shall a Bank that sells a participation be obligated to the Participant to take or refrain from taking 
any action hereunder except that such Bank may agree that it will not (except as provided below), without the consent of the Participant, agree 
to  
(i) the change of any date fixed for the payment of principal of or interest on the related loan or loans, (ii) the change of the amount of any 
principal, interest or fees due on any date fixed for the payment thereof with respect to the related loan or loans, (iii) the change of the principal 
of the related loan or loans, (iv) any change in the rate at which either interest is payable thereon or (if the Participant is entitled to any part 
thereof) fee is payable hereunder from the rate at which the Participant is entitled to receive interest or fee (as the case may be) in respect of 
such participation, (v) the release or substitution of all or any substantial part of the collateral (if any) held as security for the Loans, or (vi) the 
release of any Guarantee given to support payment of the Loans. Each Bank selling a participating interest in any Loan, Note, Commitment or 
other interest under this Agreement shall, within 10 Domestic Business Days of such sale, provide the Borrower and the Administrative Agent 
with written notification stating that such sale has occurred and identifying the Participant and the interest purchased by such Participant. The 
Borrower agrees that each  
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Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Article IX with respect to its participation in Loans outstanding from time to time.  

(c) Any Bank may at any time assign to one or more banks or financial institutions (each an "Assignee") all or a proportionate part of its rights 
and obligations under this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents, and such Assignee shall assume all such rights and 
obligations, pursuant to an Assignment and Acceptance, executed by such Assignee, such transferor Bank and the Administrative Agent (and, 
in the case of an Assignee that is not then a Bank, subject to clause (iii) below, by the Borrower); provided that (i) no interest may be sold by a 
Bank pursuant to this paragraph (c) unless the Assignee shall agree to assume ratably equivalent portions of the transferor Bank's Commitment, 
(ii) if a Bank is assigning only a portion of its Commitment, then, the amount of the Commitment being assigned (determined as of the 
effective date of the assignment) shall be in an amount not less than $5,000,000, (iii) except during the continuance of a Default, no interest 
may be sold by a Bank pursuant to this paragraph (c) to any Assignee that is not then a Bank (or an Affiliate of a Bank) without the consent of 
the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, and (iv) a Bank may not have more than two 
Assignees that are not then Banks at any one time. Upon (A) execution of the Assignment and Acceptance by such transferor Bank, such 
Assignee, the Administrative Agent and (if applicable) the Borrower, (B) delivery of an executed copy of the Assignment and Acceptance to 
the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, (C) payment by such Assignee to such transferor Bank of an amount equal to the purchase price 
agreed between such transferor Bank and such Assignee, and (D) payment of a processing and recordation fee of $2,500 to the Administrative 
Agent, such Assignee shall for all purposes be a Bank party to this Agreement and shall have all the rights and obligations of a Bank under this 
Agreement to the same extent as if it were an original party hereto with a Commitment as set forth in such instrument of assumption, and the 
transferor Bank shall be released from its obligations hereunder to a corresponding extent, and no further consent or action by the Borrower, the 
Banks or the Administrative Agent shall be required. Upon the consummation of any transfer to an Assignee pursuant to this paragraph (c), the 
transferor Bank, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall make appropriate arrangements so that, if required, a new Note is issued to 
each of such Assignee and such transferor Bank.  

(d) Subject to the provisions of Section 10.09, the Borrower authorizes each Bank to disclose to any Participant, Assignee or other transferee 
(each a "Transferee") and any prospective Transferee any and all financial information in such Bank's possession concerning the Borrower 
which has been delivered to such Bank by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement or which has been delivered to such Bank by the Borrower 
in connection with such Bank's credit evaluation prior to entering into this Agreement.  

(e) No Transferee shall be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 9.03 than the transferor Bank would have been entitled to 
receive with respect to the rights transferred, unless such transfer is made with the Borrower's prior written consent or by reason of the 
provisions of Section 9.02 or 9.03 requiring such Bank to designate a different  
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Lending Office under certain circumstances or at a time when the circumstances giving rise to such greater payment did not exist.  

(f) Anything in this Section 10.08 to the contrary notwithstanding, any Bank may assign and pledge all or any portion of the Loans and/or 
obligations owing to it to any Federal Reserve Bank or the United States Treasury as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A of the Board 
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank, provided that any payment in 
respect of such assigned Loans and/or obligations made by the Borrower to the assigning and/or pledging Bank in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement shall satisfy the Borrower's obligations hereunder in respect of such assigned Loans and/or obligations to the extent of such 
payment. No such assignment shall release the assigning and/or pledging Bank from its obligations hereunder.  
 
SECTION 10.09. Confidentiality. Each Bank agrees to exercise commercially reasonable efforts to keep any information delivered or made 
available by the Borrower to it which is clearly indicated to be confidential information, confidential from anyone other than persons employed 
or retained by such Bank who are or are expected to become engaged in evaluating, approving, structuring or administering the Loans; 
provided that nothing herein shall prevent any Bank from disclosing such information (i) to any other Bank, (ii) upon the order of any court or 
administrative agency, (iii) upon the request or demand of any regulatory agency or authority having jurisdiction over such Bank,  
(iv) which has been publicly disclosed, (v) to the extent reasonably required in connection with any litigation to which the Administrative 
Agent, any Bank or their respective Affiliates may be a party, (vi) to the extent reasonably required in connection with the exercise of any 
remedy hereunder, (vii) to such Bank's legal counsel and independent auditors and (viii) to any actual or proposed Participant, Assignee or 
other Transferee of all or part of its rights hereunder which has agreed in writing to be bound by the provisions of this  
Section 10.09; provided that should disclosure of any such confidential information be required by virtue of clause (ii) of the immediately 
preceding sentence, to the extent permitted by law, any relevant Bank shall promptly notify the Borrower of same so as to allow the Borrower 
to seek a protective order or to take any other appropriate action; provided, further, that, no Bank shall be required to delay compliance with 
any directive to disclose any such information so as to allow the Borrower to effect any such action.  
 
SECTION 10.10. Representation by Banks. Each Bank hereby represents that it is a commercial lender or financial institution which makes 
loans in the ordinary course of its business and that it will make its Loans hereunder for its own account in the ordinary course of such 
business; provided that, subject to Section 10.08, the disposition of the Note or Notes held by that Bank shall at all times be within its exclusive 
control.  
 
SECTION 10.11. Obligations Several. The obligations of each Bank hereunder are several, and no Bank shall be responsible for the obligations 
or commitment of any other Bank hereunder. Nothing contained in this Agreement and no action taken by the Banks pursuant hereto shall be 
deemed to constitute the Banks to be a partnership, an association, a  
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joint venture or any other kind of entity. The amounts payable at any time hereunder to each Bank shall be a separate and independent debt, and 
each Bank shall be entitled to protect and enforce its rights arising out of this Agreement or any other Loan Document and it shall not be 
necessary for any other Bank to be joined as an additional party in any proceeding for such purpose.  

SECTION 10.12. Georgia Law. This Agreement and each Note shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of 
Georgia.  
 
SECTION 10.13. Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement, the Notes or any of the other Loan 
Documents should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions 
contained herein and therein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by law.  
 
SECTION 10.14. Interest. In no event shall the amount of interest, and all charges, amounts or fees contracted for, charged or collected 
pursuant to this Agreement, the Notes or the other Loan Documents and deemed to be interest under applicable law (collectively, "Interest") 
exceed the highest rate of interest allowed by applicable law (the "Maximum Rate"), and in the event any such payment is inadvertently 
received by any Bank, then the excess sum (the "Excess") shall be credited as a payment of principal, unless the Borrower shall notify such 
Bank in writing that it elects to have the Excess returned forthwith. It is the express intent hereof that the Borrower not pay and the Banks not 
receive, directly or indirectly in any manner whatsoever, interest in excess of that which may legally be paid by the Borrower under applicable 
law. The right to accelerate maturity of any of the Loans does not include the right to accelerate any interest that has not otherwise accrued on 
the date of such acceleration, and the Administrative Agent and the Banks do not intend to collect any unearned interest in the event of any 
such acceleration. All monies paid to the Administrative Agent or the Banks hereunder or under any of the Notes or the other Loan Documents, 
whether at maturity or by prepayment, shall be subject to rebate of unearned interest as and to the extent required by applicable law. By the 
execution of this Agreement, the Borrower covenants, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that (i) the credit or return of any Excess shall 
constitute the acceptance by the Borrower of such Excess, and (ii) the Borrower shall not seek or pursue any other remedy, legal or equitable , 
against the Administrative Agent or any Bank, based in whole or in part upon contracting for charging or receiving any Interest in excess of the 
Maximum Rate. For the purpose of determining whether or not any Excess has been contracted for, charged or received by the Administrative 
Agent or any Bank, all interest at any time contracted for, charged or received from the Borrower in connection with this Agreement, the Notes 
or any of the other Loan Documents shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be amortized, prorated, allocated and spread in equal parts 
throughout the full term of the Commitments. The Borrower, the Administrative Agent and each Bank shall, to the maximum extent permitted 
under applicable law, (i) characterize any non-principal payment as an expense, fee or premium rather than as Interest and (ii) exclude 
voluntary prepayments and the effects thereof. The provisions of this  
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Section shall be deemed to be incorporated into each Note and each of the other Loan Documents (whether or not any provision of this Section 
is referred to therein). All such Loan Documents and communications relating to any Interest owed by the Borrower and all figures set forth 
therein shall, for the sole purpose of computing the extent of obligations hereunder and under the Notes and the other Loan Documents be 
automatically recomputed by the Borrower, and by any court considering the same, to give effect to the adjustments or credits required by this 
Section.  

SECTION 10.15. Interpretation. No provision of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents shall be construed against or interpreted 
to the disadvantage of any party hereto by any court or other governmental or judicial authority by reason of such party having or being deemed 
to have structured or dictated such provision.  
 
SECTION 10.16. Waiver of Jury Trial; Consent to Jurisdiction. The Borrower (a) and each of the Banks and the Administrative Agent 
irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any and all right to trial by jury in any legal proceeding arising out of this 
Agreement, any of the other Loan Documents, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (b) submits to the nonexclusive 
personal jurisdiction in the State of Georgia, the courts thereof and the United States District Courts sitting therein, for the enforcement of this 
Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents, (c) waives any and all personal rights under the law of any jurisdiction to object on any 
basis (including, without limitation, inconvenience of forum) to jurisdiction or venue within the State of Georgia for the purpose of litigation to 
enforce this Agreement, the Notes or the other Loan Documents, and (d) agrees that service of process may be made upon it in the manner 
prescribed in Section 10.01 for the giving of notice to the Borrower. Nothing herein contained, however, shall prevent the Administrative 
Agent from bringing any action or exercising any rights against any security and against the Borrower personally, and against any assets of the 
Borrower, within any other state or jurisdiction.  
 
SECTION 10.17. Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the 
same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.  
 
SECTION 10.18. Source of Funds -- ERISA. Each of the Banks hereby severally (and not jointly) represents to the Borrower that no part of the 
funds to be used by such Bank to fund the Loans hereunder from time to time constitutes (i) assets allocated to any separate account maintained 
by such Bank in which any employee benefit plan (or its related trust) has any interest nor  
(ii) to the best of its knowledge, any other assets of any employee benefit plan. As used in this Section, the terms "employee benefit plan" and 
"separate account" shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in Section 3 of ERISA.  
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SECTION 10.19. Survival. The provisions of Sections 3.09, 8.05 and 10.04 shall survive payment or satisfaction in full of all obligations of the 
Borrower hereunder and the termination of this Agreement.  

[Signatures are contained on the following pages.]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed, under seal, by their respective authorized 
officers as of the day and year first above written.  

U.S. XPRESS ENTERPRISES, INC.  
(SEAL)  

By:______________________________  
Title:___________________________  

4080 Jenkins Road  
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37421  

Attention: Ray Harlin  
Telecopier number: 423-510-4003  

Confirmation number: 423-510-3323  
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WACHOVIA BANK, N.A.,  
as Administrative Agent and as a  

Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

Lending Office  
 
Wachovia Bank, N.A.  

1426 Main Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
Attention: Donald E. Sellers, Jr.  

Telecopier number: 803-765-3363  
Confirmation number: 803-765-3130  
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,  
as Syndication Agent and as a  

Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

Lending Office  
 
Bank of America, N.A.  

231 South LaSalle Street  
Chicago, Illinois 60697  

Attention: Mary Therese Carlson  
Telecopier number: 312-974-8811  

Confirmation number: 312-828-7968  
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AMSOUTH BANK,  
as a Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title: Vice President  

Lending Office  
 
AmSouth Bank Special Assets 1900 5/th/ Avenue North - CST 6/th/ Floor Birmingham, Alabama 35203 Attention: William P. Carroll 
Telecopier number: 205-801-0745 Confirmation number: 205-581-7060  
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SUNTRUST BANK,  
as Co-Agent and a Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

Lending Office  
SunTrust Bank  

Mail Code: 1937  
6410 Poplar Avenue  

Suite 320  
Memphis, Tennessee 38119  

Attention: Renee Drake  
Telecopier number: 901-766-7565  

Confirmation number: 901-762-9868  

With a copy of notices to:  

SunTrust Bank  
Mail Code: 1937  

201 Fourth Avenue North  
Nashville, Tennessee 37219  

Attention: Allen Oakley  
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FLEET NATIONAL BANK,  
as Documentation Agent and as a  

Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

Lending Office  
 
Fleet National Bank Transportation Division Mail Stop: MA DE 10008D 100 Federal Street Boston, Massachusetts 02110 Attention: Robert L. 
Wallace, Jr.  

Telecopier number: 617-434-1955  
Confirmation number: 617-434-8174  
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THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK,  
as a Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

Lending Office  
 
The Chase Manhattan Bank Corporate Banking 2200 Ross Avenue 3rd Floor Dallas, Texas 75201 Attention: Michael Lister Telecopier 
number: 214-965-2044 Confirmation number: 214-965-2891  
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LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
as a Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

Lending Office  
 
LaSalle Bank National Association Transportation Group 135 South LaSalle Street, Suite 308 Chicago, Illinois 60603 Attention: Beth Jastromb 
Telecopier number: 312-904-8544 Confirmation number: 312-904-2692  
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FIRST TENNESSEE BANK, N.A., as a  
Bank (SEAL)  

By:___________________________  
Title:  

Lending Office  
 
First Tennessee Bank, N.A.  

Corporate Group  
701 Market Street  

Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402  
Attention: Robert T. Lusk  

Telecopier number: 423-757-4028  
Confirmation number: 423-757-4107  
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EXHIBIT 21  

Subsidiaries of U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc. For Year Ended December 31, 2000  

U.S. Xpress, Inc., a Nevada corporation CSI/Crown, Inc., a Georgia corporation Victory Express, Inc., an Ohio corporation PST Vans, Inc., a 
Nevada corporation U.S. Xpress Leasing, Inc., a Tennessee corporation Xpress Company Store, Inc., a Tennessee corporation  

Xpress Air, Inc., a Tennessee corporation  



EXHIBIT 23  

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS  

As independent public accountants, we hereby consent to the incorporation of our reports included in this Form 10-K, into the Company's 
previously filed Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File No. 33-91238, File No. 33-94878, File No. 33-99728 and File No. 333-37795).  

 
 

End of Filing  
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